MOVING patients medicines s a f e l y

Guidance on Discharge and Transfer Planning



Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain







Pharmaceutica Services Negotiating Committee



Moving patients, Moving Medicines, Moving Safely

Guidance on Discharge and Transfer Planning

Prepared by

The Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain The Guild of Hospital Pharmacists The Pharmaceutical Services Negotiating Committee The Primary Care Pharmacists' Association

Published in 2005

CONTENTS

FOREWORD	1
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	2
AIMS OF THE GUIDANCE	4
INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND	5
MEDICINES ASPECTS OF THE PATIENTS JOURNEY	5
	9
THE PHARMACY STRATEGIES	9
	10
THE NEW GENERAL MEDICAL SERVICES CONTRACT	11
NATIONAL SERVICE FRAMEWORKS	11
"DISCHARGE FROM HOSPITAL" WORKBOOK	13
"ACHIEVING TIMELY SIMPLE DISCHARGE" TOOLKIT	14
NATIONAL AUDIT OFFICE REPORT ON DISCHARGE	14
AUDIT COMMISSION REPORT - "A SPOONFUL OF SUGAR"	14
"REDUCING BURDENS IN HOSPITALS"	15
"BUILDING A SAFER NHS FOR PATIENTS" "ODEATING A DATIENT LED NHS"	10
PRACTICE BASED COMMISSIONING	18
LONG-TERM CONDITIONS	18
LOCAL DELIVERY PLANS	19
MEDICINES MANAGEMENT PROGRAMMES	21
JUNIOR DOCTORS' HOURS	21
NHS INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY AGENDA	21
RESEARCH EVIDENCE	23
COMMUNICATION	23
CONSEQUENCES OF POOR COMMUNICATION	23
IMPLICATIONS FOR PATIENTS	24
	24
DISCHARGE SUMMARIES	24 25
PHARMACEUTICAL CARE PLANS	25
PATIENT COUNSELLING AND AIDS TO COMPLIANCE	26
SYSTEMS RE-ENGINEERING	27
WHAT TO DO	32
ELEMENTS OF A SUCCESSFUL SERVICE	32
STATE OF READINESS ASSESSMENT TEMPLATE	36
ACTION PLAN	42
ACTION PLAN TEMPLATE	46

APPENDICES	53
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS GUIDANCE ON GOOD PRACTICE MEDICINES MANAGEMENT	54
DURING PATIENT DISCHARGE	56
SUMMARY OF STUDIES	59
COMMUNICATION	59
CONSEQUENCES OF POOR COMMUNICATION	60
IMPLICATIONS FOR PATIENTS	60
POTENTIAL INTERVENTIONS	61
SUPPORT FOR PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES	69
GUIDANCE ON IMPLEMENTING ONE-STOP DISPENSING, POD	
AND SELF-ADMINISTRATION SCHEMES	73
GOOD PRACTICE EXAMPLES	75
PHARMACEUTICAL CARE PLANS	87
SELF MEDICATION SCHEME	95
DISCHARGE INFORMATION	98
DISCHARGE MEDICATION CHECKLIST	100
PATIENTS' OWN DRUGS	102
THE COUNT© SERVICE	104
AUDIT OF DISCHARGE MEDICATION INFORMATION	106
PHARMACY RISK ASSESSMENT TOOL	107
MEDICATION HISTORY PROFORMA	111
USEFUL WEBSITES	112
GLOSSARY AND ABBREVIATIONS	113
REFERENCES	116

TABLES

TABLE 1 - EXAMPLES OF PROBLEMS DURING TRANSFER	7
TABLE 2 - COMMON MEDICATION PROBLEMS FOLLOWING DISCHARGE	13
TABLE 3 - RELEVANT LDP TARGETS	20
TABLE 4 - THE FIVE ELEMENTS OF ONE-STOP DISPENSING	27

FIGURES

FIGURE 1 - COMMON MEDICINES RELATED PROBLEMS	
DURING THE PATIENT JOURNEY	6
FIGURE 2 - RE-ENGINEERED PATIENT JOURNEY	28

FOREWORD

The risks inherent in discharge and the transfer of care, and particularly the failures due to poor communication throughout transfers and care hand-offs, have been described in detail on numerous occasions, and by a multitude of authors. I was therefore particularly pleased to be asked to contribute this foreword to such a comprehensive document that not only describes the failures, but that then identifies the risks and describes how these can be mitigated or prevented in pharmacy practice and more generally in healthcare provision.

Patient identification, medication and communication are recognised as the three quality indicators for patient safety. In describing a successful transfer of care or discharge, this document embraces all of these elements thereby delivering the right medication to the right patient with all responsible for the patient's care fully aware and able to participate in the collection and exchange of information, thus maintaining or supporting the safety of the patient.

It is right that this document has been produced by the pharmacy organisations; pharmacists are the true patient safety advocates and may provide the one barrier to failure in the discharge or transfer process. However, for this to be successful, pharmacists themselves need to communicate and share information, and this is clearly demonstrated by the examples of good practice contained within the document.

System design and new technologies can contribute to improving the patient experience of their discharge or transfer to another care location or care team, whilst medicines management services serve to reduce the risks to patients. Bringing these elements all together in a consistent high quality service must be one of the most important challenges for pharmacists today.

I congratulate the authors and encourage every pharmacist to use this guidance, and move patients and their medicines safely.

Wandy Hains

Wendy Harris Head of Safety Solutions National Patient Safety Agency

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This document aims to help multidisciplinary teams maximise good practice and minimise the risks for patients associated with their medicines, in the transfer and discharge process. It provides practical guidance in developing systems to tackle discharge and transfer problems between different settings and is based on experiences and evidence available, including examples and paperwork from existing schemes.

- The prescribing of a medicine is probably the most common intervention made by healthcare professionals. However, even when used correctly, medicines can be associated with the risk of an adverse event, side effect or interaction.
- This risk is heightened when patients transfer from one setting to another from home to hospital, from one hospital ward to another, from hospital to intermediate care, a care home or to their own home.
- Section One, **Introduction and Background** provides an introduction to some of the issues relating to medication when patients transfer between settings. It also provides an overview of current NHS policy relevant to medicines use.
- When a patient is discharged from hospital and communication between hospital and primary care is delayed, it has been demonstrated that within a short period of discharge, patients' medication shows discrepancies from what was intended.
- Poor compliance or unintended changes to medication regimens can jeopardise treatment, and increase the risk of re-admission to hospital. Potential interventions which can help to decrease these risks and to improve the handling of medicines at transfer include drug history taking at admission, medication discharge summaries, pharmaceutical care plans, patient counselling and re-engineering of pharmacy systems.
- Section Two, **Research Evidence** highlights the principle research studies which have looked at communication about medicines between secondary and primary care when a patient is discharged, the consequences of poor communication, and research into the potential interventions to improve the situation. Each element includes a summary of the key messages. Fuller details are provided in Appendix 3.
- Section Three, **What To Do** concentrates on what a service designed to maximise effective admission, transfer and discharge should look like, and the steps an organisation can take to achieve a successful service. The section also includes templates for the self-assessment of readiness, and for the development of an action plan
- Further examples of good practice, provided by organisations across the UK, are contained in the **Appendices**, along with examples of documentation which can be adapted for local use.

The document has been developed by a group of national pharmacy organisations; the Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain (RPSGB), Pharmaceutical Services Negotiating Committee (PSNC), Primary Care Pharmacists' Association (PCPA) and Guild of Healthcare Pharmacists (GHP), informed by the outcome of a joint advisory meeting of key multidisciplinary stakeholders.

The policies highlighted in this document relate mainly to England, although in many cases equivalent documents exist in Scotland and Wales. However the principles are appropriate to practice in all areas of the UK.

*PCO will be used throughout this document to refer to Primary Care Trusts, Care Trusts, Community Health Partnerships and Local Health Boards.

AIMS OF THE GUIDANCE

It is recognised that when patients move from one setting to another there is considerable potential for things to go wrong in relation to their medicines.

The aim of this guidance is to maximise good practice and minimise the risks associated with medicines during the transfer and discharge process. It is intended that the principles will be applicable to transfers between many different settings, including wards within one building, from an acute ward to a care home or intermediate care centre, to a hospice, or when a patient is admitted to hospital or discharged to their own home.

The objectives of this guidance are:

- To raise awareness of patients' experiences with medicines and discharge
- To identify the principles of good practice and illustrate these principles with examples
- To develop strategies and identify standards based on best practice and the available evidence
- To make recommendations to reduce the risks of incidents with medicines for patients moving between different care settings, and in particular patients being discharged from acute hospitals.

A group of national pharmacy organisations; the Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain (RPSGB), Pharmaceutical Services Negotiating Committee (PSNC), Primary Care Pharmacists' Association (PCPA) and Guild of Healthcare Pharmacists (GHP) have come together to develop this guidance for pharmacists and others about how to minimise the risk of medicine incidents for patients transferring from one care setting to another.

Development of the guidance was informed by a joint advisory meeting of key multidisciplinary stakeholders held in October 2003, which involved representatives from patients' groups, other healthcare professionals and the Department of Health's Change Agent Team. A list of participants can be found in Appendix 1.

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

INTRODUCTION

Taking any medicine is an inherently risky business.

Even when medicines are used correctly, there is the chance of an adverse event, side effect or drug interaction occurring. When, for whatever reason, medicines are used incorrectly, the risk to patients may be increased. Patients are particularly vulnerable to things going wrong with their medication when they are being transferred from one setting to another, especially when leaving hospital following an episode of in-patient care.

There are many ways in which pharmacists, and other healthcare professionals, can use examples of good medicines management practice to improve patients' experience and to minimise the risk to patients following transfer or discharge from one sector to another. Effective systems for medicines management and planning transfers, in hospitals and between other settings, can reduce delays at discharge, minimise risks with medicines, and increase patients' knowledge of their treatments. These measures facilitate better medicines management of patients at home, and reduce the number of patients being readmitted to hospital due to medicines related problems.

The need for consistent high quality practice around discharge and medicines usage is acknowledged by many. Engaging pharmacists and others with experience of medicines and discharge is essential when developing strategies to improve patient experience and reduce risks with medicines and discharge arrangements. Practitioners and experts have been engaged throughout the development of this guidance, to ensure the recommendations are mindful of current best practice and take a pragmatic approach.

MEDICINES ASPECTS OF THE PATIENTS JOURNEY

Medicines are involved at almost all stages of the patient journey. Examples of a patient journey include:

- home to hospital
- home to care home or hospice
- home to day centre
- hospital to home
- hospital to care home or hospice
- ward to ward in hospital
- hospital to hospital
- care home to home
- care home to care home

The principles of good medicine practice on transfer or discharge will apply to all these situations. However, on admission to, and discharge from, hospital there are potentially more factors which can lead to difficulties.

Figure 1 - Common Medicines Related Problems during the Patient Journey

PLANNED ADMISSION

Patient at home / care home

- ✗ medicines not reviewed
- ✗ problem with repeat prescribing
- **X** re-supply of short courses
- X over-supply
- X no medicines letter from GP
- X GP information not up to date

Patient at pre-admission clinic

- patient may bring all medicines, including those currently not in use
- X patient brings no medicines

Patient moved to ward

X problem with supply

X problem with transfer of medicines to ward

EMERGENCY ADMISSION

Patient at home / care home

X lack of review or screening

Patient admitted via A&E

- X patient (or carer) may not bring medicines
- ✗ lack of verification about medicines
- X medicines lost / destroyed

Patient moved from admission ward to general ward

- ✗ medicines not transferred with patient
- X delay in prescribing
- **X** problem with supply
- **X** problem with administration

Patient stay on ward

- x problem with prescribing, supply or administration
- ✗ polypharmacy

Procedures and medicines

X no communication of changes made to medicines to GP

Patient discharged

Patient does not

X could be intentional

or unintentional

continue anv

medication

 medicines supplied immediately before discharge allowing no time for advice or education

Chronic \ therapy

 x patient takes medicines prescribed at discharge and prior to admission resulting in double dosing
 x patient misunderstands

understands therapy - dose, \frequency

Short course of medication e.g. antibiotics

 patient does not realise short course intended and obtains further supplies Figure 1 summarises the two main routes to hospital admission, hospital stay and hospital discharge together with the well known problems that occur during the journey. These have led to practical examples of good practice designed to overcome these problems. The Hospital Pharmacy Group has issued guidance on good practice during discharge¹ (see Appendix 2).

Medicines that patients take home at discharge fall into the following broad groups:

- regular medicines started before the hospital admission
- replacement regular medicines resulting from changes to routine prescription whilst in hospital
- additional regular medicines those that have been added during the hospital stay and will be required as on-going treatment
- short term medicines directly related to their hospital stay e.g. post-operative pain relief or antibiotics to treat or prevent infection

The medicines that a patient is given to take home with them may be a different brand or in a different manufacturer's packaging from the ones that they are used to. In hospital, medicines tend to be prescribed and labelled generically (by the chemical name) rather than by brand name. Conversely, the brand name is still used for approximately one quarter of prescriptions written in primary care.² The patient's medicines may also be changed. Many patients will still leave hospital with only 7 days supply of medicines even though research has shown that discharge letters can take up to three weeks to get from the hospital to the patient's GP.^{3,4} The outcome can be inappropriate changes to medication in the weeks post-discharge which may contribute to ongoing morbidity and lack of health gain for patients.^{5,6}

Table 1 - Examples of Problems during Transfer

- X Patient transferred from psychiatric unit to care home. Consultant letter has been written so far in advance that medication has since changed
- X Patient discharged from hospital to a care home which is out of the area of the patient's GP and patient lists of local GP practices are full. Registration with a GP practice has to be arranged by the PCT and this takes some time. Hospital staff are not aware of this so an insufficient supply of medicines is given to last until a further supply can be obtained.
- **X** Emergency admission of patient to care home occurs under intermediate care arrangements. No medicines or prescription are received with the patient.
- X Patient who lives alone is discharged home from hospital but needs assistance to take medicines to avoid potential readmission from medicine related problems. However none is available
- X Patient is transferred from a specialist hospital to the local hospital. No medicines are sent with the patient as staff assume the receiving hospital will be able to supply them. Patient arrives at the hospital late afternoon but the medicine chart is not written up until after the pharmacy is closed. The ward does not have all the medicines. The pharmacy does not have one of the specialist medicines.
- X Patient is transferred from one ward to another in the same hospital. No medicines are sent with the patient but the receiving ward does not stock all the medicines and nothing is done until the next pharmacist visit.

Unfortunately these messages are not new – there has been published research for more than 10 years outlining the problems and highlighting the good practice that can minimise them.

In order to improve the patient journey, it is necessary to understand where breakdowns and problems occur. In addition to the particular medicines prescribed, both the care setting, and specific patient groups, will have associated risks. Combinations of medication (poly-pharmacy) and illnesses (co-morbidities) add to the complexity of the case and potential severity of any resulting problems.

Pharmacists are experts in managing the risks of medicines and helping patients to get the best from their treatment. It is hoped that all practitioners will use this resource to enable local service providers and commissioners to improve the quality of care for patients being transferred between different settings. It is designed to support pharmacists and other members of the healthcare team in developing best practice in the medicines aspects of discharge planning and to reduce the risks associated with medicine use.

THE POLICY CONTEXT

In recent years, numerous reports and documents, published both by the NHS and other organisations, have highlighted the need for improvements to the discharge arrangements for patients. Improvements to discharge systems would bring significant benefits for patients and their carers.

The UK Health Departments' NHS Plans

*The NHS Plan*⁷ launched in July 2000, set out an ambitious modernisation agenda for health and social care, and was followed in June 2004 by *The NHS Improvement Plan*⁸ which set out the key commitments for the four years to 2008. A number of references within the document relate to discharge and medicines use, including the development of intermediate care schemes, timely discharge to appropriate settings, the need to plan the patient's pathway from start to finish, and extended prescribing, supply and administration roles including patient group directions (PGDs), electronic prescribing and medicines management. Equivalent documents were also published in Scotland⁹ and Wales¹⁰ containing similar messages.

Various policy documents have used the available research to identify existing problems and possible solutions. These have highlighted medication issues in the context of broader policy areas. *The NHS Plan* underpins all policy documents issued since, which include documents relating specifically to discharge from hospital, and pharmacy and medicines use.

The Pharmacy Strategies

The generic policy commitments of the NHS plans were followed by documents setting out pharmacy's contribution to delivering the modernisation agenda in England (*Pharmacy in the Future*¹¹ and *A Vision for Pharmacy*¹²), Scotland (*The Right Medicine*¹³), and Wales (*Remedies for Sucess*¹⁴).

These documents share common themes in relation to four main areas of medicines management; better access to services; helping patients get the best from their medicines; re-designing services around the patient and getting the most from staff. Many challenges are clearly described in these documents including multi-disciplinary working, repeat prescription review and medication review to improve the use of medicines. They also describe methods for empowering patients, giving them more information about their medicines with the aim of supporting concordance and ensuring patients get the maximum benefit from their medicines.

The plans for developing and re-engineering services for patients highlight the patient benefits of developing pharmacy systems in hospital:

- encouraging greater use of patients' own drugs (PODs[†])
- "dispensing for discharge" dispensing original packs for use in hospital, and at discharge to ensure smooth discharge planning

†also referred to as patients' own medicines (POMs)

- self-administration schemes for patients as a means of identifying problems with medicine taking
- strengthened communication between hospitals, community pharmacists and GPs about patients' medicines
- better medicines management including use of patient packs and greater patient information.
- greater involvement of pharmacists in clinical care rather than dispensing tasks

Such developments improve the transfer process and increase patient involvement with their medicines whilst in hospital, thus helping to minimise risks with medicines for patients once discharged from hospital.

Contractual Framework for Community Pharmacy

In April 2005 a new contractual framework for community pharmacy (nPhS) was introduced. It supports an extended role for pharmacies, providing a wider range of convenient, accessible services which improve choice for patients and help take pressure off other healthcare areas. It will enable community pharmacies to contribute to NHS service provision for patients in four major areas; self-care, management of long-term conditions, public health and improving access to services.^{15,16} It will also allow pharmacies to build on their existing relationships with patients and customers.

The framework includes three categories of services:

- **essential services** which must normally be provided by all community pharmacists and includes: dispensing and repeat dispensing, disposal of medication, promotion of health lifestyles, support for self care, signposting to other healthcare services and clinical governance
- **advanced services** which require accreditation of the pharmacist providing the service and specific premises requirements. At present there is only one advanced service: medicines use review and prescription intervention service
- **enhanced services** which will be commissioned locally by PCOs. Examples include minor ailment schemes, stop smoking services and supplementary prescribing

Prescription intervention services may become necessary where a community pharmacist identifies significant changes to medication following a hospital discharge.

Community pharmacy involvement in the discharge or admission process could be commissioned locally where it has been identified as a local need in the PCOs Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment.

The New General Medical Services Contract

The new General Medical Services (nGMS) contract, introduced in April 2004, has widened the range of services available through GP surgeries, including some that would previously have involved a visit to hospital, such as diagnosis and treatment. It has also extended services for managing some conditions, such as coronary heart disease and diabetes.¹⁷

The new GMS contract is a practice-based contract between the practice and the primary care organisation thus giving the whole primary care team greater freedom to decide how to design their services to best meet local needs. In order to help GPs manage their workload more effectively practices are able to transfer some services, including out of hours care, to their primary care organisation.

The contract has a similar structure to the new pharmacy framework with:

- **essential services** which must be provided by all practices and include: management of patients who are ill or believe themselves to be ill; management of the terminally ill, management of chronic disease
- **additional services** which may be provided by a practice. These cover: cervical screening, contraceptive services, vaccinations and immunisations, child health surveillance, maternity services and minor surgery
- **enhanced services** commissioned by PCOs, these are essential or additional services provided to a higher specified standard, or services not provided through essential and additional services. Categories of enhanced services include directed, local and national enhanced services (see Glossary)

Services specifically relating to care of people following discharge from hospital could be commissioned as a local enhanced service by a PCO.

A voluntary Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) links financial awards to how well the practice cares for its patients. Elements of the Organisational Indicators within the QOF relate to medicines.

National Service Frameworks

A rolling programme of National Service Frameworks (NSFs) was announced in April 1998, as one of a range of measures to raise quality and decrease variation in services across the NHS. The NHS Plan re-emphasised the role of NSFs in delivering the modernisation agenda for the NHS.

Eight NSFs have been published:

- Mental Health¹⁸ (September 1999)
- Coronary Heart Disease¹⁹ (March 2000)
- Cancer²⁰ (September 2000)
- Older People²¹ (March 2001)

- Diabetes^{22,23} (December 2001, November 2002)
- Children, Young People and Maternity Services²⁴ (September 2004)
- Renal Services^{25,26} (January 2004, February 2005)
- Long Term Conditions²⁷ (March 2005)

Although there are few specific mentions of medication at discharge in the National Service Framework for **Mental Health**²⁸ the themes of discharge planning and the need for effective medicines management are recurrent through the report and the specific risks associated with discharge of mental health service users are described. Similar principles apply to the National Service Frameworks for **CHD** and **Diabetes**.^{19,29,30}

A significant element within the National Service Framework for **Older People**²¹ concerns the relationship between older people and their medication, and the intention of the NSF is to ensure that all older people are able to gain maximum benefit from their medication, and do not suffer unnecessarily due to excessive, inappropriate or inadequate consumption of medicines. The main NSF document is accompanied by *Medicines and Older People*,³¹ which describes how the use of medicines for and by older people can be improved. The document highlights a number of issues that are of particular relevance to discharge planning.

The document also highlights the need for intermediate care providers to access and meet the medicines-related needs of older people in rehabilitation services. In 2002 the RPSGB published a report highlighting the contribution that pharmacy can make to the effectiveness of intermediate care services.³²

Recognising the importance of medicines as part of a comprehensive management package, the National Service Framework for Children, **Young People and Maternity Services** includes a standard on the use of medicines in children.³³ This highlights the following issues that are relevant to discharge planning particularly the specific challenges associated with the use of sophisticated treatments in the home, the problems associated with medicines needing to be administered in different settings such as schools or nurseries, and the need to involve children, parents and carers in decisions about medicines to increase the chance of medicines being taken as prescribed.

The National Service Framework for **Renal Services**^{25,26} is accompanied by a separate document which offers a resource on the specific medicines management issues relating to the treatment of people with renal disease.³⁴ This highlights that despite the serious potential consequences of not taking medicines as prescribed, non-compliance in people with established renal failure is high. Self medication schemes are seen as providing an opportunity to assess the individual's ability to take medicines before discharge, encourage compliance and improve patient and kidney graft survival.

The National Service Framework for **Long-term Conditions**²⁷ focuses on people with neurological conditions, although the principles it contains can be applied to anyone

living with a long-term condition, for example arthritis and diabetes. This NSF, along with the Renal and Diabetes NSFs are supported by a resource document³⁵ which focuses on the wider aspects of medicines management and includes areas for improvement, tools to achieve improvement and a framework for action. This includes a chapter on joined-up care, emphasising the importance of effective communication and information-sharing.

Key Messages:

- patient's own medicines should be used wherever possible (11,21,35-38)
- patient medication should be dispensed for use in hospital using original packs which can then be taken home ("one stop dispensing" or "dispensing for discharge") (11,12,35,39-41)
- patients should be encouraged to self-administer medication whilst in hospital (11,12,34,35,42-44)

"Discharge from Hospital" Workbook

In 2003 the Health and Social Care Change Agent Team launched a workbook to provide guidance and practical tools to improve the process of discharge planning.⁴⁵ The workbook highlights that the key principles underpinning effective discharge and transfer of care are:

- discharge is a process which needs to be planned from the earliest opportunity
- the process needs to be co-ordinated by a named person
- staff need to work within a framework of integrated multi-disciplinary and multi-agency team working to manage all aspects of the process.

The workbook highlights medicines management as one of the factors supporting good discharge arrangements, which need to start at admission. An appendix focuses on medicine management and summarises many of the common problems at patient discharge, such as patients inappropriately reverting to pre-admission medication and discrepancies in prescribing post-discharge. The report highlights common problems with medication which are shown in Table 1.

Table 2 - Common medication problems following discharge

- patients view their hospital medication and home medication as different and may take both, thus taking double doses of some medicines
- when home, patients inappropriately revert to their pre-admission medication
- repeat GP computer prescriptions following discharge are not always up to date with the revised hospital medication plan
- GP discharge letter arrives at practice after repeat prescription has been issued
- lack of communication between hospital and patient's community pharmacist

An action plan for medicines management recommends a review of communication between secondary and primary care, including the community pharmacist, and gives suggestions for service redesign. Practical examples of what has been successful are described, including the introduction of pharmacists writing both discharge prescriptions and discharge letters about the patient's medication giving a full medication profile and details of changes made to medication during the patient's hospital stay.

"Achieving Timely Simple Discharge" Toolkit

In 2004 the Department of Health launched a toolkit⁴⁶ aimed at the multi-disciplinary team which focuses on the practical steps health and social care professionals can take to improve discharge. It includes practical advice, factsheets and case studies aimed at the 80% of patients discharged to their own home with simple on-going health needs.

The toolkit highlights that discharge should be a process which happens evenly across all days of the week, rather than in large numbers on Fridays, and that in many hospitals it needs to occur earlier in the day before the peak demand for admissions. These recommendations will have implications for the way in which pharmacy services are organised. The toolkit also includes a factsheet about medicines management and the role of the clinical pharmacist.

National Audit Office Report on Discharge

In February 2003 the National Audit Office published a report into the problem of delays in the discharge of older people from acute hospitals.⁴⁷ The report noted that although hundreds of thousands of older people are successfully discharged from hospital each year, on any given day more than 4,000 people over the age of 75 remain there despite being declared fit to leave.

The report highlights a range of causes, including poor procedures within hospitals around handling discharge effectively, inadequate co-operation between the health and social care sectors, and a lack of capacity in appropriate post-hospital care.

Key findings included

- delays in starting discharge planning until during the patient's stay in hospital, even for planned admissions
- delays in making medicines available for patients to take away
- hospital pharmacists often receive little warning of discharge (in only 44% of cases was a pharmacist involved in the decision about the date of discharge)

Audit Commission Report - "A Spoonful of Sugar"

In 2001 the Audit Commission published a report into medicines management arrangements in hospitals,⁴⁸ which highlighted that improved medicines management

is needed to underpin many of the specific objectives set out in the *NHS Plan* and its Welsh equivalent, *Improving Health in Wales*.¹⁰

The report acknowledged that medicines are a central component of healthcare, but found that their use is not always optimised, leading to poorer quality care for patients and higher costs. It noted that the inappropriate use of medicines have many adverse effects, including that medication errors happen too often and their effect on patients and on NHS costs can be profound; that many patients do not take their medicines as recommended when they leave hospital; and that a large proportion of the £90 million worth of medicines that are taken each year into hospital by patients are thrown away. The report also highlighted the requirements of European Community Directive 92/27,⁴⁹ one of the key drivers behind the introduction of original pack dispensing, that medicines supplied to patients should include a patient information leaflet and be labelled with the product's batch number and expiry date.

The report considered the risks associated with medication usage, process redesign and information technology solutions available to reduce errors, the strategic challenges that need to be overcome and made recommendations for a way forward. It recommended redesigning services around patients' needs, ensuring the optimal use of increasingly powerful medicines.

These recommendations included:

- taking patients' medication histories on admission
- the use of patients' own medication in hospital
- using original packs to dispense medication only once
- encouraging patients to self-administer while in hospital
- development of a whole-systems approach to managing medicines results in improved quality and reduced costs.

A Spoonful of Sugar highlights the contribution that the use of patients' own drugs, self administration schemes, and medication review at admission can make to reducing the number of errors with medicines.

The issue of medicines management within acute trusts was also highlighted by the second edition of the self-assessment framework for *Medicines Management in NHS Hospitals*⁵⁰ which NHS Trusts were required to complete in 2003. The Healthcare Commission is reviewing medicines management as part of its acute hospital portfolio during 2005/06. This includes aspects relating to medicines at discharge and service redesign. Further information can be found on the Healthcare Commission website (see Useful Websites).

"Reducing Burdens in Hospitals"

In July 2002 a joint Department of Health and Cabinet Office report⁵¹ identified forty practical outcomes to free up time for front-line staff to concentrate on delivering care.

The report reinforced the need for sharing and spreading best practice in medicines management and in particular re-engineering services around patients through self administration, use of patient's own drugs and dispensing for discharge.

Key Messages:

- significant quality improvements for patients and reduced costs can be achieved if medicines are managed across the whole health economy⁽⁵²⁾
- pharmacy should be routinely involved in the decisions about discharge and medicines should be made readily available for patients to take home with them^(45,47)
- assessment and planning for discharge should start before a patient's stay in hospital if possible^(45,47)
- carers should be consulted prior to discharge and receive a copy of the discharge plan^(33,45,47)
- re-admissions should be used as an indicator of problems with hospital discharge procedures, or poor quality services (47)

"Building a Safer NHS for Patients"

The Government set out its plans for promoting patient safety in *Building a Safer NHS for Patients*⁵³ following the publication of the report *An Organisation with a Memory*⁵⁴ and commitments in the *NHS Plan*.

Four specific risk areas were targeted for action, including:

• by 2005, reduce by 40% the number of serious errors in the use of prescribed medicines

The report identified that various forms of medication error comprise a large category of events which pose a threat to patient safety, and that patients can be seriously harmed as a result. It also concluded that most serious incidents occur as a result of mistaken administration of the wrong drug.

The Chief Pharmaceutical Officer published a report looking specifically at medication safety in January 2004.⁵⁵ The report highlighted the risk of medication errors arising at "handover points" within the healthcare system and stressed the critical importance of communication when patients are moving from one care setting to another.

The National Patient Safety Agency (NPSA) was created in July 2001 to co-ordinate the reporting of, and learning from, mistakes and problems that affect patient safety within England and Wales. It is involved in collecting and analysing information about patient safety incidents, feeding back lessons which can be learnt from them, and ensuring that where risks are identified work is undertaken to produce solutions to prevent harm. Elements of their work have related to medicines usage including the issue of oral methotrexate where the risk of errors can be particularly high at the time of transfer between secondary and primary care.⁵⁶

The new contractual framework for community pharmacy requires pharmacies to maintain logs of patient safety incidents, including all stages of the medication process, i.e. not just dispensing errors. Incidents will be reported anonymously via the

National Reporting and Learning System (NRLS) to the NPSA. It is anticipated that the majority of community pharmacies will report through their PCOs local reporting or risk management system or via the eForm available on the NPSA website. A quick reference guide is available.⁵⁷

"Creating a Patient-led NHS"

*The NHS Improvement Plan*⁸ set out the way in which the NHS in England and Wales would become truly patient-led. Published in March 2005, Creating a Patient-led NHS⁵⁸ offered a description of some of the major changes underway and how they will be carried forward to transform the NHS. Key themes are covered below.

Patient Choice

Building on the Best - Choice, responsiveness and equity in the NHS⁵⁹ builds on foundations set out in the NHS Plan in creating a patient centred service. It addresses how to make choice a part of the overall patient and user experience, making the NHS more responsive to patients and users, in all areas of care. The key themes are:

- giving people a bigger say in how they are treated
- access to a wider range of services in primary care
- increased choice of where, when and how to get medicines
- enabling people to book appointments at a time that suits them, from a choice of hospitals.
- widening choice of treatment and care, starting with greater choice in maternity services and over care at the end of life.
- ensuring people have the right information, at the right time, with the support they need to use it

"Choose and Book"

From 2006, patients needing elective treatment will be offered a choice of four or five hospitals once their GP has decided that a referral is required. These could be NHS Trusts, treatment centres, or practitioners with a special interest operating within primary care, and may not be local to where they live. By 2008, private organisations which can deliver services to NHS standards at the NHS tariff will be able to apply to be included in the list of options offered to patients.⁵⁸

As well as choosing where they go, patients will be able to choose when, via a national electronic booking programme. In the meantime, by August 2004, all patients waiting longer than six months for an operation will be offered a choice of an alternative place of treatment.

Health Outside Hospitals

A White Paper on health outside hospitals is expected to be published towards the end of 2005. This will build on the results of a public engagement exercise which will

seek the views about the future of all NHS services provided outside hospitals including GP surgeries, walk-in centres and social and community care.

Changes to the organisation of the NHS to support these principles were announced in *Commissioning a Patient-led NHS*⁶⁰ which heralds a reduction in the number of PCOs and SHAs. PCOs will become purely commissioning organisations with their current provider functions moving to other bodies, and there will be faster implementation of practice-based commissioning. The range and geographical distribution of organisations involved in a patient's care are likely to increase over the next few years as a result of these changes.

Practice Based Commissioning

The concept of individual practices holding an indicative budget was first raised in the 1997 white paper, *The New NHS*.⁶¹ *The NHS Improvement Plan* indicated that from April 2005 GP practices who wish to do so will be given indicative commissioning budgets. This is seen as a first step towards the development of a range of ways in which practices can become involved in commissioning.^{62,63} Full implementation of practice-based commissioning is expected by the end of 2006.⁶⁰

Coupled with Patient Choice, better management of Long Term Conditions and Payment by Results, Practice Based Commissioning (PBC) is seen as an important tool towards achieving:

- a greater variety of services, from a greater number of providers in settings that are closer to home and more convenient to patients (plurality)
- increased support of clinician-to-clinician dialogue about improving and developing care processes.
- early and continuing involvement of practitioners in service development
- an additional set of levers to aid demand management.

Patients exerting choice over where they want to be treated, and the development of new and innovative models of provision will lead to patients receiving treatment in settings both geographically further from their homes and outside the NHS. This will have implications for communication about medicines, including between hospitals and primary care professionals in different areas, and between the NHS and private sector providers.

Long-Term Conditions

The increased incidence of long-term conditions such as diabetes, asthma, arthritis, heart failure, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and dementia, presents a huge challenge to the NHS. Improving care and service for people with such conditions will have not only an impact for the individual, but also a beneficial impact on secondary and emergency care, and positive implications for social care.⁶⁴ Half of all bed-days are accounted for by less than 3% of medical conditions, most of which are chronic diseases, and 5% of inpatients account for 42% of overall inpatient days.⁶⁵

The NHS is committed to improving services for patients with long-term conditions (also referred to as chronic disease management). Support for people with long-term conditions falls into three categories:

- Level 3: Case management the most vulnerable people, with highly complex multiple long term conditions, requiring active and specialist care from a key worker (often a nurse)
- Level 2: Disease-specific care management people who have a complex single need requiring specialist services using multi-disciplinary teams and disease-specific protocols and pathways, such as the National Service Frameworks and the Quality and Outcomes Framework.
- Level 1: Supported self care individuals and their carers who require help to develop the knowledge, skills and confidence to care for themselves and their condition effectively.

Research has shown that a targeted approach and more effective management in the community can prevent inappropriate admissions, cut length of stay in hospital and other care settings and improve patient experience and outcomes. A flexible model for supporting people with long-term conditions has been produced for use by the NHS and social care.⁶⁶ Pilot work into the case management approach has shown reductions in hospital admissions of between 10% and 20% and reductions in the length of stay of between 20% and 30%. More than 3000 community matrons are being appointed to use case management techniques to care for the most vulnerable group of patients.

Pro-active disease management can make a real difference to patients with a single condition. Implementation of the NSFs is already demonstrating that this approach can have a radical impact on outcomes for patients, producing better health outcomes, slower disease progression, reducing disability, ensuring better management of the sudden deteriorations often associated with long term conditions and reducing the need for admission to hospital.

Self-management programmes are designed to reduce the severity of symptoms and improve confidence, resourcefulness and self-sufficiency. The Expert Patient Programme (EPP) has been central in spreading good self care and self management skills to a wider range of people with long term conditions.⁶⁷ The programme provides group-based, generic training and is delivered by a network of trainers and volunteer tutors all living with long term conditions themselves. The EPP will be made available through all PCOs by 2008.⁶⁸

Local Delivery Plans

In July 2004 the Department of Health published National Standards, Local Action⁶⁹ setting out the planning framework for the financial years 2005/06 to 2007/08. This builds on Standards for Better Health⁷⁰ the new performance framework for the NHS, which sets out the quality all organisations providing NHS care will be expected to meet or aspire to. This planning framework contained fewer national targets than the

previous three-year planning cycle⁷¹ to create the opportunity for PCOs to set local targets in response to local needs and priorities.

Health services are expected to plan over a three year period knowing the resources that will be available to them during that time.^{72,73} Locally PCOs are required to develop a Local Delivery Plan (LDP), in partnership with other NHS bodies and local authorities. This should set out annual trajectories to ensure delivery of national targets, as well as outline their plans for local targets.

The delivery of effective discharge planning is fundamental to the achievement of a number of LDP targets.

Target	Comment	
Patient / User Experience		
Reduce to four hours the maximum wait in A&E from arrival to admission, transfer or discharge	Minimising the time taken to	
Achieve a maximum wait of 6 months for inpatients by December 2005		
Delayed transfers of care to reduce to a minimal level by 2006	contribute to beds being available when required	
Access to Services		
To ensure that by 2008 no-one waits more than 18 weeks from GP referral to hospital treatment		
Supporting People with Long-Term Conditions		
Reduce emergency bed days by 5% by 2008	Effective communication between secondary and primary care can reduce the risk of re-admission	

Payment by Results

Alongside the introduction of the new performance framework a new system for financial flows in the NHS was introduced in April 2005.^{73,74} The aim of the new financial system is to provide a transparent, rules-based system for paying NHS Trusts. It rewards efficiency, supports patient choice and diversity, and encourages activity for sustainable waiting time reductions. Payment is linked to activity and adjusted for casemix.

Payment by Results (PbR) will be phased over a number of years with 90% of hospital care covered by the system by 2008/09. For 2005/06 only elective care is included, with non-elective, outpatient and A&E referrals deferred to 2006/07.^{73,75}

Many of the tariff prices within PbR do not include medication, particularly lowvolume high-cost medicines. There is an increased risk of fragmentation of care, while commissioners identify who should be paying for medication costs.

Medicines Management Programmes

The continuous improvement of prescribing and the use of medicines is a crucial element of healthcare, aiming to achieve optimal health gain for patients and value for money for the NHS. *Pharmacy in the Future* sets out the requirement for additional structured professional support to optimise prescribing and provide extra help to those who need it to get the best from their medicines.

To take this forward the Collaborative National Medicines Management Services (MMS) Programme was established, hosted by the National Prescribing Centre (NPC). Four waves of PCOs have now become involved with the MMS Programme, and the initiative was extended to hospital pharmacy with the launch of the Hospital Medicines Management Collaborative (HMMC) in 2004.

Three waves of HMMC sites have now become involved in the collaborative and the work includes outcome measures relevant to medicines use at the interface between care settings:

- The number of patients whose discharge is delayed as a result of problems with medicines (a reduction is an improvement)
- The number of acute medical admissions where a documented medication history review has not been undertaken within 24 hours of admission (reduction is an improvement)
- The number of wards not operating approved policies for:
 - a) the use of patients' own medicines
 - b) patients to self-medicate, where appropriate
 - c) dispensing for discharge (a reduction is an improvement)

Junior Doctors' Hours

The European Working Time Directive, which already applied to most UK employees, now also applies to doctors in training. They are now subject to an average maximum working week of 58 hours, reducing further to 48 hours by August 2009. Department of Health guidance⁷⁶ on how this requirement can be met includes the recommendation to make greater use of non-medical healthcare practitioners in extended roles, in order to reduce junior doctors' workload. Initiatives re-engineering hospital pharmacy services can support this requirement.

NHS Information Technology Agenda

The National Programme for Information Technology (NPfIT), being delivered by the new Department of Health Agency, Connecting for Health, started in October 2002 and focuses on changes to IT in the NHS that will improve patient experience. The programme has four main goals:

- electronic appointment booking
- NHS care records service (NCRS)

- electronic transfer of prescriptions
- fast, reliable underlying IT infrastructure / network

The creation of a live, interactive patient record that all health professionals can access from whatever setting is seen as the key component to ensure that all patients receive "the right care in the right place, at the right time."

In terms of planning for transfer between different care settings this will ensure that changes made to medication are known to the GP as soon as they happen, and that healthcare staff will have direct access to up-to-date information about the medication prescribed to a patient in primary care.

RESEARCH EVIDENCE

The aim of this section is to highlight some of the research that has been undertaken in this area, to provide insight into the patient journey and medicines' risks, and the problems that can occur.

This includes an overview of the evidence quantifying the scale of the problems with medication at transfer from one setting to another; consequences and implications, and potential interventions to try and improve the situation. Further information on the studies cited can be found in Appendix 3

COMMUNICATION

A number of studies, spanning nearly twenty years, have looked at the problem of delayed communication between hospital and community when a patient is discharged from hospital.

As long ago as the mid 1980s studies showed that after discharge from hospital a significant proportion of patients contacted their GP before discharge information was received.^{3,77} Similar results were still to be found in 2001 and 2003.^{4,78}

Studies looking at the information needs of GPs have found that information about why medicines are altered in hospital was one of their biggest needs⁷⁹⁻⁸¹ and that community pharmacists often do not know that a patient has recently been in hospital.⁸²

Key Messages:

- discharge information often arrives at the GP surgery after the patient has requested continuation of treatment (3,4,77)
- 84% of GPs "occasionally" or "never" received information about why medicines had been altered in hospital (79,80)
- communication between secondary and primary care pharmacy should be routine practice; however only 4-5% of respondents to surveys reported that they do so^(83,84)

CONSEQUENCES OF POOR COMMUNICATION

Many authors have explored practitioners' perspectives of communication across the health care interface. In 1992, one of the first research teams to recognise the importance of poor communication at the time of discharge found that in 90% of the patients studied there was a lack of continuity between the medicines at discharge and those being taken post-discharge.⁵

A study in 1996 developed this area further by classifying discrepancies in prescribing post-discharge into those that were "intentional" and those that were "unintentional".⁶ Unintentional discrepancies were dependent on either different labelling or supply systems or breakdown in communication between secondary and primary care.

Key Messages:

- many changes that occur to prescribed medicines after discharge are unintentional and result from different labelling and supply systems, or a breakdown in communication between secondary and primary care^(5,6)
- a small proportion of GPs and community pharmacists have positive experiences of seamless care initiatives, but pharmacists on both sides of the interface are enthusiastic to improve communication and in favour of inter-pharmacist discharge communication^(85,86)

IMPLICATIONS FOR PATIENTS

Poor compliance with medication can jeopardise treatment, and increase the risk of admission, or re-admission, to hospital. A number of studies have implicated the occurrence of adverse drug reactions with admission to hospital, particularly in elderly patients. These have shown that between 5% and 17% of admissions are felt to be drug-related.⁸⁷⁻⁹²

Recent studies have completed the "circle" between admission and discharge, identifying that between 19% and 23% of patients discharged experience an adverse event after discharge.^{93,94} It is thought that almost 60% of unplanned readmissions could be avoided by more effective action at the time of discharge.⁹⁵

Key Messages:

- potentially preventable drug-related morbidity is associated with 5 17% of admissions⁽⁸⁷⁻⁹³⁾
- in the region 20% of patients will experience an adverse event after discharge^(93,94)
- Ineffective discharge can lead to unplanned re-admissions⁽⁹⁵⁾

POTENTIAL INTERVENTIONS

In 1993 the Royal Pharmaceutical Society responded to findings about medication discrepancies post-discharge, and problems in communication across the health care interface, by introducing two communication forms: one to be used on admission and the other at discharge.^{96,97} However, these appear to have been little used.⁸³ Several Trusts have tried to test their own method of communicating drug-related information across the interface with variable success.⁹⁸⁻¹⁰²

Admission Drug Histories

For the majority of patients, the starting point for prescribing inpatient drug therapy is the drug history taken on admission; a task which has traditionally been undertaken by junior doctors. A complete and accurate drug history is the foundation on which discharge medication is based, supplemented by any changes to therapy in hospital.

Several studies have found intentional and unintentional discrepancies between information from a patient's GP or community pharmacist and the medication prescribed on admission, with missing or incorrect doses, omission of medicines, or medicines no longer being taken recorded on the drug history.^{103,104} In one study 39%

of discrepancies had the potential to cause moderate to severe discomfort or clinical deterioration.¹⁰⁵

A number of studies have looked at the impact of pharmacist medication histories on admission. It has been found that an admission drug history taken by a pharmacist had significantly fewer errors compared with accuracy of junior doctors.¹⁰⁶⁻¹¹³ This is likely to be because of pharmacists' broad knowledge of medicinal products, understanding of the subtle differences between different formulations and presentations, and their awareness of over-the-counter products.

Key Messages:

- Studies have found unintentional omissions and errors in 60-70% of drug histories taken on admission⁽¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁵⁾
- Pharmacists take more accurate and complete admission drug histories (106,107,110,113)

Discharge Summaries

Several studies have looked at providing GPs and/or community pharmacists with either a simple discharge information form, or a copy of the discharge prescription.

Both of the studies which had investigated discrepancies in post-discharge medication recommended providing community pharmacists with a copy of the discharge prescription.^{5,6} The authors of one of these studies later tested the effect of providing community pharmacists with copies of information regarding medicines prescribed at discharge.¹¹⁴

Discharge summaries hand-delivery by the patient, or their carer, have been shown to accelerate communication between hospitals and general practitioners.^{115,116} The impact of various formats of discharge summary have been investigated and generally shown to reduce the number of medication related issues that arose.^{84,117,118}

Key Messages:

- providing community pharmacists with information regarding discharge medication prevents adverse effects and pharmaceutical issues^(99,114,118,119)
- a discharge medication summary given to the patient, their GP and nominated community pharmacist reduced re-admissions^(103,120)

The Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network has developed a minimum dataset for inclusion in discharge documents intended to be supplied at the time of patient discharge.¹²¹ It is not intended to replace a detailed care plan necessary to inform carers and professionals for many patients, but represents the data items seen as important at discharge.

Pharmaceutical Care Plans

A number of studies have investigated the effect of providing a pharmaceutical care service, and the use of a pharmaceutical care plan as a means of communication

between hospital and community sectors.^{86,99,122-129} Results suggest that such intervention may reduce readmissions, although some measures have not found a difference between study and control groups.

The title used for documentation needs to be carefully considered. "Pharmaceutical care plan" evokes a strong pharmacy focus that may not appeal to general practitioners. In contrast, "pharmacy discharge sheet" clearly differentiates it from the discharge medication summary and letter, giving it a clear pharmacy focus without claiming to be completely comprehensive. It is important to standardise not only the content but also the title so that everyone knows what works and what to expect.

Key Messages:

- 45% of recommendations made on care plans were acted on by the GP or community pharmacist⁽¹²³⁾
- providing pharmaceutical care plans for GPs and community pharmacists post-discharge had no effect on quality of life, satisfaction, knowledge and adherence, and re-admission to hospital within six months⁽¹²⁴⁾
- the design of the paperwork is important and should be integrated into the electronic communication process^(117,130)
- researchers have found that completion of 10 care plans per week equates to 1.1 whole time equivalent posts⁽⁸⁶⁾

Patient Counselling and Aids to Compliance

Patient's knowledge and understanding of their medication is important in empowering patients to self-care. Various studies have considered what patients know about their medication when discharged from hospital, and demonstrated that few are aware of side effects, needed lifestyle changes, and correct medication schedules.¹³¹ Few adult patients feel that they have received a full explanation of the possible side effects of their medicines.¹³²

A number of studies have looked at the value of inpatient counselling, mainly for elderly patients, prior to discharge. Compliance has been shown to be better in the study group, who also showed lower rates of unplanned GP visits and re-admission to hospital.¹³³ Verbal counselling in combination with written information has been shown to be more affective at increasing the patient's awareness of their medication that verbal counselling or written information alone.¹³⁴

Although large numbers of UK hospitals use reminder charts, reusable multicompartment compliance aids, and sealed blister packs few report having any formal methods for targeting which patients should receive a compliance aid.¹³⁵ This outcome needs to be considered in the light of the suggested criteria for the provision of such aids by community pharmacists (See Appendix 4).^{136,137}

Key Messages:

- patients are often unaware of the side effects and correct scheduling of their medication⁽¹³⁸⁾
- counselling prior to discharge accompanied by written information or reminder charts were effective at improving compliance^(133,134,139,140)
- few hospitals have formal methods for targeting which patient should receive a compliance aid (135)

Systems Re-engineering

Pharmacy involvement in the discharge process has gradually increased since pharmacists started routinely visiting wards in the 1970s, initially with pharmacists clinically screening discharge prescriptions. According to a survey of NHS Trusts undertaken in 1999, clinical screening of discharge prescriptions routinely takes place in almost three-quarters (72.2%) of hospitals.¹⁴¹ This is often supported by pharmacist discharge counselling and, in some cases, pharmacist written discharge prescriptions. At various NHS Trusts pharmacists and/or technicians start to take comprehensive drug histories at admission to ensure that the prescribed medication is appropriate from the outset. The pharmacists follow this through the admission to ensure appropriate prescribing at discharge. As the role of pharmacy technicians evolves more will become involved in these activities.

Waiting for discharge prescriptions to be written, and medication dispensed, takes time, and can delay patients being discharged from hospital. As a result various initiatives have been piloted, and implemented in full, to re-engineer hospital pharmacy services. Such schemes, often referred to as "one-stop dispensing", usually involve the use of patients' own drugs (PODs), so that following assessment by pharmacy or nursing staff, these can be used during the inpatient stay and at discharge. If all medicines are either available as a POD or dispensed with administration instructions, patients should not have to wait for a separate supply of medicines to be dispensed at discharge.¹⁴²

One-Stop Dispensing				
Medication history taking	Use of Patients' own drugs	Use of lockable bedside medicines cabinets	Dispensing inpatient medication with administration instructions	Counselling patients at discharge

Table 4 - The Five Elements of One-Stop Dispensing

(Taken from¹⁴²)

Guidance on implementing one-stop dispensing, patients' own drugs, and selfadministration schemes has been issued by the Hospital Pharmacists Group¹⁴³ (see Appendix 5) and the potential benefits are shown diagrammatically in Figure 1.

Figure 2 - Re-engineered Patient Journey

(Source: Association of Scottish Trust Chief Pharmacists)144





Patients' Own Drugs / Dispensing for Discharge

A number of hospitals have reported the introduction of dispensing a 28-day supply of medicines to inpatients, providing them with the medicines which will be used during their hospital admission, and a supply to take home. These are labelled with full instructions. Where the medicines that the patient brings into hospital with them are suitable, these patients' own drugs (PODs) will be used, rather than dispensing new supplies.^{142,145-150}

For one-stop dispensing and use of patients' own drugs to work efficiently, lockable bedside medicines cabinets are needed. Where patients are not self-administering their medicines, the key to the locker is held by a nurse who administers medicines from the locker.¹⁴³ However medicines cabinets located by the bedside may not be appropriate on wards where patients are encourage to be in day-rooms and communal ward areas.¹⁴²

Self-Administration Schemes

In situations where appropriately labelled patient packs of medication are being used in a ward setting, self-administration schemes allow staff to confirm a patients' ability to take their medication correctly before discharge.¹⁵¹ Self-administration schemes place greater emphasis on patient education about their therapy, as medicating becomes something that the patient is actively involved in, rather than a passive process which happens to them, undertaken by a nurse.

A self-medication programme in Leeds was found to be an effective aid for improving compliance with, and knowledge of, elderly patients' medicines after discharge.¹⁵² However work in Canada has demonstrated that although self-medication improved compliance it did not improve the patient's medication knowledge more than pharmacy counselling alone.¹⁵³

Electronic Prescriptions

Generating prescriptions electronically helps to ensure that discharge information is clear and legible, with no written changes. In Lewisham both discharge prescriptions, and any amendments to the prescription by a pharmacist, can be made electronically.¹⁴⁵ A copy of the discharge prescription is electronically sent to the patient's GP via the NHSnet. Experience in Hampshire and Wirral has shown that electronic prescribing, where prescriptions are printed out immediately in the pharmacy, has improved the timeliness of discharge prescriptions.^{154,155}

Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions

A national survey undertaken in 2001 identified that 36% of hospital pharmacy departments offered a pharmacist discharge prescription transcription service. However the majority of pharmacists who responded were writing less than 5 prescriptions per day.^{156,157}

The number of errors, omissions or alternations where found to be considerably lower on pharmacist-written discharge prescriptions (8%) than those written by junior doctors (32%), and a higher proportion of PODs were considered suitable for re-use at discharge.^{118,158-160}

Non-medical Prescribing

The introduction of supplementary prescribing has provided a clearer mechanism for pharmacist-written discharge prescriptions. In Aberdeen supplementary prescribing has been adapted to suit the discharge process within a cardiac unit. Using protocols and guidelines already in place within the cardiac unit a clinical management plan was produced, which is used as the basis for supplementary prescribing. 80-90% of discharge prescriptions are now written by the supplementary prescriber ward pharmacist.¹⁶¹ The potential extension of independent prescribing to suitably qualified pharmacists will allow the discharge prescribing process to extend further.¹⁶²

Ward-based Discharge Dispensing

Some hospitals have introduced initiatives to speed up the discharge process on the ward by introducing a TTA (to take away) cupboard on the ward. This can only be accessed by pharmacy staff and is designed to enable a pharmacist to dispense simple prescriptions on the ward. In Lewisham this has been introduced on the ear, nose and throat (ENT), orthopaedic and gynaecology wards were the majority of patients are generally fit and have few ongoing pharmaceutical needs, but may require antibiotics, analgesics and preparations relevant to those specialties at discharge.¹⁴⁵ On the ENT ward this system has resulted in 90% of discharge prescriptions being ready by 10am; in the past patients often waited until late afternoon before receiving their medication.

An analysis of the impact of introducing a near-patient pharmacy service at St Thomas' Hospital found that 43% of discharge medication could be provided entirely on the ward, causing no delay to discharge.¹⁰⁶ A further 22% required only one item to be dispensed and were prioritised by the dispensary for return to the ward within one hour. It was calculated that avoiding delays in obtaining discharge medication resulted in 13 beds per day being available for the admission of new patients 4 hours earlier.

Key Messages:

- pharmacist-written discharge prescriptions result in fewer errors and a high proportion of PODs being reused^(154,155,158-160)
- ward-based dispensing reduces waiting times for discharge medication and speeds up the discharge process^(106,145,147)
- clinical screening of discharge prescriptions now routinely takes place in 72.2% of NHS Trusts, and pharmacist written discharge prescriptions in at least one-third^(141,156,157)
- in appropriate circumstances supplementary prescribing, within a relevant clinical management plan, can be used to prepare discharge prescriptions⁽¹⁶¹⁾

A limitation of existing studies is that most have been based on elderly populations, and can therefore be hard to extrapolate to a general population. For example, patients using mental health services generally have much longer stays on psychiatric units than patients on general wards. This leads to more changes in the medication regimen increasing the need for good communication, and possibly lending itself less well to one-stop dispensing practices.

Studies based on intensive interventions can be hard to reproduce without specific funding and some have "woolly" outcome measures, often based on perceptions or focus on pharmacy rather than patient. However, whilst the majority of studies have been small in scale, the overall findings produce a weighty evidence base suggesting that improved communication leads to measurable patient benefit; the involvement of pharmacists across the healthcare interface is imperative and these recommendations should be integrated with initiatives to improve electronic information transfer.
WHAT TO DO

The research evidence and examples of what is working well in practice provide a useful starting point from which to develop ideas on how to tackle discharge and transfer planning between different settings within your area.

ELEMENTS OF A SUCCESSFUL SERVICE

To maximise effective admission, transfer or discharge, and minimise the risks relating to medicines use, the evidence suggests that the following elements should be in place:

• mechanisms for effective **communication** need to be in place between all health and social care professionals involved in the care of the patient to allow planning for discharge or transfer to start as early in the admission as possible. Similar mechanisms should be in place in all long-stay situations where transfer occurs e.g. between hospital and care home.

Depending on the location of transfer, communication may need to include:

- GP
 discharge or ward based pharmacist
- care home staff
- social worker
- primary care discharge pharmacist
- community pharmacist
- specialist contractor providing home care
- ward staff

hospital

- pharmacy staff
- pharmacists taking a medication **history** to make sure that patients are taking the correct medication from the time that they are admitted to hospital. Information from GP and community pharmacy records will supplement information provided by patients. Where patients are admitted to a care home from their own home the current medication profile should be available from the GP at the time of admission.

The need for an accurate medication history will apply in a range of settings. Examples could include:

- \checkmark on admission to hospital from home
- ✓ on transfer from one hospital to another
- ✓ on admission to a care home/hospice from home
- ✓ on admission to a care home/hospice from hospital
- ✓ on transfer from one care home/hospice to another
- ✓ on transfer from mental health unit to supported accommodation

In order to take an accurate medication history the following are needed:

- ✓ GP / hospital summary showing current medication
- ✓ patient's own medication including over-the-counter medicines

- using **patients own drugs** and **dispensing for discharge** reduce the risk of duplicate or discontinued medication being taken once the patient returns home. All medication is brought with the patient to hospital and only those which are continued are taken home again. By combining inpatient and discharge supplies, many patients now go home with at least two weeks supply.
- encouraging patients to self administer their medication where appropriate reinforces messages about effective use of medicines, provides opportunities for education and allows staff to assess competency. This provides the opportunity to identify patients who may require additional support to manage their medication in a community setting.

Self administration has a number of benefits:

- ✓ assesses competence at medicines taking
- ✓ identifies need for education
- ✓ identifies need for support with medicines at home
- ✓ reduces nurse/carer time in hospital, care home or day centre
- **reviewing medication**, especially where there have been changes and additions to medication, will reduce the effects of polypharmacy and enable patients to take their medicines more easily without forgetting doses.
- **obtaining prescriptions** in good time and in sufficient quantity, for the destination to which the patient is going, will allow medicines to be obtained in time for discharge or transfer and avoid patients running out in their new setting before they can obtain further supplies (see action plan below).
- **obtaining medication in good time** will allow medicines to be available when needed for discharge/transfer. Ensure that adequate supply is available to suit the destination. For example a patient transferring to a care home for the first time may need to register with a GP which may increase the time needed to obtain further supplies of medication.
- **verbal** counselling of patients (and where appropriate their carers) accompanied by **written discharge information**, increases medication knowledge and compliance. Mechanisms should be in place to assess when support for compliance is required (reminder cards, MAR charts, large print labels, etc) where necessary.
- pharmacist-written discharge prescriptions reduces error rates and improves bed-management, allowing patients to be discharged more quickly. Pharmacists can also take the opportunity of writing the prescription to counsel patients/carers on their medication
- for hospitals and care homes ensuring that **discharge medication summaries** are received by the patient's GP and community pharmacist before a repeat prescription is required will reduce the risk of unintentional post-discharge changes to medication. It is probably unrealistic to expect a formal discharge letter to be

prepared, typed, received by the patients' GP, and translated into changes to the GP's records before the patient presents for a repeat prescription. Faxing or emailing a copy of the discharge summary directly to the GP on the day the patient leaves hospital will improve the chances of information being available in time.

For transfers between other settings (e.g. one care home to another, hospital to care home, ward to ward) the equivalent information about medicines should be supplied, and should arrive before or with the patient.

Information on discharge for medical and elderly patients should include:

- ✓ a complete medication profile
- ✓ whether the drugs are to be continued
- ✓ any changes to medication from medicines on admission and the reason for those changes

For specialist and paediatric patients requiring repeat prescriptions from the GP, information should include:

- ✓ details about drug formulation and supply
- ✓ dosage changes
- ✓ licence status
- ✓ titration
- ✓ monitoring needs
- ✓ discontinuation plans

Discharge summaries should be clear and legible.

- electronic prescriptions make the transfer of information between the ward, pharmacy and GP practice easier. This is currently possible via the NHSnet in some areas, and will become standard practice with the introduction of the NCRS. In the future community pharmacy should have access as well.
- clear practice **protocols** within GP surgeries to make sure that information received about revised medication is updated to the patient's medical and computer records.

These need to include:

- ✓ who has authority to transcribe discharge information
- ✓ who has authority to make changes to medication as a result of discharge information
- ✓ what details need to be transcribed
- ✓ time-limits within which information should be transcribed
- ✓ training to be provided to staff undertaking this task

• **medication management** services for high risk patients ensure that they are able to continue with their medication regimen after discharge, and prevent readmission. Direct contact with the patient's usual community pharmacist can avoid problems with usual medicines and requirements for compliance aids.

Use the self-assessment template to record your state of readiness in each of these areas.

template
ŋt
assessme
self-
readiness
of
State

Flements of a Successful Service	Evidence of Progress	State of Rea	adiness	Further Actions Required
		Red Ambe	r Green	
Communication				
Communication mechanisms are in place between all health and social care professionals.				
Planning for discharge or transfer starts at admission.				
Discharge from, or transfer between, mental health establishments or care homes is planned well in advance to allow medicines to be dispensed and information shared.				
For transfers from tertiary to secondary care a check is made that the receiving hospital has available all medicines that the patient is taking, or a supply is transferred with the patient.				
Medication History Taking				
Medication history taking by a pharmacist or technician is available for all admissions.				
Information from GP and community pharmacy records is routinely used to supplement patient information.				

Further Actions Required State of Readiness Red Amber Green **Evidence of Progress** Elements of a Successful Service Systems are in place to identify particular sufficient time on receipt for dispensed supplied are provided ("Dispensing for medicines or patients needing greater admission from home to a care home. Patients own drugs are routinely used quantities than the normal discharge records is routinely obtained prior to Information from GP and pharmacy Patients' medication is reviewed as Combined inpatient and discharge Prescriptions are ordered allowing prescriptions are adequate for the **Obtaining prescriptions** amount. Amounts ordered on **Reviewing Medication** necessary before discharge. Patients' Own Drugs medicines to be obtained. destination of the patient. during admission. Discharge").

Further Actions Required State of Readiness Red Amber Green **Evidence of Progress** Elements of a Successful Service Patients' competency at self administering provide reminder cards, MAR charts, large Mechanisms are in place to identify those Self administration schemes are in place. who will require additional support in the Patients receive verbal counselling about (to be adapted locally as required) Staff use self administration to reinforce patients needs for compliance aids and Prescriptions are sent for dispensing in time to allow medicines to be available **Obtaining transfer medicines Counselling and Information** Mechanisms are in place to assess Patients receive written discharge information about their medicines. is assessed prior to discharge. print labels etc as necessary. messages about medicines. Self Administration their medicines. when needed. community.

Page 38

Further Actions Required State of Readiness Red Amber Green **Evidence of Progress** Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions **Discharge Medication Summaries Elements of a Successful Service** Information on medicines for medical and Identification of changes to medication reason why a change has been made. An indication of whether drugs are to Mechanisms are in place to ensure that Mechanisms are in place to ensure that profile since admission including the community pharmacists receive these GPs receive these before a repeat is Pharmacists are involved in writing Complete medication profile. before a repeat is required. elderly patients includes: discharge prescriptions. continue. required.

Ð
at
Ö
Ē
L.
Ť
÷
Ň
Ĕ
S
ŝ
ö
S
Se
Ŭ.
sel
s sel
ss sel
less sel
iness sel
diness sel
adiness sel
readiness sel
of readiness sel
of readiness sel
te of readiness sel
ate of readiness sel
state of readiness sel

Elements of a Successful Service	Evidence of Progress	State	of Rea	diness	Further Actions Required
		Red	Amber	Green	
Information for specialist and paediatric patients includes:					
 Details of drug formulation. 					
 Arrangements for supply. 					
 Dose changes. 					
 Licence status. 					
 Monitoring needs and discontinuation plans. 					
All discharge summaries are clear and legible.					
Electronic prescriptions					
Electronic transfer of information is fully utilised.					
Surgery Protocols					
Protocols are in place to make sure that information received about revised medication is updated to the patient's medical and computer records.					
Medication management					
Services are in place to ensure that high risk patients are able to continue with their medication regimen after discharge, and prevent re-admission.					

State of readiness self-assessment template

Elements of a Successful Service	Evidence of Progress	State	of Reac	liness	Further Actions Required
)	Red	Amber	Green	-
Links are in place with the Single Assessment Process (SAP).					

ACTION PLAN

There is current variability across the NHS about the way in which transfers and discharges are handled. Some element of good practice will exist in most places, but in many, more could be done to improve the efficiency of transfer and the patient's experience of the process.

It is also important to recognise that not all elements of service may be applicable in all settings. For example the use of Patient's Own Drugs (PODs) may be less appropriate in a mental health setting, where self-administration needs to be carefully considered and may only become appropriate for those patients approaching discharge. Similarly for patients with a history of recent self-harm, supply should be limited to 2 weeks or less.

- 1. Establish the appropriate forum for agreeing a multi-disciplinary approach across primary and secondary care to medication and discharge or other transfer settings.
 - this could be the sub-economy or PCO prescribing committee, NHS Trust drugs and therapeutics committee, a local pharmacy network, or Trust or PCO clinical governance structures.
- 2. Review what communication processes already exist for the transfer of information to GPs and community pharmacists at discharge.
 - are there standards in place for the time within which discharge information should be received?
 - are fax and e-mail utilised to speed up providing discharge information?
 - is the quality of the information (including legibility) currently supplied acceptable?
 - are there specific arrangements in place for unlicensed products and "specials" which may be difficult to obtain in the community?
 - if the answers are unknown, audit the current practice to identify the problem areas.
- 3. Review what communication processes already exist for the transfer of information to staff when patients are transferred to a care home, hospice or intermediate care centre.
 - are there standards in place to ensure that information is provided to care / nursing staff in those settings?
 - are fax and e-mail utilised to speed up providing discharge information?
 - is the quality of information (including legibility) currently supplied acceptable?
 - do patients always transfer with adequate supplies of medicines, accompanied by clear instructions?
 - if the answers are unknown, audit the current practice to identify the problem areas

- 4. Review the role of junior doctors, pharmacists and pharmacy technicians in taking drug histories at admission and writing up discharge prescriptions.
 - could role redesign contribute to the Trust's work programme for reducing junior doctors' hours?
 - are processes in place to obtain additional information from GPs and community pharmacists to supplement information from patients?
 - are processes in place to ensure that, where necessary, patients receive counselling about their medication, accompanied by written information before discharge?
 - are processes in place to ensure the timeliness of writing discharge prescriptions so that patient's discharge is not held up?
 - could more be undertaken if the pharmacists involved were supplementary prescribers working within clinical management plans? Could independent prescribing by pharmacists be utilised in the future?
 - do protocols exist for these activities?
 - do pharmacy staff require additional training and accreditation for these roles?
- 5. Review the systems in place for use of patients' own drugs and dispensing for discharge.
 - do discussions need to take place about the balance of resources between primary and secondary care to enable the supply of patients' own medicines for use in hospital and larger quantities of medication from the hospital at discharge?
 - do pharmacy staff require additional training and accreditation for these roles?
 - where inpatient and discharge supplies are being combined is there an agreement on the minimum acceptable quantity which must be remaining at discharge?
 - do some wards need to have arrangements for ward-based discharge dispensing?
 - does the dispensing of discharge medication need to be prioritised or fasttracked within the dispensary at certain times of day?
 - do protocols exist for these activities?

- 6. Consider how, if not already in place, the introduction of self-administration could be managed.
 - what physical requirements exist, i.e. lockable bedside cabinets for storage of medication? Should these be fixed or able to move if a patient transfers to another ward? Do wards where patients are encouraged to spend their time in communal areas need a different approach?
 - what training requirements are there for nursing staff?
 - do protocols exist to enable nursing or pharmacy staff to assess whether a patient is able to self-medicate? How do these deal with a patient whose condition deteriorates?
 - what patient counselling is available to support patients to undertake self-administration?
 - what additional resources are available to support patients who are identified as struggling to manage their medication in hospital, i.e. large print or Braille labels, information sheets, medication diaries, eye drop administration aids, large closures, compliance aids?
 - how will these be seamlessly continued when the patient is discharged? Do the patient's needs meet the suggested criteria for support provided by community pharmacy for people with disabilities?
- 7. Consider whether there are adequate systems in place to be able to identify to their GP and community pharmacist that a patient is at high risk of medication non-compliance.
 - does the assessment process for discharge include an assessment of the patient's ability to manage their medicines at home?
 - does the single assessment process (SAP) include triggers for referral for a specialist assessment relating to medication?
 - how is information communicated to the community pharmacist?
 - what ongoing medication management support is available to patients?
 - are processes in place to identify and resolve language considerations?
 - are processes in place to establish whether the patient's needs meet the suggested criteria for support provided by community pharmacy for people with disabilities?
 - are processes in place to identify where patients are receiving, or in need of, support from home care services such as prompting, supervising or administering medication? Is a social worker involved in the patient's discharge? What information do they need?

- 8. Consider whether information received at discharge is handled optimally at GP surgeries and community pharmacies.
 - are there standards in place for the time within which incoming discharge summaries should be entered onto the practice computer or recorded in the patient's notes?
 - are staff aware of the importance of handling this information quickly, and clear about whose responsibility it is to process such information?
 - is there a system in place to identify patients who have been recently discharged from hospital when they request a repeat prescription?
 - is there a system in place to identify patients who have been recently discharged from hospital when they present to collect a supply from a repeatable prescription?
 - do protocols exist for these activities?
- 9. Consider what public relations activity is required to publicise the changes to patients and health care practitioners.
 - do patients understand why they are being asked to bring their medication to hospital with them?
 - do GPs and their staff understand why patients are being asked to bring their medication with them to hospital, or are they providing counter-advice in the belief that it will be destroyed, wasting money?
 - what systems exist to enable frequent users of health services, particularly out-of-hours services, to have an up-to-date list of their medication available in their home?

Use the action planning template to help you prepare an action plan for your own organisation.

ш
4
T
2
ш
<u> </u>
Z
0
_
Z
0
Ĕ.
C
Ā

d Outcome	Action	Comments	Timescale	Lead
ng to rge or	Identify the appropriate forum – (this could be a Trust, PCO or sub-economy wide; a prescribing, drug and therapeutics, or clinical governance committee).			
sses	Establish, or review, standards for the time within which discharge information should be received.			
	Audit whether the quality of the information currently supplied is acceptable.			
	Review the arrangements in place for unlicenced products and "specials" which may be difficult to obtain in the community.			
sses atients	Establish, or review, standards for the time within which information is provided to care / nursing staff in those settings.			
stting ce,	Audit whether the quality of information currently supplied is acceptable.			
	Audit whether patients always transfer with adequate supplies of medicines, accompanied by clear instructions.			
	Review audit results and assess the need for discharge / interface pharmacist to assist communication process.			

ш
E
<
Π
=
2
ш
_
4
<
D
-
4
Ο
5
Q
•

lle Lead						
Timesca						
Comments						
Action	Review the contribution of pharmacist-written discharge prescriptions to the Trust's work programme for reducing junior doctors' hours. Review the processes in place to obtain additional information from GPs and community pharmacists to supplement information from patients.	Review the processes in place to ensure that, where necessary, patients receive counselling about their medication, accompanied by written information before discharge.	Audit the timeliness of writing discharge prescriptions and whether patient discharges are being held up.	Review whether clinical areas exist where pharmacist supplementary prescribers working within clinical management plans could undertaken discharge prescribing.	Review whether all necessary protocols exist for such activities.	Consider whether pharmacy staff require additional training and accreditation for these roles.
Desired Outcome	The respective roles of junior doctors, pharmacists and pharmacy technicians in taking drug histories at admission and writing up discharge prescriptions are clearly defined.					

ш
1
5
щ
⊢.
_
Z
<u> </u>
7
U
5
O

Lead							
Timescale							
Comments							
Action	Reach agreement on the balance of resources between primary and secondary care to enable the supply of patients' own medicines for use in hospital and larger quantities of medication from the hospital at discharge.	Review whether there is agreement on the minimum acceptable quantity which must be remaining at discharge where inpatient and discharge supplies are being combined.	Review whether some wards need to have arrangements for ward-based discharge dispensing.	Review whether dispensing of discharge medication need to be prioritised or fast- tracked within the dispensary at certain times of day.	Review whether all necessary protocols exist for such activities.	Consider whether pharmacy staff require additional training and accreditation for these roles.	
Desired Outcome	Systems are in place for use of patients' own drugs and "dispensing for discharge".						

ш
4
2
<u>نظ</u>
5
Πī.
۳.
-
7
4
<
0
T
O

Lead		
Timescale		
Comments		
Action	Review the detailed physical requirements for storage of medication (e.g. lockable cabinets). Consider whether there are training requirements for nursing staff. Review whether all necessary protocols exist to enable nursing or pharmacy staff to assess whether a patient is able to self-medicate. Review the availability of patient counselling to support patients undertake self- administration. Review whether additional resources are available to support patients who are identified as struggling to manage their medication in hospital (i.e. large print or Braille labels, information sheets, medication diaries, eye drop administration aids, large closures, compliance aids). Review how the need for such aids can be seamlessly continued when the patient is discharged (consider the suggested criteria for support provided by community pharmacy for people with disabilities).	
Desired Outcome	Systems are in place for the self- administration of medicines by patients, where appropriate.	

Щ.
A
4
Σ
Ë
Z
2
σ.
Z
Ĕ
Ö

Lead	
Timescale	
Comments	
Action	Review whether the assessment process for discharge includes an assessment of the patient's ability to manage their medicines at home. Ensure that the local protocols for the single assessment process (SAP) includes triggers for referral for a specialist assessment relating to medication. Review communication to the community pharmacist to ensure ongoing medication management support is available to patients. (consider the suggested criteria for support provided by community pharmacy for people with disabilities). Ensure that processes are in place to identify and resolve language considerations. Review mechanisms to identify where patients are receiving, or in need of, support from home care services such as prompting, supervising or administering medication.
Desired Outcome	Adequate systems are in place to be able to identify to the GP and community pharmacist that a patient is at high risk of medication non-compliance.

Lead		
Timescale		
Comments		
Action	Establish, or audit, standards for the time within which incoming discharge summaries should be entered onto the practice computer or recorded in the patient's notes. Ensure that staff are aware of the importance of handling this information quickly and clear about whose responsibility it is to process such information. Establish, or review, the system to identify patients who have been recently discharged from hospital when they request a repeat prescription or collect a supply from a repeatable prescription. Review whether all necessary protocols exist for such activities.	Audit whether patients understand why they are being asked to bring their medication to hospital with them. Audit whether GPs and their staff understand why patients are being asked to bring their medication with them to hospital, and whether they are providing counter-advice in the belief that it will be destroyed.
Desired Outcome	Information received at discharge is handled optimally at GP surgeries and community pharmacies.	Changes about handling medicines at admission / discharge have been effectively publicised to patients and health care practitioners.

ACTION PLAN TEMPLATE

This document has provided you with the principles needed to achieve safe and effective transfer of medicines when patients move from one setting to another. It is also intended as a practical guide, providing examples of what other organisations have found to be effective in supporting practice in this area (see Appendix 6). Although many of the principles relate to hospital discharge they are transferable to other settings.

The safe transfer of patients from one setting to another is a multidisciplinary process and requires co-operation between doctors, nurses, pharmacists and other healthcare professionals as well as the patient and their carers. To ensure that the transfer of medicines goes as smoothly as possible, when a patient moves between settings, planning for the transfer needs to start as early in the process as can be achieved.

APPENDICES

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Steering Group Members

Sue Carter	Chair, Primary Care Pharmacists' Association
Robert Clayton	Long Term Conditions and Public Health Lead, Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain
Jean Curtis	Professional Secretary, Guild of Healthcare Pharmacists
Catherine Dewsbury	Clinical Governance Pharmacist, Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain
Barbara Parsons	Head of Pharmacy Practice, Pharmaceutical Services Negotiating Committee

Advisory Day Participants

A Cobb	MIND (National Association for Mental Health)
David Common	National Primary and Care Trust Development Programme (NatPaCT)
Molly Courtney	Royal College of Nursing (RCN)
Jean Curtis	Guild of Healthcare Pharmacists (GHP)
Catherine Dewsbury	Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain (RPSGB)
Dr Catherine Duggan	St Bartholomew and the London NHS Trust
Lorna Easterbrook	Age Concern
Angie Glew	Change Agent Team (Department of Health)
Matt Griffiths	Royal College of Nursing (RCN)
Dr Gill Hawksworth	Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain (RPSGB)
Duncan Jenkins	Primary Care Pharmacist Association (PCPA)
Mark Jones	Community Practitioners' and Health Visitors' Association (CPHVA)
Manoj Joshi	NHS Alliance
Suzanne Khalid	Guild of Healthcare Pharmacists (GHP)
Dr Jim Kennedy	Royal College of General Practitioners (RCGP)
Sheila Maltby	Pharmaceutical Society of Northern Ireland (PSNI)
Alice Oborne	UK Clinical Pharmacy Association (UKCPA)
Barbara Parsons	Pharmaceutical Services Negotiating Committee (PSNC)
David Pruce	Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain (RPSGB)
Andrea Robinson	Welsh Executive
Theresa Rutter	Primary and Community Care Pharmacy Network (PCCPN)
Gill Tiernan	Change Agent Team (Department of Health)
David Thompson	Scottish Executive

We are particularly grateful to all the practitioners who have generously provided information about their experiences and practice for inclusion in this document. Our thanks also go to the people listed below whose contribution was most helpful.

Philip Hurst	Age Concern England
Angela Munday	Hospital Pharmacists Group (HPG)
Celia Feetam	College of Mental Health Pharmacists (CMHP)
Diane Kenworthy	Medicines, Pharmacy & Industry Group, Department of Health
Amanda McLean	United Kingdom Clinical Pharmacy Association (UKCPA)
Graham Newton	UK Psychiatric Pharmacy Group (UKPPG)
Carwen Wynne-Howells	Wales Assembly Government
Gill Harvey	National Prescribing Centre (NPC)
Maureen Baker	Royal College of General Practitioners (RCGP)
Sally Watson	British Medical Association (BMA)

GUIDANCE ON GOOD PRACTICE MEDICINES MANAGEMENT DURING PATIENT DISCHARGE

(Source: Hospital Pharmacists Group¹)

	Key outputs	Associated risks & contributing factors	Guidance on minimising risk
1.	All prescribing is reviewed prior to discharge.	Inappropriate prescribing may be continued. Medication prescribed only for hospital stay may be perpetuated inappropriately in the community.	TTA medication summary to be written by pharmacy staff and checked by a pharmacist prior to discharge administration – e.g. reducing doses of steroids, duration of antibiotic courses etc. Checks to be carried out when there is
		open-ended. Transcription errors, such as prescribing, from inpatient chart to the TTA discharge document.	transcription from the original prescription in the in-patient chart to a TTA discharge document. Controlled access to FP10(HP)s, e.g. be clear why they are required, log the
		Third party suppliers involved without the pharmacy's knowledge, e.g. home care companies.	numbers, review those written upon their return from PPA etc. Ensure procurement and contracting with homecare companies involve pharmacy.
			Electronic changes to be included in the process.
2.	Funding problems for special items to be addressed prior to discharge.	If funding is not addressed, patients may go without essential medication while Trusts argue over responsibilities. Similar problems could also arise with specials and unlicensed products.	Medicines Management Committees (MMCs) to have robust shared care guidelines in place. MMCs to have robust unlicensed and off-label guidelines in place. PCTs must agree classification of drugs so that responsibility for prescribing can be attributed appropriately.
3.	All medication is reviewed prior to discharge.	The quantities and labelling, if incorrect, would not provide continuity of care in the community. If incorrect PODs are dispensed at discharge, patients may continue with inappropriate drugs and/or formulations. Use of patient own lockers has occasionally revealed incorrect medication placed in locker.	GPs to receive discharge information ASAP. Patient to be made aware of the need to generate a repeat prescription. Written protocols to be followed as part of final discharge process. Ward staff training and robust procedures should be in place.

	Key outputs	Associated risks & contributing factors	Guidance on minimising risk
4.	All medication is reviewed prior to discharge, but if out of hours, pharmacist & technician may not be available	Patients may be discharged with incorrect drugs, together with incorrect advice for administration.	Nurses may be delegated some tasks but will need to follow a strict protocol. All discharges should be well planned with appropriate training and planning in place. Address the issue of access to pharmacy at weekends.
5.	Symptom relief medication is reassessed for need.	PRN drugs continued when symptoms no longer apparent. PRN drugs continued for wrong reasons. Patient unaware that use of PRN drugs is self management and that patient should be advised of criteria for use.	Need to discuss with patient ongoing need for medication. Nurses should know which drugs are short-term and which are for post discharge use. A simple coding system could be used to differentiate. Records of administration to be looked at to evaluate need.
6.	Patient must be able to self administer or receive carer input.	Unable to self administer leads to uncontrolled disease and re- admission. Leads to poorly controlled disease without readmission. Leads to increased risk of side effects /interactions /ADRs. Adds to budget waste through non taking of medication.	Carer administration via social services carers. Compliance aids if appropriate for the patient's needs. There must be a support service available. Post discharge monitoring in place. Pharmacy to link in with wider discharge planning team.
7.	Communications with GP must be clear, concise and prompt.	Patient given incorrect prescription by the GP. Necessary repeat prescriptions not made available due to bad communication with the GP.	Justify drug changes including omission, addition and rationalisation in communication to GP. Ensure necessary repeat prescriptions are available. Ensure necessary monitoring is in place. All documentation to be sent directly to GP by fax, royal mail or e-mail. GPs need a system to record patients requiring drug monitoring. Patient to receive a copy of relevant documentation. Electronic changes to be included in the process.

	Key outputs	Associated risks & contributing factors	Guidance on minimising risk
8.	Where specials are needed, ordering is explained to patient and/or carer.	Breakdown in the patient's continuity of care and treatment.	Ensure continuity of treatment. Suppliers to make necessary stock available to community pharmacies. GP to be made aware of need to prescribe in good time.
9.	Community pharmacist is made aware of current regimen and / or changes.	Erroneous repeats of discontinued medication. Discharge summary to be sent to community pharmacist.	Copy of discharge summary to be given to patient.
10.	Patients to be aware of medication details & directions	If patients are unaware, they may well harm themselves by over / under dosing, by not recognising symptoms of poor control, ADRs etc	All patients to be given adequate counselling by pharmacy staff before discharge as well as relevant written information leaflets.
11.	Follow up as necessary	If some patients are not followed up, they may fail and be re-admitted to hospital or worse.	Risk assessments to be carried out (e.g. Colchester model) to ensure that high risk patients receive home follow up.

SUMMARY OF STUDIES

Communication

In 1986 a study found that, at one general practice over a three month period, more than half of the patients discharged from hospital contacted their GP before any discharge information had been received.⁷⁷ In 1988 another study, of one practice's patients discharged from their local district general hospital found that discharge letters given to the patient to deliver by hand to their general practitioner took an average of 4 days to arrive.³ By contrast 25% of the discharge summaries posted to the GP never arrived, and for those that did the average delay was 25 days.

Although problems with discharge communication have been identified for many years, studies undertaken in 2001 and 2003 found very similar problems.^{4,78} The 2001 audit of 244 discharge documents received by four general practices in Perth, found that 13% failed to record the main diagnosis or condition; only 28% provided clear follow up plans, 60% were received within 5 days of discharge and in only just over half of the cases was a typed final summary received within four weeks.⁷⁸ The 2003 study investigated faxed discharge summaries, consultant letters and discharge summaries, given to patients from two surgeries and found that, on average, it took 3 days for a discharge summary to be sent by fax, and 22 days for a consultant's discharge letter to arrive. In the majority of cases faxed discharge information was not followed up by letter.⁴

The information needs of GPs post-discharge are also frequently not met; a survey of GPs in Kent found that 84% of GPs "occasionally" or "never" received information about why medicines had been altered in hospital and this was their biggest drug information need.⁷⁹ This supported findings of an earlier study which found GP confusion over continuation of medication post-discharge, and community pharmacist examples of GPs not carrying through changes made to medication during the patient's admission.⁸⁰

As well as looking at discharge information to GPs,⁸¹ which found similar results to other studies, a research group in Bradford looked at community pharmacists' opinions about the discharge information they received⁸². Nearly 96% responded that they would not know that the patient had recently been in hospital, with 74% indicating that if informed they could make an entry in the patient's medication record to highlight this. This confirmed the findings of previous studies which had found that the majority of hospitals did not supply written information to the patient's community pharmacist.^{83,84}

A study in 1996 identified that most discharge summaries are prepared by senior house officers, and assessed their experience in preparing them.¹⁶³ The study showed that most senior house officers had received no teaching on preparing these summaries and had never received formal feedback on the quality of their summaries. Few were able to complete them during their working day - often having to complete them when on-call or in their own time.

Consequences of Poor Communication

Interviews with hospital and community pharmacists in Hampshire found that both groups had few positive experiences of seamless care initiatives (10%).⁸⁵ However, pharmacists on both sides of the interface were enthusiastic to improve communication and were in favour of inter-pharmacist discharge communication.

In 1992, one of the first research teams to recognise the importance of poor communication at the time of discharge followed 50 older patients discharged from geriatric wards.⁵ Patients were discharged with 5 days supply of medication, and written instructions, including a copy of their prescription, to take to their GP. A researcher visited shortly after their initial supply should have been finished and a further supply obtained from the GP. The authors found that in 90% of the patients there was a lack of continuity between the medicines at discharge and those being taken post-discharge. Discrepancies ranged from medicines being stopped or started, and dosage or directions being changed, to those which had originally been dispensed with specific instructions subsequently labelled "as directed". Most of the patients had not been seen by their GP since discharge, so it was felt that the majority of the changes were unintended.

A study in 1996 developed this area further by classifying discrepancies in prescribing post-discharge into those that were "intentional" and those that were "unintentional".⁶ In this study 50 general medical patients with 483 prescribed medicines were visited at home 1 and 6 weeks post-discharge, by which time most patients had collected a new prescription. Intentional discrepancies were identified in 104 (35%) medicines at visit one and in 15 (8%) at visit two; and 33 (11%) unintentional discrepancies were dependent on either different labelling or supply systems or breakdown in communication between secondary and primary care.

Implications for Patients

In a study of elderly patients admitted to a general medical ward 14.7% of admissions were felt to be definitely or probably drug-induced.⁹¹ Another study looked at all admissions of elderly patients to five general medical wards and identified that 12% were admitted because of an adverse drug reaction.^{88,89} A large-scale study of elderly patients admitted to all hospital wards in Tayside identified 5.3% of admissions to be definitely or probably drug-related.⁸⁷

In a study which looked at admissions to a medical admission unit, 4.3% of admissions were associated with potentially preventable drug-related morbidity. This study found that in 91% of cases these admissions were related to problems with prescribing, monitoring or adherence.⁹⁰ A study in Cambridge identified that more than 10% of admissions to a medical admission ward were drug-related; 44% of these were classified as severe.⁹²

Recent studies have completed the "circle" between admission and discharge. A US study found that 19% of medical patients discharged from a single teaching hospital

experienced an adverse event within one month of discharge; many preventable and the majority relating to medication.⁹³

Another study of elderly patients discharged from a multi-site Canadian hospital found that 23% of patients had an adverse event after discharge, of which half were preventable or ameliorable, and most (72%) related to drug therapy.⁹⁴ In Nottingham a study compared 133 elderly patients who were re-admitted to hospital within 28 days of discharge, with a control group of patients who were not readmitted.⁹⁵ It was felt that unplanned readmissions were avoidable in 59% of cases and could have been avoided with more effective action at the time of discharge.

Potential Interventions

A survey in 1996, which looked at the type of information supplied by hospital pharmacy departments at discharge, found that only 4% of Trusts actually used the forms developed by the Royal Pharmaceutical Society three years earlier.⁸³ The most common reason given for not doing so was lack of time, with comments including that the form was "very time consuming and labour intensive, with lots of sections to complete."

Several Trusts have however tried to test their own method of communicating drugrelated information across the interface with variable success.⁹⁸⁻¹⁰² These studies were mainly uncontrolled intervention studies, small in scale but providing a range of interesting results requiring further exploration.

Admission Drug Histories

Both intentional and unintentional discrepancies with medication have been identified at the time of admission to hospital. A study of patients admitted to the medical admission unit in Antrim compared details of medication prescribed on admission, with information obtained from the patient's GP and community pharmacist about their medication regimen.¹⁰³ 61% had incomplete or inaccurate medication histories on admission due to missing or incorrect doses, omission of medicines, or medicines no longer being taken recorded on the drug history.

Similar results were found at a London teaching hospital where a discrepancy was found in 85% of medicines, 70% of which were classified as unintentional;¹⁰⁴ and at a clinical teaching unit in Toronto, where 45% of admissions had at least one unintended discrepancy, of which nearly 39% had the potential to cause moderate to severe discomfort or clinical deterioration.¹⁰⁵

A prospective study in Dumfries compared the accuracy with which junior doctors and pharmacists took a drug history and wrote the drug chart for 120 patients admitted to a medical admission unit.¹⁰⁷ There were significantly fewer errors in the medicines histories taken by pharmacists. The study found that an average of 30 minutes was required to take a comprehensive drug history - time that junior doctors are unlikely to have available. It went on to conclude that pharmacists are ideally placed to take accurate drug histories because of their broad knowledge of medicinal products, understanding of the subtle differences between different formulations and presentations, and their awareness of over-the-counter products.

Pharmacists in Durham used a structured protocol approach to medication review and obtaining medication histories in the setting of an acute medical ward.¹¹⁰ They found that half the patients in the study were taking non-prescription medicines, none of which were recorded by the admitting doctor, and which could be of significance following admission. This structured approach was felt to result in more appropriate prescribing, including discontinuing medicines which were no longer required or contraindicated, avoiding adverse drug reactions and tailoring therapy to individual patient's needs.

Changes to the pharmacy services provided at St Thomas' Hospital have focused junior pharmacists' activity on ensuring that admission drug histories are accurate.¹⁰⁶ During a four-month study period each drug history took an average of 10 minutes and it was calculated that an intervention was made to correct the regimen for every 18 minutes of pharmacist time.

A study at Chelsea and Westminster Hospital found that a dedicated medical admissions pharmacist made more interventions than non-designated ward pharmacists and overall, the interventions were of greater clinical significance. Confirming medication histories was shown to be important in ensuring appropriate prescribing of patients' regular medicines on admission to hospital.¹⁰⁹

Recognising the complexity of determining accurate medication histories, pharmacists in Cornwall attempted to determine the value of community pharmacy patient medication records (PMRs) in identifying and clarifying discrepancies which arose between hospital doctor and clinical pharmacist taken medication histories.¹¹¹ They found complete agreement between all three sources in only 21% of patients, with most discrepancies due to the clinical pharmacist identifying a drug not recorded in the PMR. They concluded that the reliability and accuracy of community pharmacy PMRs has to increase before they can be seen as a valuable source of data on prescribed, dispensed and OTC medication.

In Aberdeen a pharmacist has been introduced to the pre-admission clinic team run within the ENT departments.108 Patients are invited to attend one to two weeks before their theatre date and have all the necessary pre-operative tests carried out. The pharmacist's role involves taking a detailed medication history, checking patients' own drugs for use in hospital, writing the inpatient medication card, counselling patients, communicating with primary care professionals as needed, writing discharge prescriptions and organising supplies for the inpatient stay. However pharmacists in Hammersmith investigated whether there were process-related medication risks linked to a pre-admission clinics, and found that 26% of patients had changes made to their medication between the pre-admission clinic and admission, and 85% had changes made between admission and discharge.¹¹²

At Northwick Park Hospital a recent study assessed the impact of a pharmacist involved on the post-take ward round on the prescribing (including drug histories), drug expenditure and medication associated risks.¹¹³ The study demonstrated that post-take ward round pharmacists can effectively contribute at the prescribing stage of admission, and that their recommendations for optimising drug therapy can decrease

costs of prescribing. As a result of the findings of this study the Trust have funded a full time pharmacist to attend daily post-take ward rounds on a permanent basis.

Discharge Summaries

A study, which tested the effect of providing community pharmacists with copies of information regarding medicines prescribed at discharge, found that for every 19 patients discharged with a copy of their discharge prescription for their community pharmacist, one discrepancy causing an adverse event could be prevented.¹¹⁴

Two studies in Nottingham attempted to evaluate ways to reduce the problems of poor communication, by providing discharge summaries to general practitioners, delivered by the patient. The first study looked at 285 medical patients, half of which were asked to deliver their discharge summary to their GP as soon as possible.¹¹⁶ The average discharge summary delivered by the patient (or carer) arrived within two days of discharge, compared with 4.5 days when sent by post. Hand delivered discharge summaries were felt to accelerate communication between hospitals and general practitioners, as well as having the potential to make savings on postage. The second study took this concept further by issuing an information card to medical patients and a copy of the card in the form of an interim discharge letter to be delivered to their GP.¹¹⁵ The card included information about admission, diagnosis and treatment, including the medication regimen at discharge.

A study in Antrim looked at 109 elderly patients with greater than 4 prescribed medications.¹⁰³ They provided a 'medication record sheet' for patients given to the patient, their GP, and their nominated community pharmacist. Along with re-use of patient's own drugs (PODs) and accuracy of admission drug history, re-admission rates were compared for this group of patients to the average for this age group. Although the study group appeared to have a lower re-admission rate than average, there was no indication that this was statistically significant.

In 1995 the Pharmaceutical Society's admission and discharge forms were piloted in Wrexham with 90 older patients.¹³⁰ The patient's community pharmacist was informed of the patient's admission and asked to provide a copy of the Patient Medication Record (PMR). On discharge the current medication was communicated back to the community pharmacist. The number of interventions made by both hospital and community pharmacists as a result of this information exchange was studied. This information exchange resulted in clinically significant interventions in 17 patients. The authors concluded that the time consuming nature, and the amount of paperwork involved would make this intervention difficult to complete on a wider scale. However the information technology which should be readily available in the near future makes this a more realistic possibility.

A study in West Yorkshire explored the feasibility of faxing a discharge letter including information about current medication, details of discontinued medication, counselling points, reason for admission and any special needs to three participating community pharmacies.⁹⁸ The sample comprised 82 patients and looked at issues that were resolved by using this information. These included 5 non-stock problems (which included medicines not routinely stocked in the pharmacy and ordered for individual

patients); 18 compliance problems; and 13 repeat medication queries, which involved differences between the first community prescription and the discharge prescription. This study was supply-focused but the discharge letter developed comprised a wide range of information for the community pharmacists.

A study in Harrogate combined pharmacist-written discharge prescriptions with the preparation of a pharmacy discharge letter.¹¹⁹ This provided information on discharge medication, including reasons for starting or changing medication during admission. These were felt, by both consultants and GPs to provide valuable information exchange.

Work undertaken in Bradford found that only about 6% of patients who were issued with a copy of their discharge medication summary and asked to show it to their community pharmacist and GP, did indeed take it to the community pharmacist.¹²⁰ However this study found that when accompanied by structured counselling (approximately 30 minutes) less unplanned visits to the GP and fewer re-admissions occurred.

A study in Scotland investigated the benefits of providing GPs and community pharmacists with a medication discharge summary for all paediatric and neonatal discharges where a repeat prescription would be necessary.¹¹⁸ This included details on drug formulation, supply, dosage changes, licence status, titration, monitoring needs and discontinuation plans. Provision of this level of information was shown to significantly reduce the number of pharmaceutical care issues that arose.

However a survey of NHS hospitals undertaken in 1999 showed that only 5% routinely sent a copy of the discharge medication to the nominated pharmacist of elderly patients, and in only 2% of hospitals were all elderly patients counselled by a pharmacist about their discharge medication.⁸⁴

Although these studies have investigated the use of discharge information forms, provided to GPs and/or community pharmacists, they do not always provide details of the form's design. Therefore the complexity of the form itself is not known. This is an important factor as there is a desire to develop a method of documentation that is clear and both easy to complete and to read. A survey of GPs' and community pharmacists' views on what information was required about drug therapy changes implemented in secondary care, and the preferred method for acquiring this information was undertaken in Glasgow.¹¹⁷ 96% of GPs and 94% of community pharmacists expressed a desire for information on the reasons for drug therapy changes, in order to facilitate continuity of patient care.

Pharmaceutical Care Plans

A study in Sunderland involved 43 elderly patients discharged from the care of the elderly wards.¹²³ Patients were counselled before discharge and a pharmacy care plan was completed for their stay; copies of which were sent to the patients' GP and their nominated community pharmacist. Patients were visited at home twice; within one week, and one month of discharge. The study looked at the number of recommendations made in the pharmacy care plan which had been acted upon by the

GP or community pharmacist. These related to avoiding re-prescribing an item, therapeutic monitoring, and container requirements. It was found that 45% of recommendations were acted upon.

A similar study in Canada involved preparing pharmaceutical care plans for 16 patients discharged from a combined surgical / medical nursing unit.86 Patients included in the study were being discharged on medication significantly different from that in use prior to admission. The pharmaceutical care plan included information about the rationale for changes to medication made whilst in hospital, along with recommendations for future changes. The potential outcome of this intervention was assessed by an expert panel, and by obtaining the views of the GPs and community pharmacists who received the information. The views of the GPs and community pharmacists were favourable and all 9 GPs wanted to receive this information in the future. However, the study did not assess the effects of the intervention on patient outcomes or explore the patients' perspective. This study calculated that the completion of 10 care plans per week required 1.1 whole-time equivalent (WTE) pharmacist; a huge time commitment which emphasises the need to develop a time efficient method of documenting drugrelated information. There is also a need to question the requirement for staff with specific responsibility for discharge, when perhaps the role of safe, appropriate and efficient discharge should form part of the ward pharmacy role.

A small randomised controlled trial in Oldham investigated the provision of a pharmaceutical care plan to GPs and community pharmacists.⁹⁹ This followed up 28 study, and 25 control-group elderly patients, post-discharge with home visits and assessed the potential consequences of interventions made by pharmacists during these visits through the use of an expert panel. Despite provision of a pharmaceutical care plan the medication of 13 study and 17 control patients was different from that on discharge because of the issue of "old" repeat prescriptions. Contact was made by the visiting pharmacist with each GP where medication was found to be different from that at discharge - all but one was restored to the discharge medication regimen. The effect of pharmacists making a domiciliary visit to newly discharged patients was assessed. It was considered that the domiciliary visit and consequent contact with the prescriber prevented a possible hospital re-admission in 14% of the study group. It was concluded that reliance on the consultant's discharge letter did not enable seamless care.

Pharmacists in Antrim and Belfast have looked at the effect of an intensive clinical pharmacy service and found that it can reduce hospital re-admission rates, save money and has a positive impact on the appropriateness of prescribed medicines. The study, which is part of the Northern Ireland Integrated Medicines Management (IMM) project is the first randomised, controlled study in the UK to assess the impact of a multidisciplinary, cross-sector process designed to improve the effectiveness of medicines usage. The project started in 2001 and more than 900 patients have been recruited. Each patient is followed closely throughout their stay in hospital, using a bespoke approach to pharmaceutical care. Preliminary results show that the length of stay has decreased by about 4 days; and re-admission rates at three and 12 months have been reduced by 11% and 33% respectively.¹²⁵⁻¹²⁸

However a recently published randomised controlled study found that home-based medication review by pharmacists after discharge was associated with a significantly higher rate of hospital admissions.^{122 253} Patients aged over 80 were recruited to the study during an emergency admission. They were visited, at home, by a pharmacist within two and eight weeks of discharge. The purpose of the visit was to educate patients and carers about the medicines, remove out-of-date medicines, and liaise with the patient's GP and community pharmacist as necessary. 281 control patients received "usual care". The trial showed an increase of 30% in emergency admissions amongst the study group. Although the exact mechanism for this result was not apparent, suggestions put forward by the authors include that patients may have adhered better to their medicines, with a resultant increase in side effects or drug interactions; or that as a result of the intervention patients had a better understanding and help-seeking behaviour.

A randomised controlled trial of 362 elderly patients who were prescribed four or more medicines investigated the effectiveness of a pharmacy discharge plan.124 Patients were recruited from three acute general and one long-stay hospital in London. A copy of the pharmacy discharge plan, which held information about discharge medication, and medication support required by the patient, was given to the patient, their chosen community pharmacist and GP. Patients were followed up with a domiciliary visit 7 - 14 days after discharge. The effects of this information transfer were assessed through a variety of outcome measures including quality of life; patient satisfaction; patient knowledge and adherence; and re-admission to hospital within six months. No difference was seen in this study between the two cohorts for any of the outcome measures. This may have been due to the choice of outcome measures (patient satisfaction and quality of life) which may be limited.

A randomised single-blind study in Australia assessed the impact of a pharmacist transition coordinator in cases involving the transfer from hospital to a long-term care facility. The pharmacist prepared medication management transfer summaries, coordinated timely medication review by accredited community pharmacists, and organised case conferences with physicians and pharmacists. Patients who received the services of the pharmacist transition coordinator exhibited less hospital usage (emergency department visits and re-admission) than controls and better control of pain. However there were no differences observed in terms of adverse drug events, falls, worsening mobility or increased confusion.¹²⁹

Patient Counselling and Aids to Compliance

A study of 341 patients discharged from a large medical facility in Israel demonstrated that although 73% of patients were aware of the course and purpose of their medication, they were unaware of side effects, needed lifestyle changes, and correct medication schedules.¹³¹

A survey carried out by the Healthcare Commission in 2004 identified that only 39% of adult patients felt that they were given a full explanation of the possible side effects of their medicines. Nearly a quarter did not completely understand the indication of the

medicines they had taken home, while another 7% felt that the purpose of their discharge medicines had not been explained to them.¹⁶⁴

A number of studies have looked at the value of inpatient counselling, mainly for elderly patients, prior to discharge. A small study in Huddersfield investigated the effect of pre-discharge counselling by a clinical pharmacist of elderly patients on four or more items. Study group patients received approximately 30 minutes counselling; all patients received a medication and information discharge summary and medicines reminder card. Forty three study and forty control patients were followed up 2-3 weeks and 3 months post-discharge, to determine their drug knowledge, compliance, home medicines stocks and any healthcare related events. Compliance was better in the study group, who also showed lower rates of unplanned GP visits and re-admission to hospital.¹³³

A study in Leeds demonstrated that an automatically generated reminder chart was a practical and cost effective aid to compliance.¹³⁹ Work in the US highlighted that in acute care discharge counselling increased medication knowledge and compliance; however counselled patients from their rehabilitation division were no more knowledgeable or compliant that un-counselled patients.¹⁶⁵ A study which compared written information accompanied by answering patient's questions, with verbal counselling by a pharmacist, and verbal counselling by a pharmacist with written information highlighted that verbal counselling in combination with written information highlighted that verbal counselling in combination with written information increased the patient's awareness of their medication the most.¹³⁴

A survey of UK hospitals investigated the provision of multi-compartment compliance aids and medicines reminder charts on discharge from hospital. The study found that medicine reminder charts, reusable multi-compartment compliance aids, and sealed blister packs were supplied by 66%, 82% and 22% of hospitals respectively. However only 16% of hospitals reported having any formal methods for targeting which patients should receive a compliance aid.¹³⁵ A systematic review has been undertaken of published randomised controlled trials of interventions to assist patients' adherence to prescribed medications.¹⁶⁶

Patients' Own Drugs / Dispensing for Discharge

The use of patients' own drugs in Southampton has been found to remove poor quality medicines from use, for example, inappropriately stored, expired or discontinued medication; and avoid duplication of therapy.¹⁶⁷

However experience in Kent demonstrated that supplying a full discharge supply for an unstable disease state could reduce the efficiency of dispensing for discharge schemes. The study also highlighted that patients were being separated from their medication during ward-to-ward transfers or due to failure to locate all of a patient's medication upon discharge. Ward-to-ward transfer documentation was recommended to try and minimise the loss of medicines in this situation.^{168,169}

A study in Manchester identified that it is important to make sure that general practitioners are made aware of such schemes to ensure that they are not seen as a means of "cost-dumping".¹⁷⁰
Self-Administration Schemes

A self-medication programme in Leeds was found to be an effective aid for improving compliance with, and knowledge of, 88 elderly patients' medicines after discharge.¹⁷¹ Patients were prospectively recruited from four wards; two of which operated a self medication programme. Ten days after discharge the mean compliance score was found to be significantly higher amongst patients in the self medication programme that amongst those who had been discharged from wards which did not operate a self medication programme.

However work in Canada demonstrated that although self-medication improved compliance it did not improve the patient's medication knowledge more than pharmacy counselling alone.¹⁵³ 107 consecutive patients admitted to a geriatric assessment and rehabilitation programme were assigned to either participate in a self medication programme or to receive standard care. Their ability to self medicate on discharge, medication compliance at 1 month and patient medication knowledge were measured. The self medication programme was shown to improve compliance but did not improve patients' morale or their medication knowledge. Cognitive factors were felt to limit patients' ability to self medicate.

Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions

A study in Dartford investigated the benefits of a team-based pharmacist, working alongside other members of a medical team.¹⁵⁹ One element of this study involved the preparation of discharge prescriptions by the clinical pharmacist, following the morning ward-round. Where appropriate, discharge medication was discussed with patients at the time of writing the prescription, so that the pharmacist could provide medication counselling, assess which of the patient's own drugs were suitable for reuse and advise patients about any discontinued medication. The number of errors, omissions or alternations were found to be considerably lower on pharmacist-written discharge prescriptions (8%) than those written by junior doctors (32%), and a higher proportion of PODs were considered suitable for re-use at discharge.

Similar conclusions were found by a study in Bristol,¹⁵⁸ which demonstrated that discharge medication organised by a pharmacist resulted in a shorter time from the discharge decision to patient discharge, lower dispensing time, and greater reuse of PODs. As a result bed management improved, reductions were made in drug wastage and medical time was released. In Wigan similar results were found when pharmacists became involved in writing discharge prescriptions, which has resulted in the service being rolled-out to 8 wards.¹⁶⁰ Once the decision has been made to discharge a patient, the discharge pharmacist writes the discharge prescription, identifies which items the patient already has, and counsels the patient. Not only has the service reduced delays, but it has also improved the quality of discharge prescriptions, with a dramatic fall in error rates.

In Scotland a paediatric pharmacist-led discharge process has been shown to improve delivery of pharmaceutical care and communication of drug-related issues to GPs and community pharmacists without a significant increase in the workload of the ward pharmacist.¹¹⁸

SUPPORT FOR PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES

(Source: Primary Care Contracting)¹⁷²

Full guidance and additional assessment documentation can be found on the Primary Care Contracting website at www.primarycarecontracting.nhs.uk/98.php.

	name				Date of assessment			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
					Is a carer present	? Y	′es□	No□
NHS nu	mber							
Address	1				How many	Paid		Jnpaid
					provide support?			
					provide addport.			
Postcod	0							
					Who organises th	e ordering	g of your	of
Tel. Nun	nber				prescriptions if no	t the norm	nal carer	87
Date of	birth		or mm (or or or o	VV	Telephone			
Preferred	i spoken langi	uage			number			
GP's ne	me				Number of dose	alteration	ns mark	e in the
Date of	last medicine	s		_	past three month	ns (use P	MR)	- 11 110
use revi	ew				part in the main	. (200 1		
What ph	armacy serv	ices are cur	rently provide	ed?	Is there evidence	e of		
	-				non-compliance	in	Yes□	NoD
				_	pharmacy PMR	?		
		f possible, or	mplete the tin	nes a c	lay that a carer visit	s vou		
	Monday	nday Tuesday Wednesday Thu		Thur	day that a carer visits you rsday Friday Saturd		iy i	Sunday
Mom-							-	
ing								
Mid-								
day								
Night								
Night								
Night Who do y	you give autho	ority for the as	ssessor to con	itact?	□G	P		Carer
Night Who do y Others, p	you give autho lease state	ority for the as	ssessor to con	ntact?	□G	P		Carer
Night Who do y Others, p	you give autho lease state	arity for the as	ssessor to con	ntact?	□G	P		Carer
Night Who do y Others, p Coping	you give autho lease state routines	arity for the as	ssessor to con	ently us	G G	P	D (Carer
Night Who do y Others, p Coping	you give autho elease state routines	nity for the a	ssessor to con Curre	ently us	□ G sing Could be	P	Patie not th	Carer nt does
Night Who do y Others, p Coping	you give autho elease state routines	nity for the a	ssessor to con Curre	ently us	G sing Could be	P	Patie not th will	Carer nt does ink this help
Night Who do y Others, p Coping of Simple re	you give autho lease state routines	nity for the as	curre	ently us	sing Could be	P useful	Patie not th will	nt does ink this
Night Who do y Others, p Coping of Simple re Tick chai	you give autho lease state routines	rity for the as	Curre	ently us	sing Could be	P	Patie not th will	nt does ink this help
Night Who do y Others, p Coping Simple re Tick chai MAR Ch	you give autho lease state routines outine rt art	prity for the as	curr	ently us	sing Could be	P	Patie not th will	nt does ink this help
Night Who do y Others, p Coping Simple re Tick chai MAR Ch Purchase Purchase	you give autho lease state routines outine rt art ed compliance	ority for the as	Curre	ently us	sing Could be	P	Patie not th will	nt does ink this help
Night Who do y Others, p Coping i Simple ro Tick chai MAR Ch Purchase Paid caru	you give autho lease state routines outine rt art ed compliance er	ority for the as	Curre	ently us	sing Could be	P	Patie not th will	nt does ink this help
Night Who do y Others, p Coping i Simple ro Tick chai MAR Ch Purchase Paid can Family/fr MDS ave	you give autho lease state routines outine rt art ed compliance er iend support tem supplied	e aid	Curre	ently us	sing Could be	P	Patie not th will	nt does ink this help
Night Who do y Others, p Coping i Simple re Tick chai MAR Ch Purchase Paid care Family/fr MDS sys	you give autho lease state routines outine rt art ed compliance er iend support item supplied	e aid by a pharma	Currents	ently us	sing Could be	Puseful	Patie not th will	nt does ink this l help
Night Who do y Others, p Coping i Coping i Simple re Tick chai MAR Chi Purchase Paid care Family/fr MDS sys	you give autho lease state routines outine rt art ed compliance er iend support item supplied	e aid by a pharma	Curre	ently us	sing Could be	P	Patie not th will	nt does ink this below
Night Who do y Others, p Coping i Coping i Simple re Tick chai MAR Chi Purchase Paid care Family/fr MDS sys Summa	you give autho lease state routines outine rt art ed compliance er iend support item supplied ry of action p	e aid by a pharma	Currents	ently us	sing Could be	P	Patie not th will	nt does ink this below
Night Who do y Others, p Coping i Coping i Coping i Coping i Tick chai MAR Chi Paid card Family/fr MDS sys Summai	vou give autho lease state routines outine rt art ed compliance er iend support item supplied ry of action p	e aid by a pharma	Curre	ently us	sing Could be	P	Patie not th will	Carer Int does ink this D
Night Who do y Others, p Coping i Coping i Simple re Tick chai MAR Chi Paid care Family/fr MDS sys Summai	vou give autho lease state routines outine rt art ed compliance er iend support item supplied ry of action p	e aid by a pharma	Curre	ently us	sing Could be	P	Patie not th will	Carer Int does ink this D
Night Who do y Others, p Coping i Coping i Coping i Coping i Tick chai MAR Chi Paid care Family/fr MDS sys Summa	vou give autho lease state routines outine rt art ed compliance er iend support item supplied ry of action p	e aid by a pharma	Curre	ently us	sing Could be	P	Patie not th will	Carer
Night Who do y Others, p Coping i Coping i Simple re Tick chai MAR Ch Purchase Paid can Family/fr MDS sys Summai	you give autho lease state routines outine rt art ed compliance er iend support item supplied ry of action p	e aid by a pharma	Curri	ently us	sing Could be	P	Patie not th will	nt does iink this help

(Consider opening ANI Boxes Blister packs ablet or capsule bottles	O closing)		Probler	m area	Additional information
Boxes Blister packs fablet or capsule bottles			Yes	No	Additional information
Blister packs fablet or capsule bottles					
ablet or capsule bottles					
Screw lids					
CRC lids					
Vinged lids					
iquid bottles					
Squeezable tubes					
urchased compliance aid			-		
harmacy supplied complia	ance aid				
Taking or using medicines	Proble	m area No	Ad	ditional info	ormation
Non-soluble tablets					
Soluble tablets					
Chewed or crushed					
ablets	-				
Capsules					
Liquid medicines					
5 ml spoon					
20 ml cup					
Oral syringe					
Creams/ointments					
nhalers					
Ear/eye/nose Drops					
Suppositories or					
Dessaries					
Other					

Assessment form for use by pharmacy

	Proble	m area	Additional information
	Yes	No	
Reading instructions			
Understanding instructions			
Understanding symbol chart			
Generally forgetful			
The number of prescribed items			
The number of PRN prescribed items			
The number of complementary and alternative medicines			
Medicines similar in appearance			
Medicines varying in appearance from one prescription supply to another			
Lack of understanding of the reason for taking medicine			

Additional notes

Page 3

Summary of risk areas	ASS	opport risk	r lenvel	"Practical solution" sig	n-nostina, or aid
Coping routine	High	Medium	Low	provided to support	t compliance
Getting medicines out of containers					
Swallowing or using medicines					
Following Instructions					
Intentional non-compliance					
Confusion					
Sensory problems (e.g. sight)					
Physical problems (e.g. tremor)					
Carer's activity					
The following MDS has been supplied Outline of intervention required	1				
The following MDS has been supplied Outline of intervention required	1	Yes	No	Completed by	Date
The following MDS has been supplied. Outline of intervention required Action plan agreed with patient	j	Yes	No	Completed by	Date of my ho
The following MDS has been supplied. Outline of intervention required Action plan agreed with patient Carer informed	d	Yes	No	Completed by	Date of my ha
The following MDS has been supplied Outline of intervention required Action plan agreed with patient Carer informed GP informed, no intervention required	1 t	Yes	N₀	Completed by	Date ed/enc./se
The following MDS has been supplied Outline of intervention required Action plan agreed with patient Carer informed GP informed, no intervention required GP informed, an intervention is required	t	Yes	No 	Completed by	Date of me In. I I I
The following MDS has been upplied.	-				
The following MDS has been supplied Outline of intervention required Action plan agreed with patient Carer informed GP informed, no intervention	1 t	Yes	No 0	Completed by	Date advanting 1
The following MDS has been supplied. Outline of intervention required Action plan agreed with patient Carer informed GP informed, no intervention required	4	Yes	No 	Completed by	Date of my from 1 1 1
The following MDS has been supplied Outline of intervention required Action plan agreed with patient Carer informed GP informed, no intervention required GP informed, an intervention is	j	Yes	No 0	Completed by	Date of me. /w. /
The following MDS has been supplied Outline of intervention required Action plan agreed with patient Carer informed GP informed, no intervention required GP informed, an intervention is required Referred for	j	Yes	No □ □	Completed by	Date of me for f

GUIDANCE ON IMPLEMENTING ONE-STOP DISPENSING, POD AND SELF-ADMINISTRATION SCHEMES

(Source: Hospital Pharmacists Group¹⁴³)

Multidisciplinary approach

Planning for the introduction of these schemes should be a multidisciplinary process. It must be seen as a joint project, rather than one profession trying to impose changes on another.

Gradual start

Plan a gradual start. Moving from the traditional system, with seven or 14 days' discharge medication, to one-stop dispensing using patients packs may be too big a step to take in one go. One option is to make the change on a gradual basis, perhaps starting with a move to 28-day discharge dispensing while retaining traditional inpatient dispensing, and then moving to one-stop dispensing for discharge.

Most hospitals have started one-stop dispensing and use of PODs schemes with a pilot scheme on one or two wards. This allows staff to get used to new ways of working, and allows accurate costings. The rate of introduction will depend on local factors, including staffing and finance.

Storage

When planning for patient pack dispensing, it is important to remember than extra pharmacy storage will be needed for patient packs.

Medicine cabinets

Lockable medicines cabinets are essential to the development of these schemes. They can be fixed to the wall or the bedside locker. Fitting to the locker is easier for patients who are self-administering their medicines and also allows the locker and cabinet to be moved if the patient moves to a different bed. Bedside lockers incorporating lockable medicines storage are also available. Cabinets of different sizes might be useful, with larger ones used for wards where patients are likely to have complex drug regimens. Care is needed in placing cabinets and choosing ones which are stable and durable. Positioning of the cabinets will need to be decided in consultation with nursing staff.

Supply quantity

Trust policies vary on how much drug to supply with one-stop dispensing. Some hospitals have not yet moved to 28-day dispensing and might, for example run one-stop dispensing with 14 days' supply. But the move is towards 28-day supply on admission.

Publicity

Publicising the POD scheme is essential so that patients know about the scheme and the need to bring their medicines into hospital. Publicity should also extend to communication with primary care staff. GPs and community pharmacists need to be informed about policies regarding the use of PODs and the issue of longer periods of discharge medication, For them to encourage patients to take their medicines into hospital, the rationale for the change in policy on PODs needs to be explained so that it is not seem as a hospital cost-cutting exercise but one that has quality benefits.

Consent

Patients have to give consent for use (or disposal) of the medicines they bring into hospital. Some hospitals require written consent. Patients should also be asked to sign that they accept the conditions associated with participation in the self-administration scheme.

Endorsement

Policies are needed on the endorsement of treatment charts when PODs are used and when patients are self-administering

Assessing suitability

A policy is needed on who assesses suitability of PODs for use in the hospital and the criteria to be used in making this assessment. Pharmacists and nurses can be involved in this assessment, but often it is technicians who do it.

In hospital where pharmacy staff do routine assessment of PODs, arrangements need to be made on what happens when the pharmacy is closed, for example, whether or not nurses can assess the drugs, whether or not ward stocks be available, and when the pharmacist should be contacted.

Discharge procedure

Even if all medicines are already in the patient's cabinet, hospitals stipulate that patients must see a pharmacist (or in some cases a technician) before discharge

Staff training for new schemes

Training of pharmacists, nurses and technicians will be needed for these new schemes.

Self-administration of medicines

Self-administration schemes must be flexible, rather than strictly imposed to whole wards, and must be optional for the patient. Protocols are needs for assessing patients' ability to self-medicate.

Pharmacists and nurses can identify patients who have problems with their medicines, and can provide education about their treatment, with the aim of achieving self-medication before the patient goes home.

Financial aspects

Although supply of a patient pack in place of previous discharge medication is probably cost neutral (or slightly beneficial) to the NHS as a whole, one-stop dispensing requires funds to be transferred from primary care budgets to secondary care budgets. Accurate estimates of costs involved will need to be calculated and the distribution of costs agreed between different health authorities and PCTs. A formula for calculating costs is available on www.doh.gov.uk/prescribingbudgets/prescribing.pdf (Annex A).

GOOD PRACTICE EXAMPLES

The need for safe, effective and beneficial medicines management is a national priority, reflected in the emphasis placed by recent policy documents on this issue, and with recommendations often based on research evidence. However published research evidence often lags behind what is actually happening in practice, as new processes are developed in response to particular problems all the time.

Different ways to manage medicines as part of the discharge process have developed in NHS Trusts across the UK, dependent upon the patients they serve, the medicines involved, the diagnostic groups and local working systems. The following Appendix describes such examples, some of which will be supported by research, others, as yet, are not.

CONTACT DETAILS

Mike Pollard Director of Pharmacy

Maelor Hospital Croesnewydd Road Wrexham Wales

Tel: 01978 291100 mike.pollard@new-tr.wales.nhs.uk The starting point for this service was showing that repeat prescription medication histories from GPs had a 45% error rate. With most prescribing done by inexperienced junior doctors this led to confusion.

A team of pharmacy technicians has been established to take medication histories on the medical admission ward. They discuss a patients' medication with them, confirm what they are taking and record, or confirm, their medication history. In 80% of cases a medication change is noted by the technician and referred to the

pharmacist for action. As 40% of medical patients are discharged within 48 hours, this provides a starting point for an accurate discharge. The pharmaceutical care plan used at Maelor Hospital is included in Annex A.

Admission Drug History Taking Discharge Summaries Pharmaceutical Care Plans Patient Counselling and Compliance Aids Patients' Own Drugs Dispensing for Discharge Self-Administration Schemes Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions

CONTACT DETAILS

Anita Hogg IMM Project Co-ordinator

Whiteabbey Hospital Doagh Road, Newtownabbey Co. Antrim. Northern Ireland. BT37 9RH

Tel: 028 9055 2250 anita.hogg@uh.n-i.nhs.uk The pharmacy department within United Hospitals Trust has been piloting an Integrated Medicines Management (IMM) programme in collaboration with Queen's University, Belfast. One component involves close collaboration with primary care (GP and community pharmacist) on admission and discharge.

On admission, the IMM pharmacist uses information obtained from the patient, GP and community pharmacist together with patient's own drugs to determine an accurate medication history and therefore

ensure an accurate prescription list written at admission.

At discharge the IMM pharmacist prepares and signs off the discharge prescription and summary. Given the intensive pharmacist input right from the point of admission, additional detailed information can be added to the discharge prescription including medication changes (and reasons for those changes), laboratory information e.g. U&Es, and concordance issues. This detailed discharge information is then forwarded to the GP and community pharmacist on the day of discharge and important issues discussed, if necessary, over the telephone.

Admission Drug History Taking 🖾 Discharge Summaries 🖾 Pharmaceutical Care Plans 🗌 Patient Counselling and Compliance Aids 🗌 Patients' Own Drugs 🗋 Dispensing for Discharge 🗌 Self-Administration Schemes 🗌 Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions 🗌

Nine medicines management posts have been created to work with clinical ward pharmacists to improve many aspects of patient care. These have concentrated on information gathering at admission (medication history confirmation and review, taking particular note of how patients actually take their medicines) and expediting discharge by taking responsibility for provision of discharge medication. 'Supply' is not part of the routine tasks given to either the technicians or the pharmacists on the wards, apart from expediting discharge medication.

CONTACT DETAILS

Graham Bell Director of Pharmacy Kettering General Hospital Rothwell Rd Kettering Northants. NN16 8UZ Tel: 01536 492000 graham.bell@kgh.nhs.uk

Although some 'Dispensing for Discharge' schemes are in place, they are currently limited to a few wards. A project is underway to identify the benefits, drawbacks and costs of providing a variable model 'Dispensing for Discharge' system for as many wards as possible.

Discharge supply is initiated using the ward prescription chart, to eliminate the errors associated with transcription. Ward pharmacists (of sufficient grade and experience) are able to initiate discharge medication on medical, surgical and orthopaedic wards. The provision of discharge medication packs for some areas of the hospital e.g. day-case surgery, A&E, and some surgical specialties has been introduced where standard discharge medication can be identified and agreed with clinicians.

The K-Med system of providing Total Medication Summaries (TMS) for GPs and, where possible, community pharmacists is used. Total Medication Summaries are designed to give excellent information on discharge medication and details of which medicines have been stopped and started including the reasons for those changes. Feedback from GPs indicates that the explanation for the changes in medicines taken by patients is very helpful in ensuring the continuation of therapy. Where problems have been identified with patients' medication, but it has not been possible or appropriate to make changes in the hospital setting, a Medicine Management Review is produced for the GP.

Admission Drug History Taking 🖾 Discharge Summaries 🖾 Pharmaceutical Care Plans 🖄 Patient Counselling and Compliance Aids 🗌 Patients' Own Drugs 🖾 Dispensing for Discharge 🖾 Self-Administration Schemes 🗌 Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions 🗌

CONTACT DETAILS

Paula Wilkinson Chief Pharmacist / Head of Pharmacy

Chelmsford PCT / Witham, Braintree & Halstead PCT / Broomfield Hospital Kestrel House Hedgerows Business Park Chelmsford. CM2 5PF

Tel: 01245 398727 paula.wilkinson@chelmsfordpct.nhs.uk When a patient is admitted to hospital they are asked to bring all their medicines with them. These are placed in a distinctive Green Bag, labelled with the name of the patient and kept with them as they are admitted and transferred to a ward. Green Bags have been distributed to all care homes, district nursing, mental health and social care teams, GP surgeries and the ambulance service.

The intermediate care pharmacists attend the weekly multidisciplinary team meeting on each intermediate care ward, at which medication is reviewed. Consideration is given to medication issues when

planning discharge. The pharmacist considers the impact of the care plan from the perspective of medication issues, for example amending times of medication to ensure that medicines are given at a time which will coincide with carer visits.

The intermediate care pharmacist links with the community pharmacist and any home care agencies about specific issues and completes a pharmaceutical care plan. These are faxed to all parties involved.

The pharmaceutical care plan used by this scheme is included in Annex A and details of the near patient medication (self-administration) scheme in Annex B.

Admission Drug History Taking 🖾 Discharge Summaries 🖾 Pharmaceutical Care Plans 🖄 Patient Counselling and Compliance Aids 🗌 Patients' Own Drugs 🗋 Dispensing for Discharge 🗌 Self-Administration Schemes 🖾 Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions 🗌

As part of the Medicines Management service currently operating on 10 wards, pharmacists proactively manage the discharge process. The pharmacist / technician team for each ward ensures a medication history is taken from each patient at admission.

Dispensing for discharge and reuse of patients own drugs (PODs) is operated on 10 wards. In advance of the discharge day the pharmacist transcribes the medicines required for discharge and the technician ensures the supplies are appropriate from the patient's locker.

CONTACT DETAILS

Jill Holden Senior Clinical Pharmacist

Sunderland Royal Hospital Kayll Road, Sunderland Tyne and Wear. SR4 7TP

Tel: 0191 565 6256 jill.holden@chs.northy.nhs.uk

The pharmacist attends ward rounds to encourage discharge planning (as well as sorting clinical problems). The patient is counselled before discharge and given a medicines reminder card where appropriate. Discharge information is sent to GPs by fax.

Admission Drug History Taking 🖾 Discharge Summaries 🖾 Pharmaceutical Care Plans 🖄 Patient Counselling and Compliance Aids 🖄 Patients' Own Drugs 🖄 Dispensing for Discharge 🖾 Self-Administration Schemes 🗌 Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions 🗌

CONTACT DETAILS

Carolyn Gates Directorate Pharmacist Medicine and Emergency Services

University College Hospital Grafton Way, London. WC1E 6DB

Tel: 020 7387 9300 carolyn.gates@uclh.nhs.uk On admission to hospital, the admission pharmacist or technician will take a drug history using a variety of sources and document it on the reverse of the drug chart using a standardised proforma. Many of the local patients also receive their medication in a monitored dosage system (MDS) from their local community pharmacist, details of which are regularly provided by the PCT. When such patients are identified, the admission pharmacist/technician will contact the community pharmacist to confirm the current contents of the MDS, when it was last dispensed, any particular

pharmaceutical issues and to make a provisional plan for discharge. In-patient pharmaceutical issues and discharge plans are all recorded on the back of the drug chart, along with the admission drug history, allowing any pharmacist to continue that patient's care (especially if the patient is transferred to another ward).

Near to discharge, the community pharmacist will again be contacted regarding his or her MDS patient. If there have been no medication changes and the patient has had a recent supply, then the hospital will not issue any medication on discharge. Where there have been changes, the hospital pharmacy dispenses a two week supply into a reminder device and faxes a copy of the discharge information to the community pharmacist, GP, or any other relevant healthcare professional as per the discharge plan (for example, if the district nurse fills a reminder box, then he/she would be contacted during admission and on discharge as outlined above). Sometimes additional pharmaceutical information is provided for the healthcare professional on discharge, again using a standardised proforma.

Finally, good communication with ward staff is needed to ensure that discharge prescriptions are written as early as possible and staff often refer to the back of the drug charts for the pharmacy discharge plans. The discharge prescription form used at University College Hospital is included in Annex C.

Admission Drug History Taking 🖾 Discharge Summaries 🗌 Pharmaceutical Care Plans 🖄 Patient Counselling and Compliance Aids 🖾 Patients' Own Drugs 🗋 Dispensing for Discharge 🗌 Self-Administration Schemes 🗌 Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions 🗌

The media was used to publicise changes in practice, in particular the patient's own drugs scheme, which requires patients to bring their medication into hospital. Publicity has been used to increase the number of patients who bring their own medicines into hospital.

The assessment process for discharge includes an assessment of the patient's capability to manage medicines at home: An assessment tool has been developed to identify medicines management issues, and a care planning process implemented to address

CONTACT DETAILS

Alex Hodgins Principal Pharmacist

Barts and the London NHS Trust 275 Bancroft Road London, E1 4DG

Tel: 0208 223 8823 alex.hodgins@bartsandthelondon. nhs.uk these. A self-administration of medicines scheme is to be reviewed, and offered to all patients.

A medicines discharge letter has been implemented, giving full medication profiles and details of changes made to medication during the patient's hospital stay.

Communication processes between secondary and primary care are being reviewed to ensure follow-up of patients at high risk from medication non-compliance, including a role for community pharmacists. It is intended to implement electronic prescriptions as soon as possible, so that a patient's discharge prescription can be transferred electronically to the GP via the NHSnet. In the meantime a copy of the discharge letter is faxed to the GP, and sent to the patient's nominated community pharmacist, where consent has been given.

An electronic version of the ward-based discharge checklist (see Annex D) has been developed and a policy for the use of compliance aids is being developed.

Admission Drug History Taking 🖾 Discharge Summaries 🖾 Pharmaceutical Care Plans 🖄 Patient Counselling and Compliance Aids 🗌 Patients' Own Drugs 🖾 Dispensing for Discharge 🗌 Self-Administration Schemes 🖄 Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions 🗍

Before discharge, every medical patient is counselled about his or her discharge medication by a pharmacist or suitably qualified ward-based technician. This allows the patient to ask questions about their medication and means that any changes in the medication regimen can be explained to the patient.

If many changes have been made to the medication regimen or the patient seems confused about their medicines, a compliance card is provided for the patient. This gives details of the name of the drug, its indication and when the patient should take the

CONTACT DETAILS

Jane Marshall / Michelle Small Directorate Pharmacists

Queen Alexandra Hospital Southwick Hill Road, Cosham Portsmouth, Hampshire, PO6 3LY

Tel: 023 9228 6000 jane.marshall@porthosp.nhs.uk michelle.smart@porthosp.nhs.uk

medicine. Examples of where this has made an impact to the patient include:

- A 75-year old patient with musculoskeletal chest pain secondary to bronchitis was confused about his medication. The pharmacist went through everything with him and provided him with a compliance card. The patient was much happier and more confident about taking his medicines at home.
- A 75-year old patient suffered with angina and iron deficiency anaemia secondary to bleeding haemorrhoids. The patient was taking aspirin prior to admission, which was stopped, in hospital. The patient was counselled about the fact that his aspirin had been stopped and he was pleased to have been told this, as he did not realise that it had.
- A 63-year old patient with postural hypotension had brought many medicines into hospital with him and many changes had been made during his stay. The patient was counselled and given a compliance card. The patient was very appreciative that time had been spent with him discussing his medicines and he was more confident about taking his medicines at home.

When patients are discharged using a Monitored Dosage System (MDS), such as NOMAD or a Dosette box, their nominated community pharmacist is contacted to advise that the patient is leaving hospital. A copy of the discharge prescription is also faxed to the community pharmacist and the GP so that they are informed as soon as possible of changes that have occurred.

If it is decided that a patient requires a MDS in order to cope with their medicines at home the following procedure is followed:

- The GP surgery is contacted to confirm that they will provide 7 day prescriptions
- The patient's regular community pharmacy (or a nominated community pharmacy) is contacted to confirm that they will continue to fill the MDS after discharge
- A copy of the discharge prescription is faxed to the community pharmacy and the GP, the MDS is filled for one week and the patient is discharged

Admission Drug History Taking
Discharge Summaries
Pharmaceutical Care Plans
Patient
Counselling and Compliance Aids
Patients' Own Drugs
Dispensing for Discharge
SelfAdministration Schemes
Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions

The Paediatric Pharmacy Unit uses discharge medicine information letters for unlicensed products. Prior to or at discharge the difficulties they may experience on getting further supplies are explained to the patient, and the importance of making an appointment with their GP to arrange a prescription and liaising with the community pharmacy as soon as possible after discharge. These letters are to aid the GP and community Pharmacy in procuring the relevant medicine.

CONTACT DETAILS

Sara Arenas-Lopez / Steve Tomlin Paediatric Pharmacists Guy's & St Thomas' NHS Trust

Lambeth Palace Road London SE1 7EH

Tel: 020 7188 7188 sara.arenas@gstt.nhs.uk stephen.tomlin@gstt.nhs.uk

Administration sheets have been produced with the times of the day especially for renal transplant children. In this way they get to know their medicines better and it is easier to transfer them to community. These have been adapted to patients with language barriers (language, illiteracy), or other problems such as poor vision, by using pictograms, numbers, large print or translation into a different language.

Paediatric transplant patients are often prescribed a large number of medicines with complex regimens. Dose administration aids may be helpful, especially when the medicines have to be taken to work or school, as they avoid the need to carry several different containers and they allow optimisation of administration times. In the paediatric renal transplant unit a structured education scheme has been built around the use of Dosette boxes to help address the problem of poor compliance and to facilitate the transfer to community or adult services. Patients (or parents) are trained to fill their own Dosette under supervision by a pharmacy technician. The process is used as a tool to teach them about their medicines, the idea being that use of the Dosette should skill and not de-skill the individual - without education, dose administration aids might lead to confusion.

Starting when the patient is ready to be discharged after transplant, the patient/parent packs their Dosette on a weekly basis coinciding with their regular outpatient visit to the transplant clinic. This gives them an opportunity to ask questions and to discuss any changes that have been made to their prescription. After around 10 weeks, if pharmacy staff are satisfied with the patient's (or parent's) knowledge and skills and the patient is happy, they are discharged from the scheme. The patient is given a "black book" with details of all their prescribed medicines and doses and this book is regularly updated with any change on their medication. Feedback from patients and parents on the scheme has been positive.

Admission Drug History Taking
Discharge Summaries
Pharmaceutical Care Plans
Patient
Counselling and Compliance Aids
Patients' Own Drugs
Dispensing for Discharge
SelfAdministration Schemes
Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions

CONTACT DETAILS

Karen Garfield Admissions and Discharge Pharmacist

Worthing Hospital Lyndhurst Road, Worthing West Sussex. BN11 2DH

Tel: 01903 205111 karen.garfield@wash.nhs.uk Work on medicines management has gone a long way forward in resolving interface issues, and is running on the admissions and surgical wards at Worthing Hospital and some of the rehabilitation wards at Southlands Hospital. The main aspects are checking drug histories when patients are admitted to hospital, and providing medication record cards for patients on discharge.

This will be rolled out to the Department of Medicine in the Elderly and medical wards as more technicians are trained. When patients who have monitored dosage

systems are admitted to hospital the community pharmacy is contacted, to advise them of any early medication changes.

The Trust has introduced initiatives to encourage patients to bring their medicines with them when they come into hospital. Green medicines bags have been issued to the ambulance crews in the catchment area and these are used to bring patients own drugs (PODs) to hospital (see Annex E). A&E also have supplies of the bags and this has encouraged the nurses and doctors to transfer medicines to the wards with the patient, rather than them being lost in the department or sent to pharmacy for destruction. PODs are stored in bedside lockers on medicines management wards so they are readily accessible when the nurses are doing their medicines round.

Use of PODs has huge benefits apart from saving money and preventing waste; it simplifies the drug history taking process, and also reduces the number of missed doses due to a drug not being available on the ward. Before the use of PODs a pharmacist might visit a ward in the morning and find that important doses had been missed if the patient had been admitted the previous evening. It is also safer for patients because medicines that have been stopped can be destroyed, so patients do not go home and take them by mistake. Patients who have problems taking their medicines from PODs have also been identified.

Green bags have recently been issued to the surgical pre-assessment clinics, so that patients can be provided with a bag to bring in their medicines when they come for elective surgery.

Admission Drug History Taking 🖾 Discharge Summaries 🗌 Pharmaceutical Care Plans 🖄 Patient Counselling and Compliance Aids 🖾 Patients' Own Drugs 🖾 Dispensing for Discharge 🗌 Self-Administration Schemes 🗌 Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions 🗌

Intermediate Care services are being established to prevent potential admissions to secondary care and to support patients who have been discharged early. The former have been highlighted as being a significant workload for both the Intermediate Care services and GPs. The perception is that managing the medication of these patients is a major part of the workload.

A pilot scheme started running in conjunction with Social Services called COUNT© to target patients who are specifically at risk from poor concordance and/or

CONTACT DETAILS

Fay Boyett Medicines Management Facilitator Guildford & Waverley PCT

Broadmead House Weydon Lane Farnham, Surrey. GU9 8QT Tel: 01483 782358 fay.boyett@gwpct.nhs.uk

adverse events due to poly-pharmacy. The aim is to identify vulnerable or housebound patients who are confused about what medication to take and when to take it or are having problems accessing their medication. COUNT© provides access to a PCT pharmacist to discuss medication issues with the patient and carers in the patients' own home so that the risks of adverse events are reduced. This service has now been extended to Intermediate Care and is now six months into a pilot study. Intermediate Care key workers are trained to recognise potential problems with medication, so that they can make the necessary referral to a PCT pharmacist. The pharmacist discusses their interventions with the patient's GP and recommends follow up action. The pharmacist monitors the progress of the patient in conjunction with the GP, making return visits to the patient as required.

More information about the COUNT© project can be found in Annex F.

Admission Drug History Taking
Discharge Summaries
Pharmaceutical Care Plans
Patient
Counselling and Compliance Aids
Patients' Own Drugs Dispensing for Discharge SelfAdministration Schemes
Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions

CONTACT DETAILS

Hazel Evans Pharm. Development Facilitator

Stockport PCT Regent House, Heaton Lane, Stockport, Cheshire. SK4 1BS

Tel: 0161 426 5000 hazel.evans@stockport-pct.nhs.uk The hospital has been operating a discharge planning scheme for a number of years, involving community pharmacy, for patients requiring support via a monitored dosage system. This has developed into a two way communication pathway between progressive pharmacies and the hospital pharmacy department.

A discharge planning pilot scheme was carried out two years ago which looked at the dissemination of information to community pharmacy for elderly patients. The project focused on the information that was sent to

GPs, and copied to the pharmacy used regularly by the patient, identifying any

errors/omissions from the next prescription, and interventions undertaken between pharmacy and surgery.

Admission Drug History Taking Discharge Summaries Pharmaceutical Care Plans Patient Counselling and Compliance Aids Patients' Own Drugs Dispensing for Discharge Self-Administration Schemes Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions

All pharmacist hours have now been freed for attending ward rounds. This includes developing pharmaceutical care plans. A copy of the GP's list of medication on admission is obtained and compared with the patient's medication prior to discharge.

A summary of medication changes is sent to the GP which also tells them if a medication review has been done prior to discharge. The patient or care home will be issued with a medication reminder card where all the changes which have happened are written down, and

CONTACT DETAILS

Caroline Williams Senior Pharmacist Elderly Care Southampton City PCT East Park Terrace Southampton Hampshire SO14 0YL Tel: 023 8042 5898

caroline.williams@scpct.nhs.uk

any medicines which have been stopped are emphasised. A procedure has been developed for patients who use Monitored Dosage Systems (MDS). The wards are equipped with community prescription pads (FP10(HP)s) to order discharge medications direct from a community pharmacy along with a standard letter to inform the GP that this is how the medication has been issued.

A telephone contact point has been established in the hospital pharmacy so a carer/ pharmacist/district nurse can call if a patient has been admitted who uses a MDS. The patient is traced through the PAS system and the ward pharmacist informed.

Admission Drug History Taking 🖾 Discharge Summaries 🖾 Pharmaceutical Care Plans 🖄 Patient Counselling and Compliance Aids 🖾 Patients' Own Drugs 🗌 Dispensing for Discharge 🗌 Self-Administration Schemes 🗌 Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions 🗌

CONTACT DETAILS

Martyn Carroll MMS Project Facilitator Eastern Leicester PCT Mansion House Guildhall Lane Leicester. LE1 5FR

Tel: 0116 295 1400 martyn.carrol@leics.nhs.uk A pilot project is underway to improve the quality of information about patients' medication which is transferred to GPs on discharge. This aims to provide the GP with a comparison of the patient's medication on admission and discharge, and provide information about changes in medication to ensure continuation of clinical decisions about medication made during inpatient stay. Recommendations for monitoring or review of medication are also included, as appropriate.

The project currently features medical patients from a

specific surgery. The pharmacist will ring the surgery to identify patients that have been admitted to the Leicester General Hospital. These patients are identified on their drug chart and will be followed through their inpatient stay and information documented on a specific form. Admission Drug History Taking Discharge Summaries Pharmaceutical Care Plans Patient Counselling and Compliance Aids Patients' Own Drugs Dispensing for Discharge Self-Administration Schemes Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions

A standard operating procedure (SOP) has been written for pharmacist discharge prescribing. This involves detailing all reasons for changes to medication and any pharmaceutical follow-up that GP or community pharmacist need to know. The TTO form is being redesigned to include an extra copy for the community pharmacist.

A proforma for documenting clinical pharmacy activity is being developed to facilitate writing of discharge prescriptions and improve communication between

CONTACT DETAILS

Peter Taylor Director of Pharmacy

Airedale General Hospital Skipton Road Keighley, West Yorkshire BD20 6TD

Tel: 01274 234694 peter.taylor@anhst.nhs.uk

pharmacists. The SOP for pharmacy clinical activity includes methods & routines for anticipating discharges much better than currently.

Admission Drug History Taking Discharge Summaries Pharmaceutical Care Plans Patient Counselling and Compliance Aids Patients' Own Drugs Dispensing for Discharge Self-Administration Schemes Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions

CONTACT DETAILS

Renu Mehan Development Manager Medicines Management Services

New Forest PCT 8 Stearne Road Tatchbury Mount, Calmore Southampton. SO40 2RZ

Tel: 023 8087 4270 renu.mehan@nfpct.nhs.uk As one of its MMS programme measures the PCT chose: "the percentage of practices receiving discharge medication information from the hospital before a request for a repeat prescription."

An audit template was developed to assess whether information was being received within the timescale contained in the discharge protocols of Southampton General and Royal Bournemouth Hospitals, i.e. within 48 hours of discharge. (see Annex G).

Data was collected over six months, looking at both the timeliness and the quality of information. As a result a new discharge summary form has been agreed with GPs and the hospital trust and went live in April 2004.

Admission Drug History Taking Discharge Summaries Pharmaceutical Care Plans Patient Counselling and Compliance Aids Patients' Own Drugs Dispensing for Discharge Self-Administration Schemes Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions

The hospital provides a collaborative care service which aims to facilitate the transition of patients from hospital into the community.

The collaborative care pharmacy team completes a pharmacy assessment sheet for each patient referred to them. This is sent to the patient's GP and community pharmacist, and contains information on discharge medication, including problems or risks involving medication, possible solutions and anticipated outcomes or further action required.

CONTACT DETAILS

Chris Ranson Discharge Planning Pharmacist

Colchester General Hospital Colchester Essex CO4 5JL

Tel: 01206 742358

chris.ranson@essexrivers.nhs.uk

When a patient is referred to the service the pharmacy team will complete a medication risk assessment which determines the extent of support provided.

Details of the risk assessment tool are included as Annex H.

Admission Drug History Taking Discharge Summaries Pharmaceutical Care Plans Patient Counselling and Compliance Aids Patients' Own Drugs Dispensing for Discharge Self-Administration Schemes Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions

CONTACT DETAILS

Graham Hill Professional Development Pharmacist

East Riding & Hull LPC

Tel: 014 8233 5824 www.pharmacyerh.org Older People who have been discharged from hospital and are most at risk of medication problems are referred by fax to a community pharmacist of their choice. A medication review will be carried out, pharmaceutical care plan formulated along with liaison with the GP

Admission Drug History Taking Discharge Summaries Pharmaceutical Care Plans Patient Counselling and Compliance Aids Patients' Own Drugs Dispensing for Discharge Self-Administration Schemes Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions

The PCT has introduced a home-based service to review the medication of patients aged 75+ recently discharged from hospital. The post-discharge medication review team comprises a pharmacist and two pharmacy technicians. During admission, Kettering General Hospital's pharmacy department identifies those who are not getting the most benefit from their prescribed medication. These patients are asked if they would like the team to arrange a visit after discharge. The team is then provided with a list of what the hospital doctors prescribed, and arranges to visit the patient at home to review all medication the patient takes, both

CONTACT DETAILS

Sue Smith Post-discharge Medication Review Team

Northamptonshire Heartlands PCT Nene House, Isebrook Hospital, Irthlingborough Road, Wellingborough, Northamptonshire, NN8 1LP

Tel: 01536 494477 sue.smith@northantsheartland spct.nhs.uk

prescribed and over-the-counter. By the end of the visit the patient should be confident with the intended medication, and the GP will be given a confirmed hospital medication discharge list and consulted about any discrepancies or problems. During the scheme's first six months, over 170 patients were visited.

Admission Drug History Taking
Discharge Summaries
Pharmaceutical Care Plans
Patient
Counselling and Compliance Aids
Patients' Own Drugs Dispensing for Discharge SelfAdministration Schemes
Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions

CONTACT DETAILS

Celia Feetam Chief Pharmacist

Northcroft Hospital Birmingham & Solihull Mental Health Trust Reservoir Road, Erdington Birmingham. B23 6DJ

Tel: 07958 306 805 celia.feetam@bsmht.nhs.uk The Trust is currently running a pilot scheme with money from NIMHE which involves the allocation of pharmacy time to community mental health teams (CMHTs). Each pharmacist is equipped with a lap-top which has the Ascribe software and blank copies of medication history, pharmaceutical care plan and patient profile/intervention forms plus the UKPPG information leaflets.

They are thus enabled to act in a clinical capacity at the team bases and interact directly with the other

members of the multidisciplinary team as well as with patients and their carers. It is hoped that this project will show quantitatively the benefit of such close pharmacist involvement which will better inform resourcing such teams in the future. It will benefit and improve the seamless transfer of patients between units as well as their reintegration back into the community as all such information can go electronically with the patient.

The medication history taking proforma is included as Annex I.

Admission Drug History Taking 🖾 Discharge Summaries 🗌 Pharmaceutical Care Plans 🖄 Patient Counselling and Compliance Aids 🗌 Patients' Own Drugs 🗌 Dispensing for Discharge 🗌 Self-Administration Schemes 🗌 Pharmacist-written Discharge Prescriptions 🗌

Pharmacists on some wards complete discharge prescriptions electronically which are then sent to the pharmacy for dispensing. The electronic record of the patients' stay also includes the doctor discharge and patient discharge information. These electronic records are faxed to the patients' GP within 24 hours of discharge; the patient's record is updated and the risk of medication discrepancies reduced.

CONTACT DETAILS

Nick Butler

Clinical Pharmacy Manager

Gloucestershire Royal Hospital Great Western Road Gloucester Gl 1 3NN

Tel: 08454 226841 nick.butler@glos.nhs.uk

Pharmaceutical Care Plans

Example One

(Source: North East Wales NHS Trust)

North East Wal	es NHS Tri naceutical	ust -Wrexl Care Plan	ham Mae - Medici	lor Hos ne	pital
Date Patient name					CRN
Relevant Past Medical History:		Any Drug	Allergies o	ADR's:	Yes / No
		Planea etc	to comor of	modication	and reactions suffered
		- A01130 314			
All Current Medication – Include Significant	Stopped On Admission	Withheld On Admission	Started On admission	? Drug Omitted	Tick sources used for drug history:
PHN meds and OTCs					Patient
					Relative / carer
					Nursing care plan
					Drs admit. notes
					Medical record
					GP Surgery
					Comm.Pharmacy
					PODs
					GP Repeat list
					GP Letter / fax
					Nursing Home list
					Residential Home
					Other:
					Drug History Confirmed:
					Yes / No
					Signature:
Other relevant info:					
Designed by Karon Pritchard Reviewed by Janice LewertEaine Laurence Medical Pharmaceutical Care Plan					August 2000 December 2004 Version 4

-		D.C	Dimer resul	HI:		Chole	sterol level:		
hecked on admissi	ion: (tick th	rough) U/E	FBC	LFT	TFT WI	CRP			
Date > Type y	<u>s:</u>						Normal re	nge retere «10mg/1	ince
	-	-	_	-			-	_	
		-	-	-	-	-	-		_
		-							
		_	_	_	_		_		
			-						
	C. Street	and Starrage	-	-	-				
formation for D	r. Regan	ding Media	ation:	* liem	*Potential	Note	Tick * as a	pprop	riate
nug		Thequarky	amended	omitted	problem	left Y/N	Continuina.		
	_					-			
					-				
	-				-	-	-		
	-		-						_
	-			-		-			
	+			-					
					-	-			
	-				-	-			
	-	-							
	_								_
atient counselli	na reaui	red: e.o. V	Vartarin, li	nhalers e	tc.	(Initial a	ind date # who	en pt. s	seer
						1			

	Phar	maceutio	cal Care	Plan - M	edicine ·	- Contin	uation	Sheet.
Daily Pr	ogress Cha	rt						
Initial & Date		n						Results/To follow up:
Abnormal Date > Type v	Lab Values:							Normal range reference e.g. CRP <10mg/1

Example Two

(Source: Mid Essex Hospital Services NHS Trust)

1	Pharmaceutio	cal Care Discharge	Plan
Name and Address of Patient		Anticipated Date of Disch	uarge
		Discharging Unit	
		Discharging Unit	
		Tel No.	
fel Number		Named Nurse	
Carer/Relative			
same and Address of G.P.		Name and Address of Co	mmunity Pharmacy
fel. No.		Tel. No.	
ax No.		Fax No.	
harmaceutical Needs:			
'harmaceutical Needs:		Dense Allowsies	
harmaceutical Needs:		Drug Allergies	
Pharmaceutical Needs: Fake Home Medication Name and Form	Dose	Drug Allergies Frequency-include times of administration for MDS	Quantity/No/Type of MDS boxes-/other information
harmaceutical Needs: Fake Home Medication	Dosc	Drug Allergies Frequency-include times of administration for MDS	Quantity/No/Type of MDS boxes-/other information
harmaceutical Needs: Γake Home Medication dame and Form	Dose 1	Drug Allergies Frequency-include times of administration for MDS	Quantity/No/Type of MDS boxes-/other information
harmaceutical Needs: Fake Home Medication Name and Form	Dose IIII	Drug Allergies Frequency-include times of administration for MDS	Quantity/No/Type of MDS boxes-/other information
Pharmaceutical Needs: Fake Home Medication Name and Form Additional Information	Dose Unit Phan Signature of Fax	Drug Allergies Frequency-include times of administration for MDS	Quantity/No/Type of MDS boxes-/other information
harmaceutical Needs: Fake Home Medication Aame and Form	Dose Unit Pharm Signature 4 Fax complete form to:	Drug Allergies Frequency-include times of administration for MDS nacist and Contact Number (Pharmacist/technician) Unit Pharmacy (with Di Community Pharmacy	Quantity/No/Type of MDS boxes-/other information
harmaceutical Needs: Fake Home Medication Jame and Form	Dosc Unit Pharm Signature (Fax complete form to:	Drug Allergies Frequency-include times of administration for MDS nacist and Contact Number (Pharmacist/technician) Unit Pharmacy (with Di Community Pharmacy. Community Care Recep Collaborative Care	Quantity/No/Type of MDS boxes-/other information

	Ч	harmacy assessment	and planning sheet		
Patient Address	GP Dr Address		Community Pharmacy Address		Admission date Report date
Tel Fux	Tel Fax		Tel Fax		Unit no Ward Consultant
Details of medication at transfer from hor	spital. List regular n	redication first			Discharge date
Name and form of medication	Initiated in hospital	Strength and dose details		Other details	
Perindopril tablets	Yes	2mg, take one tablet ever	ry morning		
Atorvastatin tablets	Yes	20mg, take one tablet eve	ery morning		
Clopidogrel tablets	Yes	75mg, take one tablet eve	ery morning		
Paracetamol tablets		500mg, take 1 or 2 tablet	is up to 4 times a day	Maximum of eigl	nt tablets in 24 hours.
Other information Reason for admission: CVA Past medical history: TIA Social history: Lives in a house alone CT scan = infarct, he has been on aspirin Ferindopril was been started due to high	in the past and was blood pressure and a	not able to tolerate it so he atorvastatin to control his cl	e was started on clopidogr cholesterol level.	el.	
has a communication book to help him w picture chart to help him, this includes pi	ith this. This create ctures of the tablet t	d a challenge to teach him t sox and tablet so he knows	to self medicate, the spee	ch and language the enclosed chart).	rapist and myself have develo

Example Three

r

(Source: Essex Rivers Healthcare NHS Trust)

	WHICH ACCESS WORT TRANSPORTED TO	It and care bian	rauents name	
identify the p	problem or risk involving medication	Give possible solutions ar	nd action to be taken	Anticipated outcomes and further action if nece
L. Blood pre	sure	He was started on perindo blood pressure during his beneficial for it to be chec medication reviews.	spril and this has controlled his admission. It would be cleed occasionally at his	Patient to remain normatensive. 28/5 Na = 140mmoJ/t, K = 4.3mmoJ/t, Urea = 5.3mmoJ/t, Cr = 77umoJ/t.
2. Cholester	5	He has been started on at cholesterol to reduce the r next review his cholestero cholesterol = 5.4mmol/l a	prevastatin due to raised risk of further strokes. At his of should be rechecked. (27/4 and LFTs within normal limits)	Maintain cholesterol below 5mmol/l.
3. Medicatio	n Compliance	He has been successfully with the help of a picture same brand/ boxes are sur to avoid confusion.	self medicating on the ward chart. It is essential that the pplied with each prescription	Patient to comply with his medication.
-				
<i>1</i>				
Contact	Hospital pharmacy	Medicines helpline	Rep	ort Prepared by Pharmacist
phone numb	01206 742965	01206 742161	-U	s Ranson
Risk score 55	Home visit to be arranged yes/ Date of visit Pharmacist	no Copy of form t yes / no Date sent	o be sent to community phi	macy If this patient is re-admitte hospital please inform pha on 01206 742965

Example Four

(Source: Birmingham and Solihull Mental Health Trust)

(Initials & ward)						Sex (m/f)
Date of Admission			Age	Weight (Estimate if ne	ecessa	iry)
		EVID	ENCE OF	NEED		
Psychiat	ric problem list	t N	fedical prot	olem list		Current medication
	Evaluation of	Current Theory				
Assessment –	Evaluation of (Current Therap	ру			
Assessment –	Evaluation of	Current Therap	ру			
Assessment –	Evaluation of	Current Therap	ру			
Assessment –	Evaluation of	Current Therap	ру			
Assessment –	Evaluation of	Current Therap	ру			
Assessment –	Evaluation of	Current Therap	ру			
Assessment –	Evaluation of	Current Therap	ру			

Therapeutic goals	Recommended treatment. Medication to be avoided	Monitoring parameters- toxic & therapeutic plus main side effects	Patient education requirements on discharge
rrangements for follo	w-up /community care?		

Self Medication Scheme

(Source: Mid Essex Hospital Services NHS Trust)

ame:	Hospital N	Number: Ward:
an the patient:		
 Read and understand sta Labels. If No, would the patient b a. Large print labels? b. Braille labels? 	endard dispensing Yes / No enefit from Yes / No Yes / No	2. Open Child Resistant Caps (CRCs)?Yes / No If No, can they open a. A standard screw capped bottle? Yes / b. A winged capped bottle? Yes / No
3. Open blister or foil packe	d tablets? Yes / No	4. Pick up the tablets individually? Yes / No
5. Swallow tablets?	Yes / No	 Measure liquids in a spoon? Yes / No If No, would they benefit from a. A standard plastic measure. Yes / No b. A measuring pipette or Yes / No oral syringe?
In the opinion of YES – Complete NO	staff looking after patient detailed assessment for	this would be beneficial. m. Appendix 1B
8. Assessed by:	U	Jate.
9. Initial review by pharmac	ist / pharmacy technician.	Advice and recommendations.
Name:		Date:
dditional Information.		
Additional Information.		
Additional Information. Agreement. The Self-Administration agreed to participate.	ı scheme has been ex	plained to the patient and they have
Additional Information. Agreement. The Self-Administration agreed to participate.	scheme has been ex	plained to the patient and they have
Additional Information. Agreement. The Self-Administration agreed to participate. Destruction of Patients O The Patient has agreed to into hospital that are no lo	scheme has been ex wn Drugs. o the destruction by the	plained to the patient and they have Date: ne pharmacy department of medicines bought treatment.

Detailed Assessment - for patients identified as nee	ding additional support.		
Name:	Hospital Number:		
Ward:			
Ask the patient:	(To be undertaken by starr on ward)		
Where do you keep your medicines at home?			
Who gives you your medicines at home?	Self / Informal Carer / Formal Carer		
Did you have any problems before admission with taking your medicines. e.g. remembering the times to take your tablets? Remembering how many tablets to take?	If YES please record details.		
Are your tablets in a special box? (compliance aid)	If YES state type or give description. Nomad / Dossett / Redidose / Blister		
Who fills the special box?	Self /Informal carer / nurse / pharmacist / doctor		
Name and Address of Usual Pharmacy (Chemist)			
If box filled by pharmacist, how frequently?	Daily / Weekly / Every 4 weeks /Other (please state)		
If not pharmacy filled, are any spare tablets kept in normal tablet bottles in the home to be used for filling the compliance aid.	YES/NO		
Who orders repeat prescriptions from the GP?	Self / Informal carer / Formal Carer / Other		
Who collects repeat prescription from the surgery and takes it to the pharmacy (chemist)?	Self / Informal carer / Formal Carer / Other		
Who delivers the medicines to you?	Self / Informal Carer / Formal Carer / Other		
Do you buy any medicines or herbal remedies 'over the counter', from your local chemist or health food shorps ?	If YES give details		

		Mid Essex Hospital Services N Self-Medication Progress Re	HS Trust eport
ame:		Hospital Number:	Ward:
evel 1 = N evel 2 = S evel 3 = S	ion Self-Medica Supervised Self Self Medicating	ating. -Medicating (Unsupervised)	at far cell medicating
The ur The co Patien	nconscious. onfused. its with a pote	ntial to self-harm.	of for sen-medicaling.
Patien for the Patien Any o	its that usuall om. (e.g. nursi its who do not ther reason th	y have a carer / another person ng home residents). I consent (verbal) to participate in at the patient is thought to be u	I looking after their medication n the self-medication scheme. nsultable by medical, nursing
pharm o be Cor	acy staff. mpleted At Le	ast Daily by Named Nurse for pa	tient.
Date	Level	Comments	Signature

Page 97

Discharge Information

(Source: University College London Hospitals Trust)

University	College London Hosp	n Trust
PHARMACY SERV	/ICES	
Middlesex Hospital	University College He	ospital
Mortimer Street London, WIT 3AA	Cecil Flemming House, Ge London WCIE 6AU	afton Way
Telephone: 020 7636 1195 Fax: 020 7580 6422	Telephone: 020 7380 9844 Fax: 020 7387 9060	5
Сору	for Pharmacy infor	rmation
To:	Fax:	
From:	Date:	
Re:	Pgs (inc	this):
Urgent	For Action	For info
-		
3. Medication on discharg	Dose	Comments
3. Medication on discharg Medication	Dose	Comments
3. Medication on discharg Medication	Dose	Comments
3. Medication on discharg Medication	Dose	Comments
3. Medication on discharg Medication	Dose	Comments
3. Medication on discharg Medication	Dose	Comments
3. Medication on discharg Medication	Je: Dose	Comments
3. Medication on discharg Medication	Je: Dose	Comments
3. Medication on discharg Medication 4. Additional info: As agr / Venalink (<i>delete as applica</i> Many Thanks	reed, we have supplied two weeks of the able). Please could you follow up accordin	Comments
3. Medication on discharg Medication 4. Additional info: As agr Venalink (delete as applica Many Thanks If there is any problem with contact of	Pee: Dose Dose Peed, we have supplied two weeks of the able. Please could you follow up accordin fax transmission or if you have any other que me on the above number or on 020 7387 9300	Comments
3. Medication on discharg Medication Medication	Pee: Dose Dose Peed, we have supplied two weeks of the a ble). Please could you follow up accordin fax transmission or if you have any other que me on the above number or on 020 7387 9300 tionally received this fax, please contact the sendi and then destroy the fax copy. Thank-you.	Comments

PLEASE REMEMBER TO TRANSFER PATIENTS OWN MEDICINES (INCLUDING
CONTROLLED DRUGS) AND ANY INDIVIDUALLY DISPENSED ITEMS IF THE
PATIENT MOVES WARD
DRUG HISTORY ON ADMISSION - PHARMACISTS RECORD

Brug name, form, strength	Instructions on latel	Other anformationsComments	Drugs brought in	Quantity
			7 100 100	
			_	
			-	-

Medication related information/comments (OTC medication, recent change)

Pharmacist		Date		
Compliance aids needed: Tick all that are needed	Date Provided/ Initials	Counselling needed Tick all that are needed	t: Di in	ate Provided? Itials
Spacer device: circle below [(volumatic/aerochamber/nebuhaler)	-	Reminder chart: Amiodarone:		
Haleraid: [Warfarin:		
Medimax box: [] Medidos box: []		Smoking Cessation: Other:		
Other: [3	Cards needed. Tick all that are needed		
Communication concern: [(e.g. blind/deaf/language)		Warfarin book: Steroid card: Lithium card:		
Discharge Plan				
Community Pharmacy Name		Contact Num	bee	
Discharge plan completed by Pharma	cist		Date	
TTA checked (screened) by Pharmacist	t 🗆		Date	
TTA given to patient by Nurse/Pharma	acist 🗆		Date	
Pharmacy opening hours: Monday, Thursday & Friday: 9:00am-5 Tuesday, Wednesday: 9:30am-5:15pn Emergency Service on Saturday and 5	Uset 15pm Dispe n Stock unday Medi	ful numbers: UCH msary: 8049 drug enquires: 8012 cines Information (base	Middx 9039 4373	Heart 3032 3033

Discharge Medication Checklist

(Source: Tower Hamlets PCT / Barts & the London NHS Trust)

The points on this checklist must be followed when finally handing the medicines to the patient at the time of discharge to reduce the risk of an error:

A Registered Nurse / Pharmacist / Pharmacy Technician must:

- 1. Check the doctor has signed the TTA.
- 2. Check the TTA has been signed by a pharmacist in the validation box.
- 3. Check TTA against the inpatient prescription chart for any late amendments. Consult with doctor if any revision is necessary.
- 4. Check individually each medicine prescribed on the TTA is present and labelled with the correct: drug name, patient name and instructions for use
- 5. For each drug initial the discharge column on the TTA letter if correct.

Ward stock drugs must not be supplied as part of the TTA.

- 6. Check the patient has sufficient supply until they see their GP (a minimum of 2 weeks supply of long-term medication is Trust Policy).
- 7. Check the patient understands the regimen for each medicine and educate the patient to take each medicine as instructed
- 8. For patients on warfarin, ensure:
 - They have a yellow anticoagulant booklet
 - The dose to take on discharge is written in the booklet by the doctor
 - They have a prompt follow up appointment to check anticoagulation
- 9. Ensure steroid booklets and splenectomy booklets are given where appropriate
- 10. If any of the above is not complete, contact the doctor, pharmacist or pharmacy technician as necessary.
- 11. Sign and print the name of the person discharging the patient in the box on the TTA letter
- 12. Give the patient the yellow copy of the TTA.
- 13. Empty the drug locker and return any medicines not part of the TTA to Pharmacy in the blue box.

Approved by Trust Medicines Committee July 2003,

An amendment has been made to the green TTA letter widely used in the Trust. The change has been made to facilitate a comprehensive check of all medication at the time it is handed to the patient at discharge. The extra sections are to be used by the member of staff giving the medicines to the patient. The key changes to the form are:

- The instructions for use on the label for each dispensed medicine should be checked against the instructions on the TTA letter. As each medicine is then handed to the patient the column should be initialled.
- The member of staff giving the medicines to the patent should sign and print their name in full in the new section provided at the bottom of the chart, signing the date and time.

NB If a patient is unable to wait for their TTA letter to be written, amended or dispensed then they should be advised that they or a relative collect the TTA at the earliest possible time to avoid missed dosage.

An FP10 (HP) prescription may be issued out of hours in conjunction with the Duty Manager if absolutely necessary. The patient will need to be informed that prescription charges may apply.



Nursing Actions for Assembly of TTA Medication on Discharge

Patients' Own Drugs

(Source: Worthing & Southlands Hospital Trust)








The COUNT© Service

(Source: Guildford and Waverley PCT)



COUNT© is a service currently provided for Intermediate Care and Key Care patients by our PCT Primary Care Pharmacists.

The COUNT© tool has been developed to help non-medical and non-clinical staff identify patients who have a problem with their medication:

Confused over what the medicine is for and how and when to take it

Over ordering medicine – stockpiling, sharing, overuse, underuse

Unable to open packaging – unable to unscrew the lids on bottles or open foil packs or use inhalers (agility)

Not taking medicine – forgetting, or choosing not to take medicine

Too many or too few journeys - collecting medicines every week and access issues

The Primary Care Pharmacists in Guildford & Waverley PCT each work with a group of practices. Once a patient has been identified they are referred to the pharmacist who works with the patient's GP. On receipt of a referral the pharmacist consults the patient's medical notes (on the practice computer system) and discusses their case with the appropriate health care professionals (GP or district nurse). A home visit is arranged for the pharmacist together with the original referrer. A thorough medication and compliance review is undertaken and a discussion is held with the patient, carer and family to determine a regimen that will best suit the patient at this point in time. The pharmacist discusses his/her recommendations with all the relevant health care professionals (GP, consultant, district nurse, community pharmacist, social services), agrees a plan of action and updates the patient's medical records. Appropriate follow up is included in the action plan.

The success of this scheme can be attributed to:

- Training key workers in Intermediate Care and district nurses in Key Care on how to use the COUNT© tool
- The Primary Care Pharmacists having an established professional relationship with their allocated GPs
- The Primary Care Pharmacists becoming familiar with the patient's history before visiting the patient
- Allowing time for a detailed medication review and discussion with the patient, carer or wider family in the patient's own home
- Post visit discussion with all appropriate health care professionals to ensure agreement and continuity of care
- Organised follow up

Next steps:

At present the service is reactive and deals mainly with patients in the top section of the Long Term Conditions Pyramid. We aim, through the Community Pharmacy Contract, to provide a proactive approach. We have discussed with our community pharmacists the possibility of using the Advanced Service Medicine Use Reviews to target patients in the middle section of the pyramid. We have supplied our community pharmacists with the COUNT© tool and criteria and will be providing practical training before they undertake their MUR Assessments. We aim to ensure that this particular group of patients receives required interventions that will prevent or delay their movement to the top section of the LTC pyramid.



Page 105

Audit of Discharge Medication Information

(Source: New Forest PCT)

Hospital Number of Patient	Age / DoB	
Date the discharge summary was received by practice		
Date patient was discharged (if present on form)		
Was a repeat prescription requested before summary was received?	Yes	No
Was the discharge summary easy to read?	Yes	No
Completeness of information - are the following present?		
Patient details	Yes	No
GP details	Yes	No
Consultant details	Yes	No
Admission details	Yes	No
Diagnosis on admission	Yes	No
diagnosis on discharge	Yes	No
Information on patient's treatment while in hospital	Yes	No
Medication Information		
How long was medication supplied for at discharge?	5714	4 28 days
Does the summary contain the full name of each drug?	Yes	No
Does the summary contain the specific dose for each drug?	Yes	No
Does the summary contain the dose frequency for each drug?	Yes	No
Does the summary contain the quantity of each drug supplied?	Yes	No
Does the summary include any acute items?	Yes	No
Does the summary indicate which medicines are to be continued?	Yes	No
Does the summary indicate which medicines are to be stopped?	Yes	No
If the patient has been started on any new items, was a reason for starting the medication given?	Yes	No
If the patient had medicines stopped,	Voc	No
Does the summary contain details of any drug idiosyncrasies	165	NO
allergies or adverse reactions?	Yes	No
Does the summary give details of any follow up appointments?	Yes	No
Was the discharge summary signed by the pharmacist?	Yes	No
Was the discharge summary signed by the prescribing doctor?	Yes	No

Please give details of any other issues

Pharmacy Risk Assessment Tool

(Source: Essex Rivers Healthcare Trust)¹⁷³

Collaborative Care Pharmacy risk assessment score sheet. (to be used in conjunction with the pharmaceutical care planning sheet)								
Patient details label date								
	pharmacist							
Section (low score = low risk)	Max	score						
1. Number of medications	10							
2. Doses and frequencies per day	10							
3. Number of formulations	10							
 Reason for admission and relevance to medication 	10							
 Co-existing medical conditions including mental health 	10							
6. Home support available	10							
7. Professional support available	10							
8. Impact of medication on lifestyle	20							
9. Need for concordance	10							
Total score	100							
No further input from pharmacy	0-25							
Liaise with community pharmacist	25 - 50							
Arrange post discharge visit	50+							
N.B. if the drug impact score is high it may be necessary to arrange a home visit even if the other								

Essex Rivers Healthcare NHS

NHS Trust

Collaborative care

Pharmacy Risk assessment score sheet guide to completion. This sheet is intended to give the pharmacist a score that indicates the risk to the patient from the medication after discharge. The level of

post discharge support will be arranged based on the score.

- The number of drugs is an indication of the problems a patient may face and is one of the few purely qualitative factors. Score one for each medication prescribed at discharge to a maximum of 10.
- The frequency is also relevant. Score 2 for each time of day doses need to be taken up to a maximum of 10. Include all medication including external, eye drops etc.
- Please score each formulation as 1 to give an indication of the complexity of the regime.

The following are more subjective and require a careful evaluation of the risk to the patient especially of re-admission due to iatrogenic effects.

- The reason for admission is an important indicator of the importance of medication as a risk of admission. High risk factors are falls, treatment failures, strokes, over doses and self-harm.
- Co-existing conditions include those that are not being treated as part of the acute event, e.g. diabetes for a patient admitted after a fall, confusion and depression in a medical patient or epilepsy in a patient with asthma.
- The degree of support at home will have a major impact on the successful discharge. Evaluate this and score no support as 10 and full family help as 0.
- Similarly, professional support needs to be considered and evaluated. The minimum for a collaborative care patient will be once daily visits from a home care worker (score high) and the maximum (low risk) would be a full package with OT, Physio, district nurses visiting and community pharmacy and GP availability. (Score 0).
- 8. This is the most important area and each medication must be evaluated to decide the risk and impact on the patient after discharge. If the risk is high then this score alone may dictate a home visit after discharge. Factors to consider include side effects, changes in regimes, new drugs not taken before and potential for interactions. Score a maximum of 20 for this section
- The need for concordance should be scored based on the potential outcome of over or under dosing, irregular dosing etc. Maximum score for a high risk patient would be 10

Guidance

1. Number of medicines

Polypharmacy is a major issue associated with risk. It is fairly well documented that the more medicines a patient takes the greater the risk of adverse drug reactions, drug interactions and poor compliance.

Each medicine will score 1 to a maximum of 10. This will include all prescribed medication excluding stoma equipment, dressings or catheters (these should be included in the comments section).

2. Frequencies

Score 2 for each time of day doses need to be taken up to a maximum of 10. This should include all medication and creams, eye drops etc. For PRN medication it was decided that an extra 2 would be given as long as it would be possible for it to be taken at any time of the day.

e.g. PRN paracetamol would have a score of 2 as the patient would take it when he or she is in pain, this may correspond with times of other regular medication. An exemption is if the dose frequency specifies a specific time for instance senna tablets 2 ON PRN, if that patient already was taking a tablet at night then this would be scored as an extra 2.

3. Number of formulations

Each formulation would score 1 to give an indication of the complexity of the regime (up to a maximum score of 10).

The different formulations should represent the different routes of administration that is being used by a particular patient. e.g. All the following would score 1:

- Oral solid dosage forms e.g. tablets, capsules, long acting preparations.
- Liquids
- Sub-lingual tablets
- Creams
- Suppositories
- Sachets/ powders.
- Pessaries.

4. Reason for admission and relevance to medication

This is very subjective and very difficult to give an accurate score. It is well documented that approximately 5-10% of all hospital admissions are drug related. Below are some examples of scores that could be used to help when deciding on a particular score for a patient. It must be taken into account that all patients are different and circumstances will also be different.

<u>Score</u>	Reason for admission
0	Elective Surgery
2	Fall - not associated with medication. Confusion caused by a UTI.
6	CVA/MI but is on all medication expected. Confusion caused by constipation (secondary to medication)
8	Fall associated with medication
10	CVA: patient in atrial fibrillation but not taking aspirin. Self harm/overdose.

5. Co-existing medical conditions including mental health

This will give an indication to the number of other medical problems from which the patient suffers. The greater the number, the greater the risk to the patient.

Each chronic condition will score 1 but at the discretion of the Pharmacist each condition can score an extra 1 if it is felt that it is not well controlled. This will allow for differences between patients with long past medical histories one being well controlled and the other being very unstable.

6. Home support available

Patients who have a lot of family support will be at less risk compared to patients with no support and living alone. Below are some examples to help to decide on a score. Once again every patient's circumstance is likely to be different.

<u>Score</u>	<u>Social Circumstance</u>	
2	Lives with family	
4	Lives with able partner	
5	Lives alone but has family support	
8	Lives with partner (but patient is main carer)	
10	Lives alone	

7. Professional Support available

Every patient will start with a score of 10, then it will reduce by 1 for every time a home care worker or another professional goes in to see the patient, e.g. Home care workers are going in 4 times a day, physiotherapist and district nurse are both going in once a week, then this patient would score 4.

Other professionals that should be taken into account are social worker, Macmillan nurse and specialist nurse e.g. asthma, diabetes and Parkinson's disease.

8. Impact of medication on lifestyle

Factors that must be taken into account are side effects, changes to medication regime, drug interactions, the need for blood tests e.g. therapeutic drug monitoring, U&Es, LFTs.

This will be related to each of the risk factors that have been identified on the pharmaceutical care plan. Each one can score up to a maximum of 4 depending on its effect on patient lifestyle.

If a patient has only 1 or 2 problems but the pharmacist feels it will have a profound effect on the patient then in this case that problem could be scored out of a maximum of 10 e.g. Polypharmacy.

9. Need for Concordance

This score is based on the outcome if the patient misses or takes extra doses of medication. If the outcome is likely to be re-admission to hospital or treatment failure then this would score high. Examples:

Score

2	Pain killers only
5	SSRI initiated for depression
7	Post CVA: initiated on aspirin anti-hypertensives
10	Warfarin, digoxin and diuretics for patient being treated for CCF and AF.

Medication History Proforma

(Source: Birmingham and Solihull Mental Health Trust)

1								
MEDICATION HISTORY	Diagnosis:	Comments						
		Reasons for stopping						
		Indication						
		Route						
	ä	Freq						
		Dose						
		Medication						
		Stop Date						
	Patient	Start Date						

USEFUL WEBSITES

Audit Commission www.auditcommission.gov.uk Change Agent Team www.changeagentteam.org.uk Department of Health www.dh.gov.uk Guild of Healthcare Pharmacists www.ghp.org.uk Healthcare Commission www healthcarecommission.org.uk Medicines Partnership www.medicines-partnership.org/ National Audit Office www.nao.org.uk National electronic Library for Health www.nelh.nhs.uk National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) www.nice.org.uk National Patient Safety Agency www.npsa.nhs.uk National Prescribing Centre www.npc.co.uk National Programme for IT www.connectingforhealth.nhs.uk www.dh.gov.uk/PolicyAndGuidance/HealthAndSocialCare National Service Frameworks Topics/HealthAndSocialCareArticle/fs/en?CONTENT_ID=40 70951&chk=W3ar/W NHS Northern Ireland www.n-i.nhs.uk NHS Scotland www.show.scot.nhs.uk NHS Wales www.wales.nhs.uk **Pharmaceutical Services** Negotiating Committee www.psnc.org.uk Primary Care Pharmacists Association www.pcpa.org.uk Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain www.rpsgb.org

GLOSSARY AND ABBREVIATIONS

Acute Services - medical and surgical treatment and care mainly provided in hospitals.

Assessment - a process whereby the needs of an individual are identified and their impact on daily living and quality of live is evaluated.

Care Package - a combination of services designed to meet a person's assessed needs.

Care Planning - a process based on an assessment of an individual's assessed need that involves determining the level and type of support to meet those needs, and the objectives and potential outcome that can be achieved.

Clinical Governance - a framework through which the NHS is accountable for continuously improving the quality of services.

Community Health Services - services provided outside the hospital setting by health care professionals employed by NHS Trusts or PCOs such as district nurses, school nurses and health visitors.

Compliance - The extent to which patients take medicines according to the prescribed instructions.

Co-morbidity - other co-existing illness in addition to the particular illness which is currently most significant.

Concordance - the process of shared decision making about medicines between a healthcare professional and a patient, based on partnership, where the patient's expertise and beliefs are fully valued.

Directed Enhanced Services (**DES**) - enhanced services within the nGMS contract that are under national direction with national specifications and benchmark pricing which all PCOs must commission for their population. Examples include services to support staff dealing with violent patients, improved access, influenza immunisation, childhood immunisations, and advanced minor surgery.

Disease Management - the process of considering the entire healthcare needs of a patient with a particular disease and then managing the whole process of their delivery in an efficient and cost-effective manner.

Health Economy - Strategic Health Authority and the PCOs, main NHS Trusts, and social services department that are co-terminous with it.

Intermediate Care - a short period (normally no longer than six weeks) of intensive rehabilitation and treatment to enable patients to return home following hospitalisation, or to prevent admission to long term residential care; or intensive care at home to prevent unnecessary hospital admission.

Local Enhanced Services **(LES)** - enhanced services within the nGMS contract that are developed locally. Terms and conditions are discussed and agreed locally between the PCO and the practice.

Multidisciplinary - refers to when professionals from different disciplines - such as social work, nursing, occupational therapy etc, work together.

National Enhanced Services **(NES)** - enhanced services within the nGMS contact that have national specifications and benchmark pricing which PCOs can choose to commission. Examples include intra-partum care, anti-coagulant monitoring, intrauterine contraceptive device fitting, specialised drug and alcohol, sexual health services, depression or multiple sclerosis services, enhances services for the terminally ill, homeless, those with learning disabilities, and immediate and first response care.

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence **(NICE)** - a special health authority responsible for providing national guidance on the promotion of good health and the prevention and treatment of ill health.

National Patient Safety Agency **(NPSA)** - a special health authority responsible for coordinating the reporting of, and learning from, mistakes and problems that affect patient safety.

National Programme for Information Technology **(NPfIT)** - information technology modernisation programme within the NHS.

National Service Frameworks **(NSFs)** - documentation bringing together the best evidence of clinical and cost-effectiveness with the views of service users to determine the base ways of providing particular services.

NHS Care Record Service **(NCRS)** - part of the National Programme for IT, which will deliver a live, interactive patient record, accessible by all practitioners involved in the individual's care.

NHS Trusts - statutory bodies providing NHS hospital healthcare.

Payment by Results (**PBR**) - a new financial system, which will replace block contracts, where payment is linked to activity adjusted for casemix, based on a standard national price tariff.

Personal Social Services **(PSS)** - personal care services for vulnerable people including those with special needs because of old age or physical disability. Examples of services are residential care homes, home helps, and social workers who provide help and support for a wide range of people.

Pharmaceutical Care - the responsible provision of drug therapy for the purpose of achieving definite outcomes that improve a patient's quality of life. These outcomes are cure of disease, elimination or reduction of a patient's symptomology, arrest or slowing of a disease process, or preventing a disease or symptoms.

Pharmaceutical Care Plan - direct involvement of the pharmacist in the design, implementation, and monitoring of a therapeutic drug plan to produce a specific therapeutic outcome.

Plurality - a mixed economy of public and private sector healthcare provision.

Practice Based Commissioning **(PBC)** - GPs commission the care and other services required to meet the needs of their patients.

Primary Care - family health services provided by family doctors, dentists, community pharmacists, optometrists and ophthalmic medical practitioners.

Secondary Care - specialist care, typically provided in a hospital setting or following a referral from a primary or community health professional.

Single Assessment Process **(SAP)** - an integrated assessment process which aims to make sure that older people's care needs are assessed thoroughly and accurately, but without duplication by different agencies.

Social Care - personal care services provided by local authorities for vulnerable people, including those with special needs because of old age or physical or mental disability, and children in need of care or protection. Examples include residential care homes, home help and home care services etc.

Special Health Authorities - health authorities with a unique national or supra-regional function which cannot be undertaken by other kinds of NHS bodies (for example the Prescription Pricing Authority, NICE).

TTA / TTO (To Take Away / To Take Out) - the medicines supplied for the patient to take away at the end of their hospital admission.

Unified Assessment Process - term used in Wales for the Single Assessment Process (SAP).

REFERENCES

- (1) Hospital Pharmacists Group. *Medicines Management during Patient Discharge*. 2003. Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain.
- (2) Prescriptions dispensed in the community statistics for 1992 to 2002: England. 2003. Department of Health.
- (3) Penney TM. *Delayed communication between hospital and general practitioners where does the problem lie?* British Medical Journal 1988; **297**: 28-29.
- (4) Great Yarmouth Medicines Management Services Collaborative Team. *Discharge information project.* 2003.
- (5) Cochrane R, Mandel A, Ledger-Scott M, Walker R. *Changes in drug treatment after discharge from hospital in geriatric patients.* Br Med J 1992; **305**: 694-696.
- (6) Duggan C, Bates I, Hough J. *Discrepancies in prescribing where do they occur?* Pharm J 1996; **256**: 65-67.
- (7) The NHS Plan: A plan for investment, a plan for reform. (Cm 4818). 2000. The Stationery Office.
- (8) *The NHS Improvement Plan. Putting People at the Heart of Public Services.* **Cm 6268**. 2004. The Stationery Office.
- (9) Our National Health: a plan for action, a plan for change. 2000. NHS Scotland.
- (10) Improving Health in Wales a plan for the NHS and its partners. 2001. National Assembly for Wales.
- (11) Pharmacy in the Future. 2000. Department of Health.
- (12) A Vision for Pharmacy in the New NHS. 2003. Department of Health.
- (13) The Right Medicine: A Strategy for Pharmaceutical Care in Scotland. 2002. NHS Scotland.
- (14) Remedies for Success: A Strategy for Pharmacy in Wales. 2002. Welsh Assembly Government.
- (15) The New Contract for Community Pharmacy. 2004. PSNC.
- (16) The new contractual framework for community pharmacy. 2004. Department of Health.
- (17) Investing in General Practice. The New General Medical Services Contract. 2003. NHS Confederation.
- (18) National Service Framework for Mental Health: Modern Standards and Service Models. 1999. Department of Health.
- (19) National Service Framework for Coronary Heart Disease. 2000. Department of Health.
- (20) The NHS Cancer Plan: a plan for investment, a plan for reform. 2000. Department of Health.
- (21) National Service Framework for Older People. 2001. Department of Health.
- (22) National Service Framework for Diabetes: Standards. 2001. Department of Health.
- (23) National Service Framework for Diabetes: Service Delivery. 2003. Department of Health.
- (24) National Service Framework for Children, Young People and Maternity Services. 2004. Department of Health.
- (25) The National Service Framework for Renal Services. Part One: Dialysis and Transplantation. 2004. Department of Health.
- (26) The National Service Framework for Renal Services. Part Two: Chronic Kidney Disease, Acute Renal Failure and End of Life Care. Department of Health, editor. 2005.

- (27) The National Service Framework for Long-term Conditions. Department of Health, editor. 2005.
- (28) National Service Framework for Mental Health: Modern Standards and Service Models. 1999. Department of Health.
- (29) National Service Framework for Diabetes: Standards. 2001. Department of Health.
- (30) National Service Framework for Diabetes: Service Delivery. 2003. Department of Health.
- (31) Medicines and Older People implementing medicines related aspects of the NSF for Older People. 2001. Department of Health.
- (32) Burke S, Neilson E. *Pharmacists and the new intermediate care agenda.* 2002. Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain.
- (33) Medicines for Children and Young People: National Service Framework for Children, Young People and Maternity Services. 2004. Department of Health.
- (34) Management of medicines: A resource document for aspects specific to the National Service Framework for Renal Services. Department of Health, editor. 2005.
- (35) Management of Medicines. A resource to support implementation of the wider aspects of medicines management for the National Service Frameworks for Diabetes, Renal Services and Long-Term Conditions. 2004.
- (36) The Right Medicine: A Strategy for Pharmaceutical Care in Scotland. 2002. NHS Scotland.
- (37) Remedies for Success: A Strategy for Pharmacy in Wales. 2002. Welsh Assembly Government.
- (38) A spoonful of sugar: medicines management in NHS hospitals. 2001. Audit Commission.
- (39) Remedies for Success: A Strategy for Pharmacy in Wales. 2002. Welsh Assembly Government.
- (40) A spoonful of sugar: medicines management in NHS hospitals. 2001. Audit Commission.
- (41) The Right Medicine: A Strategy for Pharmaceutical Care in Scotland. 2002. NHS Scotland.
- (42) Remedies for Success: A Strategy for Pharmacy in Wales. 2002. Welsh Assembly Government.
- (43) A spoonful of sugar: medicines management in NHS hospitals. 2001. Audit Commission.
- (44) The Right Medicine: A Strategy for Pharmaceutical Care in Scotland. 2002. NHS Scotland.
- (45) Health and Social Care Joint Unit and Change Agent Team. *Discharge from hospital: pathway, process and practice.* 2003. Department of Health.
- (46) Achieving timely "simple" discharge from hospital. A toolkit for the multi-disciplinary team. 2004. Department of Health.
- (47) The National Audit Office. Ensuring the effective discharge of older patients from NHS acute hospitals. **HC 392**. 2003. The Stationery Office.
- (48) A spoonful of sugar: medicines management in NHS hospitals. 2001. Audit Commission.
- (49) *European Community Directive 92/27/EEC.* Official Journal of the European Communities 1992; L113(30/04/1992): 8-12.
- (50) Medicines Management in NHS Hospitals. 2003. Department of Health.
- (51) Making a Difference, Reducing Burdens in NHS Hospitals. 2002. Department of Health / Cabinet Office.
- (52) A spoonful of sugar: medicines management in NHS hospitals. 2001. Audit Commission.
- (53) Building a safer NHS for patients: Implementing an organisation with a memory. 2001. Department of Health.
- (54) An Organisation with a Memory. 2000. Department of Health.

- (55) Chief Pharmaceutical Officer. Building a safer NHS for patients: improving medication safety. 2004.
- (56) Reducing the harm caused by oral methotrexate. Patient Safety Alert 3. 2004. NPSA.
- (57) Reporting to the National Reporting and Learning System (NPLS). NPSA 2005 Available from: http://www.npsa.nhs.uk/health/display?contentId=3585
- (58) Creating a Patient-led NHS. Delivering the NHS Improvement Plan. 2005. Department of Health.
- (59) Building on the Best Choice, Responsiveness and Equity in the NHS. Cm 6079. 2003. Department of Health.
- (60) Crisp N. Commissioning a Patient-led NHS. 2005. Department of Health.
- (61) The New NHS: modern, dependable. (Cm.3807). 1997. The Stationery Office.
- (62) Practice Based Commissioning. Promoting Clinical Engagement. 2004. Department of Health.
- (63) *Making Practice Based Commissioning a Reality. Technical Guidance.* 2005. Department of Health.
- (64) Improving Chronic Disease Management. 2004. Department of Health.
- (65) Chronic Disease Management: A compendium of information. 2004. Department of Health.
- (66) Supporting People with Long Term Conditions. An NHS and Social Care Model to support local innovation and integration. 2005. Department of Health.
- (67) The Expert Patient. A New Approach to Chronic Disease Management for the 21st Century. 2001. Department of Health.
- (68) Donaldson L. Mainstreaming the Expert Patients Programme (EPP). Department of Health 2005 Available from: <u>http://www.dh.gov.uk/assetRoot/04/10/71/00/04107100.pdf</u>
- (69) National Standards, Local Action: Health and Social Care Standards and Planning Framework 2005/06 2007/08. 2004. Department of Health.
- (70) Standards for Better Health. 2004. Department of Health.
- (71) Improvement, expansion and reform: the next three years. 2002. Department of Health.
- (72) Primary Care Trust Revenue Resource Limits 2003/04, 2004/05 & 2005/06. HSC 2002/012.2002. Department of Health.
- (73) Primary Care Trust Revenue Resource Limits 2006/07 & 2007/08. HSC 2005/001. 2005. Department of Health.
- (74) Payment by Results Preparing for 2005. 2004. Department of Health.
- (75) Douglas R. Scope of Payment by Results in 2005/06. Department of Health 2005 [accessed 2005 May 10]; Available from: <u>http://www.dh.gov.uk/assetRoot/04/10/09/34/04100934.pdf</u>
- (76) Protecting staff; delivering services: implementing the European Working Time Directive for doctors in training. HSC 2003/001. 2003. Department of Health.
- (77) Mageean R. Study of "discharge communications" from hospital. BMJ (Clinical Research Edition) 1986; 293: 1283-1284.
- (78) Foster DS, Paterson C, Fairfield G. Evaluation of immediate discharge documents room for improvement? Scott Med J 2002; 47(4): 77-79.
- (79) Brackenborough S. Views of patients, general practitioners and community pharmacists on medication related discharge information. Pharm J 1997; 259: 1020-1023.

- (80) Soloman J, Maxwell R, Hough J. Content of a discharge summary from a medical ward: views of general practitioners and hospital doctors. J R Coll Physicians Lond 1995; **29(4)**: 507-509.
- (81) Al-Rashed SA, Wright DJ, Reeves J, Chrystyn H. Opinions about hospital discharge information in the UK. Part 1. General Practitioners. J Soc Adm Pharm 2001; **18(3)**: 91-96.
- (82) Al-Rashed SA, Wright DJ, Reeves J, Chrystyn H. Opinions about hospital discharge information. Part 2. Community Pharmacists. J Soc Adm Pharm 2001; **18(4)**: 129-135.
- (83) Argyle M, Newman C. An assessment of pharmacy discharge procedures and hospital communications with general practitioners. Pharm J 1996; **256**: 903-905.
- (84) Green P, Rees L. *Hospital discharge of elderly patients: is seamless care achieved?* Pharm J 1999; **263**: R35.
- (85) Brown J, Brown D. *Pharmaceutical care at the primary-secondary interface in Portsmouth and South East Hampshire.* Pharm J 1997; **258**: 280-284.
- (86) Cameron B. The impact of pharmacy discharge planning on continuity of care. Can J Hosp Pharm 1994; 47(3): 101-109.
- (87) Cunningham G, Dodd TR, Grant DJ, McMurdo ME, Richards RM. Drug-related problems in elderly patients admitted to Tayside hospitals, methods for prevention and subsequent reassessment. Age Ageing 1997; 26(5): 375-382.
- (88) Mannesse CK, Derkx FH, de Ridder MA, Man in 't Veld AJ, van der Cammen TJ. Contribution of adverse drug reactions to hospital admission of older patients. Age Ageing 2000; 29(1): 35-39.
- (89) Mannesse CK, Derkx FH, de Ridder MA, Man in 't Veld AJ, van der Cammen TJ. Adverse drug reactions in elderly patients as contributing factor for hospital admission: cross sectional study. BMJ 1997; **315(7115)**: 1057-1058.
- (90) Howard RL, Avery AJ, Howard PD, Partridge M. Investigation into the reasons for preventable drug related admissions to a medical admissions unit: observational study. Qual Saf Health Care 2003; **12(4)**: 280-285.
- (91) van Kraaij D, Haagsma C, Go I, Gribnau F. Drug use and adverse drug reactions in 105 elderly patients admitted to a general medical ward. Neth J Med 1994; **445**: 166-173.
- (92) Bhalla N, Duggan C, Dhillon S. *The incidence and nature of drug-related admissions to hospital.* Pharm J 2003; **270**: 583-586.
- (93) Forster A, Murff H, Peterson J, Gandhi T, Bates DW. *The incidence and severity of adverse events affecting patients after discharge from the hospital.* Ann Intern Med 2003; **138**: 161-167.
- (94) Forster AJ, Clark HD, Menard A, Dupuis N, Chernish R, Chandok N et al. Adverse events among medical patients after discharge from hospital. CMAJ 2004; 170(3): 345-349.
- (95) Williams EI, Fitton F. Factors affecting early unplanned readmission of elderly patients to hospital. BMJ 1988; 297(6651): 784-787.
- (96) Society produces checklist for hospital admission and discharge. Pharm J 1993; 250: 143.
- (97) Checklists for admission and discharge. Pharm J 1993; 250((Suppl)): HS6.
- (98) Choo G, Cook H. A community and hospital liaison by fax. Pharm J 1997; 259: 659-661.
- (99) Smith L, McGowan L, Moss-Barclay C, Wheater J, Knass D, Chrystyn H. *An investigation of hospital generated pharmaceutical care when patients are discharged home from hospital.* Br J Clin Pharmacol 1997; **44(2)**: 163-165.
- (100) Cromarty E, Downie G, Wilkinson S, Cromarty J. Communication regarding the discharge medicines of elderly patients: a controlled trial. Pharm J 1998; **260**: 62-64.

- (101) Cook H. Transfer of information between hospital and community. Pharm J 1995; 254: 737.
- (102) Coombes J. A checklist for a medication discharge plan. Pharm J 1994; 253: 161-162.
- (103) Brookes K, Scott MG, McConnell JB. *The benefits of a hospital based community services liaison pharmacist.* Pharm World Sci 2000; **22(2)**: 33-38.
- (104) Pickrell L, Duggan C, Dhillon S. From hospital admission to discharge: an exploratory study to evaluate seamless care. Pharm J 2001; **267**: 650-653.
- (105) Cornish PL, Knowles SR, Marchesano R, Tam V, Shadowitz S, Juurlink DN et al. Unintended Medication Discrepancies at the Time of Hospital Admission. Arch Intern Med 2005; 165(4): 424-429.
- (106) McRobbie D, Bednall R, West T. Assessing the impact of re-engineering of pharmacy services to general medical wards. Pharm J 2003; **270**: 342-345.
- (107) McFadzean E, Isles C, Moffat J, Norrie J, Stewart D. Is there a role for a prescribing pharmacist in preventing prescribing errors in a medical admission unit? Pharm J 2003; **270**: 896-899.
- (108) McIntyre F, Manson K. *Pre-admission clinics: extending the delivery of pharaceutical care.* Pharm J 2004; **272**: 478-479.
- (109) Brady D, Franklin BD. *An evaluation of the contribution of the medical admissions pharmacist at a London teaching hospital.* Int J Pharm Pract 2004; **12**: 1-6.
- (110) Tulip SC, Cheung P, Campbell D, Walters P. Pharmaceutical care for older people: recording and review of medication following admission to hospital. Int J Pharm Pract 2002; 10((suppl)): R58.
- (111) Wilcock M, Lawrence J. Is there a role for community pharmacists in identifying discrepancies in medication histories for patients admitted to hospital? Pharm J 2004; **272**: 253-256.
- (112) Sagripanti M, Dean B, Barber N. An evaluation of the process-related medication risks for elective surgery patients from pre-operative assessment to discharge. Int J Pharm Pract 2002; 10: 161-170.
- (113) Fertleman M, Barnett N, Patel T. Improving medication management for patients: the effect of a pharmacist on post-admission ward rounds. Qual Saf Health Care 2005; **14(3)**: 207-211.
- (114) Duggan C, Feldman R, Hough J, Bates I. *Reducing adverse prescribing discrepancies following hospital discharge.* Int J Pharm Pract 1998; **6**: 77-82.
- (115) Sandler DA, Heaton C, Garner ST, Mitchell JR. *Patients' and general practitioners' satisfaction with information given on discharge from hospital: audit of a new information card.* BMJ 1989; **299(6714)**: 1511-1513.
- (116) Sandler DA, Mitchell JR. Interim discharge summaries: how are they best delivered to general practitioners? Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1987; **295(6612)**: 1523-1525.
- (117) Munday A, Kelly B, Forrester JW, Timoney A, McGovern E. Do general practitioners and community pharmacists want information on the reasons for drug therapy changes implemented by secondary care? Br J Gen Pract 1997; 47(422): 563-566.
- (118) Morrison P, Abu-Arafeh I, Davison J, Chapman S. Optimum prescribing of discharge medicines: roles of hospital and community pharmacists. Pharm J 2004; **272**: 224-227.
- (119) Norris CM, Thomas V, Calvert PS. An audit to evaluate the acceptability of a pharmacists electronically prescribing discharge medication and providing information to GPs. Pharm J 2001; **267**: 857-859.
- (120) Al-Rashed S, Wright D, Roebuck N, Sunter W, Chrystyn H. *Inpatient pharmaceutical inputs to facilitate seamless care.* Pharm J 2000; **265(7114)**: R60.
- (121) Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network. The Immediate Discharge Document. 2003.

- (122) Holland R, Lenaghan E, Harvey I, Smith R, Shepstone L, Lipp A et al. Does home based medication review keep older people out of hospital? The HOMER randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2005.
- (123) Binyon D. *Pharmaceutical care: its impact on patient care and hospital-community interface.* Pharm J 1994; **253**: 344-349.
- (124) Nazareth I, Burton A, Shulman S, Smith P, Haines A, Timberal H. *A pharmacy discharge plan for hospitalized elderly patients a randomized controlled trial.* Age Ageing 2001; **30(1)**: 33-40.
- (125) Fleming GF, Hogg A, Woods A, Scott MG, McElnay JC. *A hospital-based integrated medicines management model.* Pharm J 2003; **271**: 214-215.
- (126) Integrated medicines management breaks new ground in N. Ireland. Medicines Management 2001; **1(3)**: 13-14.
- (127) Clarke C. Length of stay and readmission down in NI medicines management project. Pharm J 2004; **272**: 329-330.
- (128) Intensive pharmaceutical care cuts readmission rate. Pharm J 2005; 272(7298): 563.
- (129) Crotty M, Rowett D, Spurling L, Giles L, Phillips P. Does the addition of a pharmacist transition coordinator improve evidence-based medication management and health outcomes in older adults moving from the hospital to a long-term care facility? Results of a randomised, controlled trial. Am J Geriatr Pharmacother 2004; **2(42)**: 257-264.
- (130) Pegrum S. Seamless care: the need for communication between hospital and community pharmacists. Pharm J 1995; **254**: 445-446.
- (131) Kerzman H, Baron-Epel O, Toren O. What do discharged patients know about their medication? Patient Educ Couns 2005; **56(3)**: 276-282.
- (132) Patient survey report 2004 adult inpatients. 2004. Healthcare Commission.
- (133) Al-Rashed SA, Wright DJ, Roebuck N, Sunter W, Chrystyn H. The value of inpatient pharmaceutical counselling to elderly patients prior to discharge. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2002; 54(6): 657-664.
- (134) Baker DM. A study contrasting different modalities of medication discharge counseling. Hosp Pharm 1984; **19(8)**: 545-4.
- (135) Green C, McCloskey S. UK survey of the provision of multicompartment compliance aids and medicines reminder charts on discharge from hospital. Int J Pharm Pract 2005; **13(1)**: 85-89.
- (136) Disability Discrimination Act A Resource Kit. Primary Care Contracting 2005 [accessed 2005 May 10]; Available from: www.primarycarecontracting.nhs.uk/98.php
- (137) Indications for multicompartment compliance aids (MCA) also know as monitored dosage systems (MDS) - provision. Primary Care Contracting 2005 [accessed 2005 May 10]; Available from: <u>www.primarycarecontracting.nhs.uk/98.php</u>
- (138) Patient survey report 2004 adult inpatients. 2004. Healthcare Commission.
- (139) Raynor DK, Booth TG, Blenkinsopp A. *Effects of computer generated reminder charts on patients' compliance with drug regimens.* BMJ 1993; **306(6886)**: 1158-1161.
- (140) Williford SL, Johnson DF. Impact of pharmacist counselling on medication knowledge and compliance. Mil Med 1995; **160(11)**: 561-564.
- (141) Sexton J, Ho YJ, Green CF, Caldwell NA. *Ensuring seamless care at hospital discharge: a national survey.* J Clin Pharm Ther 2000; **25(5)**: 385-393.
- (142) Franklin BD, Karia R, Bullock P, Bracey G, Jacklin A. One-stop dispensing does one size fit all? Pharm J 2003; **271**: 365.

- (143) Hospital Pharmacists Group. One-stop dispensing, use of patients' own drugs and selfadministration schemes. Hospital Pharmacist 2002; **9:** 81-86.
- (144) Association of Scottish Trust Chief Pharmacists. *Improving pharmaceutical care and the patient journey: redesign of medicines management across the primary/secondary care interface.* 2001.
- (145) How pharmacists help speed up the discharge process to release beds. Pharm J 2001; **267**: 673-674.
- (146) Burn H. Re-engineering pharmacy services. Hospital Pharmacist 2002; 9: 234-236.
- (147) Campbell D, Conroy C, Cameron T, Nicholls M. One-stop or non-stop? Assessing the benefits of near-patient dispensing on a general medical ward. Int J Pharm Pract 2003; **11**: R87.
- (148) Ansar S, Silverthorne J. *Patients' own drugs and self-administration of medication schemes in the United Kingdom.* Int J Pharm Pract 2002; **10((suppl))**: R31.
- (149) Seabridge K, Langley C, Sohal H, Marriott J, Wilson K. *Financial consequences of one-stop dispensing at Birmingham Children's Hospital.* Int J Pharm Pract 2003; **11**: R38.
- (150) Fradgley S, Pryce A. An investigation into the clinical risks in the use of patients' own drugs on surgical wards. Pharm J 2002; **2002**: 63-67.
- (151) Altman IL, Wheeler R, Avery J. *Self-administration of medicines in Brighton.* Hospital Pharmacist 2002; **9**: 305-307.
- (152) Lowe CJ, Raynor DK, Courtney EA, Purvis J, Teale C. Effects of self medication programme on knowledge of drugs and compliance with treatment in elderly patients. Br Med J 1995; 310(6989): 1229-1231.
- (153) Pereles L, Romonko L, Murzyn T, Hogan D, Silvius J, Stokes E et al. *Evaluation of a self-medication program.* J Am Geriatr Soc 1996; **44(2)**: 161-165.
- (154) Williams C. *Electronic prescribing can increase the efficiency of the discharge process*. Hospital Pharmacist 2000; **7(8)**: 206.
- (155) Farrar K. *Can electronic prescribing increase the efficiency of the discharge process*? Hospital Pharmacist 2000; **7(5)**: 114.
- (156) Hobson RJ, Sewell GJ. *A national survey of pharmacist transcribing of discharge prescriptions.* Int J Pharm Pract 2003; **11**: 89-95.
- (157) Hobson R, Sewell GJ. UK survey of discharge prescriptions, transcribing and development of the hospital pharmacist-prescribing role. Int J Pharm Pract 2002; **10((suppl))**: R12.
- (158) Cattell R, Conroy C, Sheikh A. *Pharmacist integration into the discharge process: a qualitative and quantitative impact assessment.* Int J Pharm Pract 2001; **9**: 59-64.
- (159) Boorman S, Cairns C. Another way forward for pharmaceutical care: a team-based clinical pharmacy service. Pharm J 2000; **264(7085)**: 343-346.
- (160) A simple discharge service that works. Pharm J 2004; 272: 418.
- (161) Elfellah M, Hillis GS, Jappy B. *Supplementary prescribing can be adapted to improve discharge planning.* Pharm J 2005; **274**: 338.
- (162) Consultation on proposals to introduce independent prescribing by pharmacists. **MLX 321**. 2005. Medicines & Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency.
- (163) Frain J, Frain ACP. Experience of medical senior house officers in preparing discharge summaries. Br Med J 1996; **312**: 350.
- (164) Patient survey report 2004 adult inpatients. 2004. Healthcare Commission.
- (165) Williford SL, Johnson DF. Impact of pharmacist counselling on medication knowledge and compliance. Mil Med 1995; **160(11)**: 561-564.

- (166) McDonald HP, Garg AX, Haynes RB. Interventions to enhance patient adherence to medication prescriptions. JAMA 2002; **288(22)**: 2868-2879.
- (167) Dua S. Establishment and audit of a patients' own drug scheme. Hospital Pharmacist 2000; 7: 196-198.
- (168) Jones S. Assessing the effectiveness of one-stop dispensing. Hosp Pharm 2002; 9(237): 239.
- (169) Jones S. A systems audit: the effectiveness of one-stop dispensing. Int J Pharm Pract 2002; **10((suppl))**: R74.
- (170) Salmon K, Whittam J, Freeborn S. *The views of general practitioners on the reuse of patients' own drugs.* Int J Pharm Pract 2001; **9((suppl))**: R65.
- (171) Lowe CJ, Raynor DK, Courtney EA, Purvis J, Teale C. Effects of self medication programme on knowledge of drugs and compliance with treatment in elderly patients. Br Med J 1995; 310(6989): 1229-1231.
- (172) Disability Discrimination Act A Resource Kit. Primary Care Contracting 2005 [accessed 2005 May 10]; Available from: <u>www.primarycarecontracting.nhs.uk/98.php</u>
- (173) Ranson C, Fitzpatrick R, Green D, Allen C, Seed M, Lewis S. *The validation of a medicines risk assessment tool: a pilot study.* Int J Pharm Pract 2003; **11**: R22.

Notes

Produced by Ushers Print and Design +44 (0) 1707 851242